

University of Alabama at Birmingham UAB Digital Commons

All ETDs from UAB

UAB Theses & Dissertations

2011

AMPA Receptor Trafficking in Schizophrenia

John Hammond University of Alabama at Birmingham

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection

Part of the Medical Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Hammond, John, "AMPA Receptor Trafficking in Schizophrenia" (2011). *All ETDs from UAB*. 1854. https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection/1854

This content has been accepted for inclusion by an authorized administrator of the UAB Digital Commons, and is provided as a free open access item. All inquiries regarding this item or the UAB Digital Commons should be directed to the UAB Libraries Office of Scholarly Communication.

AMPA RECEPTOR TRAFFICKING IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

by

John C Hammond

Robert McCullumsmith, M.D., Ph.D., CHAIR James Meador-Woodruff, M.D. Lynn Dobrunz, Ph.D. Robin Lester, Ph.D. Robin Lorenz, M.D., Ph.D.

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to the graduate faculty of The University of Alabama at Birmingham, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

Copyright by John C Hammond 2011

AMPA RECEPTOR TRAFFICKING IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

John C Hammond

DEPARTMENT OF NEUROBIOLOGY

ABSTRACT

The glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia is based primarily on NMDA receptor dysfunction. Recent studies have led to an expansion of this hypothesis to include AMPA receptors which are essential for neurotransmission through NMDA receptors. Examination of total AMPA receptor protein expression in schizophrenia has been inconsistent and led to examination of AMPA receptor interacting proteins and trafficking and subcellular localization of the receptors. AMPA receptors are highly trafficked from the endoplasmic reticulum to the synapse and in a complex system of endosomes. Alterations in the subcellular localization of these receptors may be a part of the underlying pathophysiology of schizophrenia. I measured expression of multiple proteins that interact with AMPA receptors in postmortem dorsolateral prefrontal cortex tissue from patients with schizophrenia. I developed immunoisolation techniques to isolate two endosomal compartments and used a modified centrifugation protocol to isolate the endoplasmic reticulum from these samples as well. Following western blot and electron microscopic verification of subcellular fraction isolation and enrichment, I measured the protein expression of the AMPA receptor subunits. I found increased expression of two proteins involved in forward trafficking of AMPA receptors, SAP97 and GRIP1, in schizophrenia. In the isolated early endosomes, I found increased expression of the AMPA receptor subunit GluR1. Taken together, these findings implicate altered forward trafficking of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia. However, the

iii

lack of significant changes in multiple other proteins, as well as lack of changes in protein expression in any of the AMPA receptor subunits in the late endosomes or endoplasmic reticulum diminishes the likelihood that altered AMPA receptor trafficking and subcellular localization is a prominent feature in the underlying pathophysiology. We must consider that with the exception of a change in one AMPA receptor subunit in one subcellular fraction, AMPA receptor trafficking may be largely intact in schizophrenia.

Keywords: Schizophrenia, AMPA receptors, endosomes, endoplasmic reticulum, subcellular fractionation, postmortem

DEDICATION

To my parents, John and Mary, for always believing in me and keeping me moving forward by asking, "How much longer will you be in school?"

To my wonderful wife, Katherine, for standing by my side and helping me to keep perspective when things seemed to be turning upside-down.

To Adam, who has made this lab journey with me since the beginning and helped me to remember that it is all in my head.

To Nick, again, thanks for taking that bullet for me.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Rob McCullumsmith, my mentor, for the opportunity to work in such a wonderful lab, day-to-day mentoring, support, and for allowing me to see what life as a clinical scientist should be. I would like to thank Jim Meador-Woodruff, as well for the opportunity to work in the lab, and constantly encouraging me to believe that maybe the next finding would be significant. I would like to thank Charlotte Hammond for her support and for keeping the lab running; without Charlotte, I do not know how science would ever get done. I would also like to thank the rest of the members of the Meador-Woodruff lab, past and present, who have provided immense help, training, and support over the years. I would also like to thank my committee for reminding me that it is all about the science and connecting the dots, even if the picture is muddled.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ABSTRACTiii
DEDICATIONv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS vi
LIST OF TABLES ix
LIST OF FIGURESx
INTRODUCTION
Schizophrenia1
Glutamate Hypothesis of Schizophrenia3
AMPA Receptors
AMPA Receptor Interacting Proteins7
AMPA Receptor Exocytosis10
AMPA Receptor Trafficking in Endosomes11
AMPA Receptors and Interacting Proteins in Schizophrenia
Refinement of the Glutamate Hypothesis of Schizophrenia
Measuring AMPA Receptor Expression in Postmortem Human Tissue
Goals of Dissertation Research
Evidence for Abnormal Forward Trafficking of AMPA Receptors in Frontal Cortex of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia
Endosomal Trafficking of AMPA Receptors in Frontal Cortex of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia
AMPA Receptor Subunit Expression in the Endoplasmic Reticulum in Frontal Cortex of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia
DISCUSSION

Summary of Findings	104
Schizophrenia as a Disorder of AMPA Receptor Trafficking	105
Limitations of These Studies	109
Antipsychotic Effects	114
Future Directions	115
Conclusions	123

APPENDIX

А	Unpublished Findings	140
В	IACUC Approval Form	143

LIST OF TABLES

Та	able Page				
	INTRODUCTION				
1	AMPA Receptor Binding and Expression in Schizophrenia16				
2	AMPA Receptor Interacting Proteins in DLPFC in Schizophrenia17				
I	Evidence for Abnormal Forward Trafficking of AMPA Receptors in Frontal Cortex of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia				
1	Subject Demographics47				
2	Antibodies Used for Western Blot Studies				
3	Endosome Counts from Electron Micrograph Studies				
I	Endosomal Trafficking of AMPA Receptors in Frontal Cortex of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia				
1	Subject Demographics74				
2	Antibodies Used for Western Blot Studies				
3	Statistical Analysis of Dependent Measures (homogenate)76				
4	Statistical Analysis of Dependent Measures (late endosomes)77				
	AMPA Receptor Subcellular Localization in the Endoplasmic Reticulum in Frontal Cortex of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia				
1	Paired Subject Demographics97				
2	Pooled Subject Demographics				
3	Antibodies Used for Western Blot Studies				

LIST OF FIGURES

Fi	gures Page
	INTRODUCTION
1	AMPA Receptor Trafficking from ER to Synapse9
2	AMPA Receptor Trafficking in Endosomes
I	Evidence for Abnormal Forward Trafficking of AMPA Receptors in Frontal Cortex of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia
1	Western blot analysis of AMPA interacting proteins
2	Flow chart of EEA1 immunoisolation protocol
3	Electron Micrograph of early endosome immunoisolation
4	Characterization of early endosome isolation
5	Western blot analysis of AMPA receptor subunits in early endosomes
6	Analysis of antipsychotic effects on GluR1 expression in early endosomes55
7	AMPA receptor interacting proteins in early endosomes
ł	Endosomal Trafficking of AMPA Receptors in Frontal Cortex of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia
1	Characterization and visualization of late endosomes
2	Representative western blots of proteins in late endosomes and total homogenate79
3	Representation of multiple proteins involved in endosomal trafficking80

LIST OF FIGURES (continued)

Figures

AMPA Receptor Subcellular Localization in the Endoplasmic Reticulum of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia

1	Flow chart of endoplasmic reticulum isolation1	00
2	Neurochemical characterization of subcellular fractions1	01
3	Assessment of enriched subcellular fractions using electron microscopy1	02
4	Western blot analysis of AMPA receptor subunit expression in ER1	03

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a debilitating mental illness that affects nearly 1% of the adult population worldwide (1, 2). Development of schizophrenia at a relatively young age, late teens to early twenties for men and twenties to early thirties for women, creates significant burdens for afflicted persons, their families, and society (3, 4). Patients with schizophrenia typically endure multiple hospitalizations, medication side effects, and psychotic symptoms that hinder their ability to live independently and cost society billions of dollars annually (5, 6).

Schizophrenia is characterized by a myriad of clinical findings, including positive, negative and cognitive symptoms (6, 7). Positive symptoms include delusions, hallucinations, or agitation (7). Oftentimes, patients report auditory hallucinations in the form of a running commentary of the patient's thoughts and actions (4, 7). Negative symptoms, including lack of drive, social withdrawal, decreased eye contact, apathy, and diminished spontaneous movement, may be more debilitating to patients and are often not addressed by pharmacotherapy (7-9). In addition to positive and negative symptoms, some patients have cognitive deficits such as disorganized thinking and deficits in executive functioning (7, 10).

While there are well-established criteria in place for making the diagnosis of schizophrenia, the cause is still unknown. Most recent evidence supports a combination of genetic and environmental factors contributing to the development of the disorder (11). To date, no one gene has been consistently linked to the illness and it is likely that multiple genes create a predisposition to developing schizophrenia (11). There have been several proposed hypotheses regarding the underlying pathophysiology of schizophrenia, ranging from neurodevelopmental abnormalities to physical abnormalities in the brain to imbalance of neurotransmission (12-17).

One of the first neurotransmitters implicated in schizophrenia was dopamine. Early studies revealed that large doses or prolonged use of amphetamines, which act as dopamine agonists, may cause psychoses, including hallucinations and paranoia similar to that seen in schizophrenia (9, 18, 19). The discovery of chlorpromazine as a potent antipsychotic medication was critical in the further development of the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia. Chlorpromazine is a typical antipsychotic that exerts its antipsychotic effects through dopamine D₂ receptor blockade (20-22). Together, these data suggest excess dopaminergic activity contributes to the positive symptoms of schizophrenia. However, typical antipsychotics that affect the dopaminergic system are not efficacious in managing the negative and cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia (9, 23, 24). Consequently, further research has implicated other neurotransmitter system involvement in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia.

1.2 Glutamate Hypothesis of Schizophrenia

Glutamate facilitates excitatory neurotransmission via activation of ionotropic (NMDA, AMPA, KA) and metabotropic (mGluR₁ - mGluR₈) glutamate receptors. Converging lines of evidence implicate dysfunction of glutamate receptors in schizophrenia. Administration of phencyclidine (PCP), ketamine, or other NMDA receptor antagonists induces a schizophrenia-like psychosis in control subjects (25-27). Moreover, administration of ketamine to patients with schizophrenia leads to an exacerbation of symptoms (28). Interestingly, administration of compounds that block NMDA receptors can induce or exacerbate positive, negative, and cognitive symptoms (14, 29).

Under normal resting conditions, activation of NMDA-type glutamate receptors should lead to opening of cation channels followed by influx of calcium and sodium into and efflux of potassium from the cell (30, 31). However, prior to activation of NMDA receptors, a magnesium blockade must be removed via partial depolarization of the cell (32). Typically, it is the activation of AMPA-type glutamate receptors that provides the depolarization necessary to remove the magnesium blockade (32). Therefore, though the glutamate hypothesis posits NMDA receptor hypofunction, the hypothesis can be expanded to include other glutamate receptor subtypes including AMPA receptors.

1.3 AMPA receptors

AMPA (α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid) receptors are a subset of ligand-gated ionotropic glutamate receptors (33). AMPA receptors are essential for fast excitatory synaptic transmission in the central nervous system (34, 35). Function

of AMPA receptors is dependent upon structure, subunit assembly, interacting proteins, trafficking, and localization.

1.3.1 AMPA receptor function and structure

There are four AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, that are typically assembled as dimers into a tetrameric complex in the endoplasmic reticulum (36-38). The structure of each GluR subunit contains four domains. An extracellular N-terminus consisting of approximately 370 amino acids is homologous to LIVBP, a bacterial amino acid binding protein (39-41). There are three-transmembrane-spanning domains in each receptor subunit (42, 43). Each receptor subunit contains one re-entrant domain which does not span across the membrane from the intracellular space to the extracellular space but turns back into the intracellular space (43, 44). Along with the three transmembrane domains, the re-entrant domain is part of the pore forming unit of the receptor (44). Finally, each receptor subunit contains an intracellular C-terminus that is the site of interaction for various molecules (43, 45).

Assembled AMPA receptors serve as cation channels in the cell membrane (33, 34). Each subunit contains a ligand binding domain proposed to be located between the extracellular N-terminus and the extracellular loop between two transmembrane domains (42, 46). When at least two of the binding sites are occupied, a shift occurs in the subunits and a pore is opened allowing for the flux of cations (47, 48). Most assembled AMPA receptors contain GluR2 and one of the other subunits, GluR1, GluR3 or GluR4 (49). The presence of GluR2 in the receptor confers gating of calcium through the pore whereas receptors lacking GluR2 subunits are permeable to calcium, sodium, and potassium

influx (49-51). Unlike NMDA receptors, AMPA receptors generally open and close quickly initiating fast excitatory synaptic transmission (35).

1.3.2 AMPA receptor assembly and trafficking

AMPA receptor subunits, like other proteins, are synthesized in the endoplasmic reticulum. Each of the four AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, is encoded by a gene, GRIA1-4, which can be modified via RNA editing and post-transcriptional modifications (52, 53). For example, the gating ability of GluR2 arises from a glutamine (Q) to arginine (R) switch within the channel pore (54, 55). When the uncharged amino acid glutamine is replaced by the positively charged arginine, it becomes energetically unfavorable for the positively charged calcium ions to move through the pore (56, 57). Further modification of AMPA receptor subunits takes place in the transmembrane domain just prior to the C-terminus in a 38 amino acid sequence commonly referred to as the flip/flop sequence (43, 58). Studies of this sequence have shown that different isoforms can alter the desensitization and resensitization kinetics of the channel. The expression of flip and flop variants is developmentally regulated (59). Furthermore, the flip isoform of the receptor is more likely to be correctly processed for exit from the endoplasmic reticulum (60).

1.3.3 Posttranslational Modifications of AMPA Receptors

Posttranslational modifications of AMPA receptors are important for forward trafficking of the AMPA receptors. Processing of AMPA receptors in the endoplasmic reticulum involves the addition and removal of a complex series of sugar moieties in a process known as glycosylation (45, 61). Glycosylation of AMPA receptor subunits at as many as 4-6 sites on each subunit can protect proteins from proteolytic degradation (45). When high-mannose sugars are attached to receptors, the receptors are retained in the ER (45). This process of adding high-mannose sugars may maintain a pool of GluR2 receptor subunits in the ER (62). Proper glycosylation is required for dimerization of the receptors which begins in the endoplasmic reticulum but is not required for ion channel function (63).

Phosphorylation is also an important posttranslational modification of receptors. Phosphorylation of specific residues on AMPA receptors subunits regulates channel properties as well as trafficking to the synapse (64). Serine 818 of GluR1 is phosphorylated by PKC during LTP, leading to insertion of GluR1-containing AMPA receptors in the synapse (65). Phosphorylation of serine 831 of GluR1 also regulates trafficking of AMPA receptors during LTP (66, 67). This phosphorylation of GluR1 at S818 and S831 is important for stabilization of the receptors at the post-synaptic density and if lost may lead to receptor internalization. Phosphorylation of the GluR2 AMPA subunit at serine 880 causes internalization of the AMPA receptor which colocalizes with internalized PICK1 in the dendrite (68, 69). Further studies of S880 phosphorylation reveal that when phosphorylation is blocked, the GluR2 subunit is rapidly recycled back to the synapse (70, 71).

1.3.4 Subunit Composition of AMPA Receptors

In addition to modifications of the receptors, trafficking of AMPA receptors in the ER and Golgi is facilitated by AMPA receptor subunit composition and AMPA receptor interacting proteins. Although AMPA receptors are usually a dimer of dimers, it is often the case that one subunit exerts dominant effects over the other in heteromers (72, 73).

For example, in GluR1/GluR2 heteromers, GluR1 dominates the trafficking of the receptor (72). Synapse-associated protein 97 (SAP97) is a member of the MAGUK (membrane-associated guanylate kinase) family of proteins and contains three PDZ (postsynaptic density 95/Discs large/zona occludens-1) domains (74). One of the PDZ domains of SAP97 interacts with the PDZ domain on the C-terminus of GluR1 in GluR1/GluR2 hetero-oligomers (75, 76). This early interaction of SAP97 and GluR1 in the ER allows for fast trafficking of the receptors from the ER to the Golgi (45, 77). Another interacting protein, Protein interacting with C Kinase 1 (PICK1) binds to the C-terminal domain of GluR2 (78, 79). Interaction of PICK1 and GluR2 in the ER leads to slower exit of GluR2/GluR3 containing receptors from the ER (45).

1.4 AMPA Receptor Interacting Proteins

Upon leaving the ER, AMPA receptors must reach the synapse in order to facilitate neurotransmission. Transport of assembled AMPA receptors from the ER to the dendritic spine occurs along the cytoskeletal spine of the neuron in a microtubule and actin-filament based system (45) (Figure 1.1). SAP97, bound to GluR1/GluR2 receptors also interacts with MyosinVI, a motor protein (80). This interaction is important for the forward trafficking of the receptors and if it is interrupted, AMPA receptors may not be trafficked to the synapse (81). Glutamate receptor interacting protein 1 (GRIP1) is a multi-PDZ-containing neuronal scaffolding protein (82). One of the PDZ domains of GRIP1 directly interacts with the GluR2 C-terminus PDZ domain (83, 84). Additionally, GRIP1 associates with the protein Liprin α , a ubiquitous member of the LAR protein-tyrosine phosphatase-interacting protein family (85, 86). In turn, Liprin α binds to the motor protein KIF5 for trafficking of GluR2-containing receptors to the dendritic spine

(45, 85, 87). NSF (*N*-ethylmaleimide-sensitive fusion) protein also binds to GluR2 and directs the insertion of GluR2 containing AMPA receptors at the synapse (88). The 4.1 family of proteins is associated with the cytoskeletal membrane in cells (89). The protein 4.1N binds to GluR1 and GluR4 once the AMPA receptors are within the shaft, and assists in the transport of these receptors along the shaft to the dendritic spine (45, 89).



1.5 AMPA Receptor Exocytosis

Much of what is known about AMPA receptor trafficking and turnover comes from studies of long term potentiation (LTP) and long term depression (LTD). After AMPA receptors have moved into the dendritic spine, they are localized to the plasma membrane in exocytic vesicles (45, 90). Although initially the process of AMPA receptor localization to the synapse was unclear, recent studies have described that AMPA receptor insertion can occur either directly to the synapse or to an extra-synaptic area (72, 73, 91). GluR1/GluR2 receptors are inserted into the extra-synaptic membrane and move laterally to the synapse (92, 93). The lateral movement and insertion of GluR1/GluR2 follows induction of LTP (36, 91). This movement of GluR1/GluR2 receptors following LTP induction is referred to as the regulated receptor pool (94). GluR2/GluR3-containing AMPA receptors are inserted directly into the synapse in an activity-independent manner (72, 73). Following insertion at the synapse, GluR2/GluR3 containing receptors are cycled between the synapse and an intracellular domain (95, 96). This cycling of GluR2/GluR3 containing receptors is referred to as the constitutive cycling pathway (97).

AMPA receptor PDZ domains and are unable to directly interact with PSD95 (98). Stabilization of AMPA receptors at the synapse is directed by interactions between the AMPA receptor subunits and AMPA receptor interacting proteins (90, 99). SAP97, bound to GluR1/GluR2 hetero-oligomers, interacts with the post-synaptic density (100). This interaction is important for the localization and stabilization of GluR1/GluR2 AMPA receptors to the synaptic area (101, 102). PICK1 links to the PDZ-binding domain of GluR2 and plays a role in the clustering of the subunit and tethering of the receptor to

the post-synaptic density and plasma membrane (103-105). Stargazin also plays a role in the trafficking and localization of AMPA receptors at the cell surface, participating in the lateralization of AMPA receptors from extrasynaptic membrane to the synapse (106-108). Through interactions with the PDZ domain of GluR2, GRIP1 plays a role in maintaining GluR2 containing receptors at the synapse (82, 109). Point mutations in the sequence of residues that bind GluR4 and the 4.1 protein interfere with the binding and prevent the surface expression of GluR4 (110).

1.6 AMPA Receptor trafficking in endosomes

AMPA receptor expression at the synapse is a tightly controlled process that allows for turnover of receptors and recruitment of new receptors for proper synaptic functioning (111) (Figure 1.2). Once localized to the synapse, AMPA receptors can be brought back into the cell in vesicles called endosomes (112). Endosomes are membranebound organelles comprised of lipid bilayers (113, 114). These compartments are often derived from the plasma membrane and may contain receptors that were located on the cell surface. Early endosomes are formed directly from the plasma membrane in an area referred to as the endocytic zone (115). In a clathrin-dependent process, a small pocket forms in the membrane, followed by invagination of the membrane and a closing off of the newly formed endosome via dynamin (113). These newly formed endosomes express early endosome antigen-1 (EEA1) on their surface. EEA1 is used as a tethering molecule providing inward directionality for endosomes (116). Activation of NMDA receptors and long-term depression can lead to removal of AMPA receptors from the synapse into the early endosomes (95, 112, 117). Interestingly, pharmacological blockade of early endosome formation prevents the internalization of AMPA receptors (113, 118).



Figure 1.2 AMPA Receptor Trafficking in Endosomes

From the early endosome, AMPA receptors are sorted to either the late endosome or recycling endosome (119). Late endosomes contain the marker GTPase Rab7, have a lower pH, and carry contents to the lysosome for degradation (120, 121). Following endocytosis without NMDA activation, AMPA receptors are targeted for degradation (119). AMPA receptors containing the GluR3 subunit are also targeted to late endosomes (122). Alternatively, AMPA receptors from early endosomes can be brought to the recycling endosomes (119). Recycling endosomes, which contain the GTPase Rab11, bring receptors that have been endocytosed back to the cell surface (123, 124). Interestingly, the spine morphology changes that are seen following LTP are likely due to the insertion of AMPA receptors into the membrane from Rab11 positive recycling endosomes (124-126).

As with insertion and stabilization of AMPA receptors at the synapse, AMPA receptor subunit composition and interacting proteins are important in the endosomal trafficking of the receptors. The endocytosis of receptors occurs in an area referred to as the endocytic zone which is located near the post-synaptic density (127). Interactions between Dynamin3 and other scaffolding proteins maintain the endocytic zone (128). Arc/ARG3.1 is an immediate early gene product whose function was poorly understood until recently (129). Arc/ARG3.1 interacts with dynamin in the endocytic zone to induce rapid internalization of AMPA receptors (129, 130). The loss of Arc/ARG3.1 leads to a decrease in the internalization of AMPA receptors, overexpression of AMPA receptors at the synapse and loss of homeostatic signaling (131).

Activity at the synapse and receptor subunit composition also direct the trafficking of AMPA receptors in endosomes. Following NMDA receptor activation, AMPA receptor subunits may be unclustered from PICK1 (117). Unclustering of AMPA receptors from PICK1 can lead to recycling of the receptor back to the synapse, likely via recycling endosomes (117, 132). Homomeric GluR2 receptors and receptors with GluR1 subunits are also preferentially recycled (122).

The complicated sorting of AMPA receptors to the recycling endosomes requires additional interacting proteins. Dysregulated trafficking and localization of AMPA receptors may alter excitatory neurotransmission mediated by these receptors. NEEP21 (neuronal endosomal protein of 21 kDa) is a small protein that interacts with the GluR2/GluR3 containing AMPA receptors and GRIP1 (133, 134). Expression of a NEEP21 fragment containing the GRIP1 binding site causes a reduction of GluR2 surface expression and an accumulation of these receptors in early endosomes (133). GRASP1 (GRIP-associated protein-1) expression is a protein that interacts with NEEP21, early, and recycling endosomes (135). Expression of GRASP1 is necessary for the coupling of EEA1-containing early endosomes with Rab11-containing recycling endosomes and thus sorting of AMPA receptors between these compartments (136). NSF may also disassemble GRIP1/GluR2 complexes (137, 138). Following disassociation with GRIP1, GluR2-containing AMPA receptors are then sorted from early endosomes to the recycling endosomes and re-expressed on the cell surface (139, 140). There is evidence that with inhibition of NSF, AMPA receptors will remain in the early endosomes and not be trafficked back to the surface (138).

Once localized to recycling endosomes, AMPA receptors still must be returned to the cell surface to facilitate neurotransmission. Again, multiple proteins assist in the trafficking and targeting of the receptors to the surface. In addition to sorting receptors to the recycling endosomes, NEEP21 also assists in the targeting of AMPA receptors back to the synapse (141). Liprin α , which trafficked AMPA receptors along the shaft with KIF5, and associated protein family members also function as scaffolding proteins (142). Liprin α helps to mature the synapse and provides targeting for AMPA receptor

reinsertion through interactions with GIT1 and GRIP1 (86, 143). Syntaxin13, a member of the syntaxin family, is present in recycling endosomes (144). Syntaxin13 interacts with the plasma membrane and is essential in the fusion of recycling endosomes with the membrane and the return of AMPA receptors to the synapse (145).

Alterations in the expression or trafficking of AMPA receptors can drastically affect proper neurotransmission and cellular signaling. Inability of proper AMPA receptor localization and receptor firing for a variety of reasons can prevent depolarization of the cell. Improper depolarization of the cell may lead to failed release of the magnesium block in NMDA receptors and a state physiologically similar to NMDAreceptor hypofunction, as proposed by the glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia.

1.7 AMPA receptors and interacting proteins in schizophrenia

To date, many studies have examined the expression of AMPA receptors and AMPA receptor interacting proteins in schizophrenia. When studying AMPA receptor expression in postmortem tissue, there are inherent complications arriving from the complexity and overlapping nature of the AMPA receptor subunits (4). There are also multiple levels of gene expression that can be examined with various techniques including receptor binding sites, mRNA expression, and protein expression. Data from these studies (summarized in TABLE 1.1), have yielded inconsistent results. Studies of AMPA receptor subunit binding site, mRNA and protein expression have found increases (146-148), decreases (149-155), and no changes (156-161) in various areas in the brain.

Level of Gene Expression	Technique	Probe(s)	Finding	Brain Region	Reference
Receptor Binding Sites	Autoradiography	CNQX	\uparrow	PFC	(148)
	Autoradiography	AMPA	\checkmark	HC	(153)
	Homogenate Binding	AMPA	No change	PFC, Striatum	(157)
	Homogenate Binding	AMPA	No change	FC	(158)
	Autoradiography	AMPA	No change	DLPFC	(161)
Subunit mRNA Expression	qPCR	GluR1 GluR2-4	↑ No change	DLPFC DLPFC	(146)
	qPCR	GluR1, GluR4 GluR2, GluR3	个 No change	DLPFC DLPFC	(147)
	ISH	GluR1, GluR2	\checkmark	НС	(149)
	qPCR	GluR2	\checkmark	HC	(150)
	qPCR	GluR1	\checkmark	FC	(154)
	ISH	GluR1, GluR3	\checkmark	Thalamus	(155)
	qPCR	GluR1-4	No change	DLPFC	(156)
	ISH	GluR1-4	No change	PFC, Striatum	(157)
Subunit Protein Expression	Western blot	GluR2, GluR3	No change	Cingulate	(159)

Table 1.1 AMPA receptor binding and expression in schizophrenia

Abbreviations: *in situ* hybridization (ISH), quantitative-polymerase chain reaction (qPCR),prefrontal cortex (PFC), hippocampus (HC), frontal cortex (FC), dorsolateral frontal cortex (DLPFC).

Glycosylation of AMPA receptors is essential for the proper trafficking of AMPA receptors (45, 61). Unpublished observations from our lab implicate abnormal glycosylation of GluR2 protein. Since protein glycosylation is crucial for forward trafficking of proteins from the ER to the Golgi, alterations in this posttranslational modification would lead to alterations in the trafficking of the proteins involved.

These inconsistencies and the complex biology of the AMPA receptors have led to the examination of the molecules involved in trafficking of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia (summarized in TABLE 1.2). In the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), PICK1 mRNA was decreased, while stargazin mRNA was increased, suggesting a problem with the clustering of AMPA receptors at the synapse (162). Transcripts for SAP97, which anchors GluR1 in the synapse, were decreased in the prefrontal cortex, suggesting abnormal synaptic localization in schizophrenia (163). NSF mRNA was decreased in the cortex, suggesting that AMPA recycling may be impaired (138, 164).

Interacting Protein	Level of gene expression	Technique	Finding	Reference
PICK1	mRNA	qPCR	No change	(147)
	mRNA	ISH	No change	(162)
Stargazin	mRNA	ISH	\checkmark	(165)
SAP97	mRNA	qPCR	No change	(147)
	protein	western	\downarrow	(163)
NSF	mRNA	ISH, microarray	\checkmark	(164)
	mRNA	ISH	No change	(162)
	mRNA	qPCR	No change	(166)
	protein	western	No change	
	protein	western	No change	(167)
GRIP1	mRNA	qPCR	\uparrow	(147)
	protein	western	No change	(163)

Table 1.2 AMPA Receptor Interacting Proteins in DLPFC in Schizophrenia

Abbreviations: Protein interacting with C Kinase 1 (PICK1), Synapse-associated protein 97 (SAP97), Glutamate receptor interacting protein 1 (GRIP1), *in situ* hybridization (ISH), quantitative-polymerase chain reaction (qPCR).

1.8 Refinement of the glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia

Discovery of these alterations in the AMPA receptor subunits and interacting proteins further support the involvement of AMPA receptors in addition to NMDA receptors in the underlying pathophysiology of schizophrenia. However, the inconsistencies of the AMPA receptor subunit expression data are enigmatic when examined in isolation. Most studies that examine AMPA receptor subunit expression, whether through binding site, mRNA, or protein expression, utilize whole slices or homogenates of tissue. While these studies are valuable for looking at regional differences in AMPA receptor expression, AMPA receptors are highly mobile. Expression of mRNA or protein as measured through RT-PCR or western blotting is a measure of all AMPA receptor expression in the cell, from the ER to the synapse and in any member of the complex endosomal trafficking system. Taken together with the inconsistencies in AMPA receptor subunit expression, alterations of AMPA receptor interacting proteins support the hypothesis that AMPA receptor dysfunction in schizophrenia is a problem of trafficking, rather than one of simply too much or too little receptor expression. These data and theoretical considerations highlight the importance of examining AMPA receptors in subcellular fractions.

1.9 Measuring AMPA receptor expression in postmortem human tissue

Psychiatric illness, including schizophrenia, can be studied in a number of ways, including animal models, clinical studies with living patients, and tissue studies from the deceased (168). While beneficial for understanding some facets of the illness, no current animal model can completely mirror the complex phenotype of schizophrenia (169). Studies using living patients have the advantage measuring any changes in a system representing the complexities of the illness, but are limited by the importance of safety to the patient (170, 171). Use of postmortem tissue presents with its own unique set of challenges, but provides the opportunity to perform in-depth cellular and molecular analyses (168).

1.9.1 Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex

Schizophrenia is a complex mental illness with a broad range of symptoms. This broad range of symptoms suggests that multiple regions of the brain may be involved in the illness. While much emphasis and focus is placed on the positive symptoms, cognitive impairment may be a core feature of schizophrenia (172, 173). Although positive and negative symptoms progress over time, cognitive impairments are relatively stable (174, 175). Long-term functional outcome of patients with schizophrenia may also be correlated with level of cognitive impairment (176). In the case of patients with schizophrenia, cognitive deficits seem to arise from problems with central executive function and working memory for auditory and visual information (172, 177-179). The dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) is one brain region where this higher order executive functioning takes place. Alterations in DLPFC activation are present in schizophrenia, but not other mood disorders such as major depression (180).

The DLPFC, or Brodmann area 46 and part of Brodmann area 9, is a grey matter region in the frontal cortex of the brain. A region with granular cytoarchitecture, the DLPFC has 6 discernible layers (181, 182). Within these layers are pyramidal cell neurons, so named for their triangular shaped cell body, with excitatory projections to various other brain regions. Typically, pyramidal neurons in layers 2 and 3 project to other cortical structures, while those in layer 5 project to the striatum and those in layer 6 project to the thalamus (181). The deep layer 3 and layer 4 receive input from the thalamus (182). Pyramidal neurons comprise nearly 75% of the cortical neurons while the other 25% are interneurons (172).

Together, the function and composition, as well as findings of previous studies, make the DLPFC an ideal brain region to study with regards to alterations in trafficking of glutamate receptors in schizophrenia.

1.9.2 Subcellular fractionation

Previous reports of alterations in AMPA receptors and AMPA receptor interacting proteins in schizophrenia have examined expression on a regional level. Current evidence supports the hypothesis of alterations of trafficking and subcellular localization of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia. In order to examine whether or not such alterations exist in this illness, it is important to measure AMPA receptor expression as the receptors are trafficked in the cell. However, a limitation of using postmortem tissue is that measuring active trafficking of receptors is not a viable option. It is possible to measure AMPA receptors in various subcellular regions within the cell as a proxy for trafficking. Specifically, since their role in assembly and turnover of AMPA receptors is integral to receptor trafficking, the endoplasmic reticulum and endosomes are excellent targets for measuring AMPA receptor subunit expression. In addition to their central roles in AMPA receptor trafficking, examination of the ER and the endosomes provides a proximal and distal view of AMPA receptor subcellular localization.

Traditional isolation of subcellular compartments is through multiple centrifugations and sucrose density gradients (183, 184). While these protocols are suitable for fresh tissue and cell culture samples, blurring of some subcellular fractions in postmortem tissue is possible. It is possible to enrich various subcellular fractions using

this technique, but only if the fraction is relatively unique. Furthermore, though various endosome subtypes have distinct protein markers and morphology, they are similar in size and weight making traditional centrifugation ill-suited for subcellular fractionation. In cases such as this, alternative techniques must be utilized. One such technique is immunoisolation using an antibody specific for the fraction of interest. Once a fraction is isolated, it is possible to measure proteins associated with that fraction. In this way, measurement of proteins in a particular fraction may be used to approximate AMPA receptor subcellular localization.

1.10 Goals of dissertation research

While previous studies have measured AMPA receptor subunits and AMPA receptor interacting proteins at a regional level, the results are inconsistent. The glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia suggests hypofunction of NMDA receptors, yet AMPA receptors are essential in cellular depolarization and functioning of NMDA receptors. AMPA receptor trafficking and subcellular localization are crucial for proper functioning of AMPA receptors and improper trafficking and subcellular localization of AMPA receptors may lead to failed NMDA receptor functioning. Trafficking and subcellular localization of AMPA receptors has yet to be studied in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. The goals of this dissertation research are to test the following hypotheses:

- Expression of AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, and AMPA interacting proteins in early endosomes are altered in schizophrenia.
- 2) Expression of AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, in late endosomes and proteins involved in the endosome pathway are altered in schizophrenia.
- Expression of AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, in the endoplasmic reticulum are altered in schizophrenia.

Evidence for Abnormal Forward Trafficking of AMPA Receptors in Frontal Cortex of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia

by

John C. Hammond, Robert E. McCullumsmith, Adam J. Funk, Vahram Haroutunian and James H. Meador-Woodruff

Neuropsychopharmacology 35, 2110-2119 Copyright 2010 by Nature Publishing Group Used by permission

Format adapted for dissertation

2.1 Abstract

Several lines of evidence point to alterations of α -amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4isoxazole-propionate (AMPA) receptor trafficking in schizophrenia. Multiple proteins, including Synapse Associated Protein 97 (SAP97), Glutamate Receptor Interacting Protein 1 (GRIP1), and N-ethylmaleimide Sensitive Factor (NSF), facilitate the forward trafficking of AMPA receptors toward the synapse. Once localized to the synapse, AMPA receptors are trafficked in a complex endosomal system. We hypothesized that alterations in the expression of these proteins and alterations in the subcellular localization of AMPA receptors in endosomes may contribute to the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. Accordingly, we measured protein expression of SAP97, GRIP1, and NSF in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and found an increase in the expression of SAP97 and GRIP1 in schizophrenia. To determine the subcellular localization of AMPA receptor subunits, we developed a technique to isolate early endosomes from postmortem tissue. We found increased GluR1 receptor subunit protein in early endosomes in subjects with schizophrenia. Together, these data suggest that there is an alteration of forward trafficking of AMPA receptors as well as changes in the subcellular localization of an AMPA receptor subunit in schizophrenia.
2.2 Introduction

There is a growing body of evidence that schizophrenia may be linked to abnormalities of glutamate transmission. While early evidence implicated NMDA receptor hypofunction (Allen and Young, 1978; Barbon et al, 2007; Coyle et al, 2003; Ellison, 1995), preclinical literature has also implicated involvement of α -amino-3hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionate (AMPA) receptors in the pathophysiology of this illness (Dracheva et al, 2005; Meador-Woodruff et al, 2001; O'Connor et al, 2007). Several studies have examined AMPA receptor expression in multiple brain regions with inconsistent results (Breese et al, 1995; Eastwood et al, 1995; Freed et al, 1993; Healy et al, 1998; Noga et al, 2001; Scarr et al, 2005). Measuring total AMPA receptor expression levels may be less informative, however, since AMPA receptors are highly regulated via trafficking between subcellular organelles from the endoplasmic reticulum to localization at the synapse(Greger and Esteban, 2007; Jiang et al, 2006; Zhu, 2003). Measurement of total cellular AMPA receptor expression cannot distinguish localization in these subcellular compartments, yet abnormalities in subcellular localization may have significant functional implications.

The lack of consistent findings and the complexity of AMPA receptor trafficking have led to the examination of proteins that interact with AMPA receptors. Several interacting proteins, including Synapse Associated Protein 97 (SAP97), Glutamate Receptor Interacting Protein 1 (GRIP1), and N-ethylmaleimide Sensitive Factor (NSF) have a significant role in the trafficking and localization of AMPA receptors. SAP97 interacts with the AMPA receptor subunit GluR1 and the myosin motor protein

responsible for transport of the receptor along the dendritic shaft (Wu *et al*, 2002). SAP97 has also been described in the stabilization of GluR1-containing AMPA receptors at the synapse (Nash *et al*, 2010). GRIP1 interacts with the AMPA receptor subunit GluR2 and assists in the transport of the AMPA receptor along the dendritic shaft and stabilization at the synapse (Guo and Wang, 2007). NSF helps regulate surface expression of GluR2-containing AMPA receptors (Noel *et al*, 1999). Because of the complexity of AMPA receptor trafficking, these molecules are potential candidates to study in schizophrenia.

Studies have found alterations in proteins associated with forward trafficking of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia (Beneyto and Meador-Woodruff, 2006; Mirnics *et al*, 2000; Toyooka *et al*, 2002; Whiteheart and Matveeva, 2004). Transcripts and protein for SAP97 were decreased in the prefrontal cortex, but not the hippocampus or occipital cortex, suggesting a region specific deficit in AMPA receptor trafficking (Toyooka *et al*, 2002). Two other studies found decreases in NSF mRNA levels in the prefrontal cortex (Mirnics *et al*, 2000; Whiteheart *et al*, 2004) possibly indicating a problem with AMPA receptor recycling at the synapse, which is facilitated by endosomes. These abnormalities in the proteins specifically involved in the forward trafficking of AMPA receptors suggest that endosomal trafficking of this receptor may be abnormal in schizophrenia.

Endosomal trafficking of neurotransmitter receptors facilitates changes in synaptic strength via surface expression and localization of receptors to the synapse, as well as degradation of receptors. The endocytic pathway and the turnover of (AMPA) receptors have been extensively studied in the context of long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD), correlates of learning and memory that may be affected in psychiatric illness. Endosomes are small (about 1µm) spherical structures with a

phospholipid bilayer that facilitate sorting of AMPA receptors between intracellular compartments and the cell surface (Beattie *et al*, 2000; Boehm *et al*, 2006; Lüscher *et al*, 1999). Subclasses of endosomes are identified by the presence or absence of specific marker proteins, such as early endosomes antigen-1 (EEA1), Rab7, and Rab11 (Carroll *et al*, 1999; Ehlers, 2000; Gerges *et al*, 2004). Each subclass of endosome has a particular morphology and role in the trafficking of proteins (Ehlers, 2000; Lee *et al*, 2004; Park *et al*, 2004; Tjelle *et al*, 1996). Early endosomes, containing EEA1, are the primary subclass that receives proteins endocytosed from the cell surface. From the early endosomes, containing Rab7, for degradation.

We hypothesized that forward trafficking and endosomal handling of AMPA receptors may be associated with the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. To test this, we measured expression of proteins associated with forward trafficking of AMPA receptors in brains from subjects with schizophrenia and a comparison group. In addition, we developed a technique to isolate intact early endosomes from postmortem brain tissue, characterized the isolated early endosomes, and measured the expression of AMPA receptor subunits and trafficking molecules in endosomes from these same subjects.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Subjects and tissue preparation

Subjects from the Mount Sinai Medical Center brain bank were recruited prospectively and underwent extensive antemortem diagnostic and clinical assessment (Table 1). Exclusion criteria included a history of alcoholism, substance abuse, death by suicide, or coma for more than 6 hours prior to death. Consent was obtained from next of kin for each subject. Brains were collected and cut coronally in 10 mm slabs. The dorsolateral prefrontal cortex was dissected from the coronal slabs, snap frozen and stored at -80° C. This tissue was pulverized, adding small amounts of liquid nitrogen as necessary, and stored at -80° C until used.

Tissue was prepared for western blots as previously described (Funk *et al*, 2009). Tissue was reconstituted in 5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 0.32 M sucrose, and a protease inhibitor tablet (Complete Mini, Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). Tissue was homogenized using a Power Gen 125 homogenizer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, Illinois, USA) at speed 5 for 60 s. Homogenates were assayed for protein concentration using a BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, Illinois, USA), and stored at -80° C.

2.3.2 Western blot analysis

Commercially available antibodies were used for the western blot analyses with antisera dilutions determined empirically (Table 2). Samples for western blots were placed in reducing buffer containing β -mercaptoethanol and heated at 70^o C for 10 minutes. Samples for each subject were then run in duplicate by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis on Invitrogen (Carlsbad, California, USA) 4-12% gradient gels, and transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride membrane using Bio-Rad semi-dry transblotter (Hercules, California, USA). The membranes were blocked in LiCor blocking buffer for 1 hour at room temperature, and probed with primary antibody in 0.1% Tween LiCor blocking buffer at the dilutions and for the durations indicated in table 2. Membranes

were then washed four times for 5 minutes each with 0.01% Tween phosphate buffered saline. Membranes were probed with IR-dye labeled secondary antibody in 0.1% Tween, 0.01% SDS LiCor Blocking buffer for 1 hour at room temperature in the dark. Membranes were washed again with 0.01% Tween phosphate buffered saline four times for 5 minutes each and then briefly rinsed 3 times in distilled water. The blots were stored in distilled water at 4^o C until scanned using the LI-COR Odyssey® laser-based image detection method (Bond *et al*, 2008). We tested each antibody using varying concentrations of total protein from homogenized human cortical tissue to confirm we were in the linear range of the assay.

2.3.3 Immunoisolation of early endosomes

A subset of subjects (Table 1) was used for early endosome isolation due to the large amounts of tissue required for this technique. For each subject, isolation was performed in duplicate. Eighty (80) μ L [6.7 x 10⁸ beads/mL] of sheep anti-rabbit Dynabead M280 magnetic beads (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, California, USA) were washed three times with ice-cold phosphate buffered saline. All washes consisted of 5 minutes rotating at 4^o C and 2 minutes on the magnet [Dynal MPC-S, Invitrogen Carlsbad, California, USA]). Beads were then resuspended in 70 μ L of phosphate buffered saline and 7.5 μ g of rabbit anti-EEA1 antibody (Abcam Inc., Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA). The bead-antibody solution was incubated while rotating at 4^o C for 16-18 hours to form a bead-antibody complex. Seventy (70) μ L of fresh beads were chilled on ice and washed three times with ice cold phosphate buffered saline. We added 130 μ g of homogenized tissue in 5mM Tris HCl (final volume 200 μ L) to the freshly washed beads, and

precleared the tissue for 1 hour while rotating at 4^{0} C. The bead-antibody complex was washed three times with ice cold phosphate buffered saline. After the 1 hour incubation, the precleared tissue homogenate was collected and incubated with the bead-antibody complex for 3 hours while rotating at 4^{0} C to isolate early endosomes. The supernatant of the bead-antibody-endosome complex was collected and saved, and the bead-antibodyendosome complex was washed 3 times with ice cold phosphate buffered saline. This complex was reconstituted in 20 µL of distilled Milli-Q water and samples were prepared for western blot analysis or electron microscopy. Samples for western blot analysis were heated in reducing buffer containing β -mercaptoethanol at 70⁰ C for 10 minutes. Samples were placed in the Dynal magnet for 2 minutes prior to loading on the gel.

2.3.4 Electron Microscopy

Immediately after immunoisolation and reconstitution in Milli-Q water, beadantibody-endosome complexes were embedded in agarose and then fixed with 4% glutaraldehyde in 0.1M cacodylate buffer (pH 7.4) overnight at room temperature. The complexes were then washed and treated with 1% osmium tetroxide for 1 hour, mordanted with 0.25% uranyl acetate in acetate buffer for 30 minutes to overnight, washed and dehydrated with a graded series of ethanol washes and propylene oxide. Finally, the samples were embedded in epoxy resin, thin sectioned and counterstained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate. Images were captured using an FEI Tecnai Spirit 20-120kv Transmission Electron Microscope.

2.3.5 Data analysis

Near-infrared fluorescent signals obtained from the LiCor Odyssey scanner were expressed as raw integrated intensity with top/bottom median intralane background subtraction using Odyssey 3.0 analytical software (LiCor, Lincoln, Nebraska, USA) (Bond *et al*, 2008). For homogenate protein studies, duplicate lanes of protein expression from each subject were normalized to β -tubulin as an in-lane loading control. β -tubulin was chosen because no changes have previously been detected in subjects with schizophrenia compared to control subjects (Bauer *et al*, 2009). For immunoisolation studies, duplicate lanes of protein expression from each subject were normalized to EEA1 as an in-lane loading control.

To confirm the immunocapture of endosomes and to assess capture efficiency, 1650X direct magnification electron micrograph images of preclear, negative control, and immunoisolation samples, were printed, coded, and randomly sorted. Counts were made by an observer blind to condition. Beads or endosomes on the borders of each image were not included in the counts.

Data were analyzed using Statistica (Statsoft, Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA). Correlation analyses were done to identify any associations between the dependent variables and pH, age, and post-mortem interval. One-way analysis of covariance was performed if significant correlations were found. If no correlations were present, data were analyzed with one-way analysis of variance. Secondary analyses were performed using sex and medication status as the independent measure.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Protein expression in tissue homogenates

We examined the expression of the AMPA receptor interacting proteins GRIP1, NSF, and SAP97 in schizophrenia and a comparison group using β -tubulin as a loading control (Figure 1). As previously reported (Bauer *et al*, 2009), we found no changes in β tubulin (non-normalized) in schizophrenia. Despite a significant difference in PMI between the schizophrenia and comparison group [F(1,63) = 6.59, p = 0.01], we found no significant correlation between PMI and protein expression for GRIP1 [F(1,55) = 1.32, p = 0.26], SAP97 [F(1,54) = 1.76, p = 0.19], or NSF [F(1,53) = 0.008, p = 0.92]. We also found no significant correlations between protein expression and age or pH in our samples. Additionally, we found no effect of either sex or medication status in these homogenate studies. We found significant increases in GRIP1 [F(1,62) = 18.659, p < p0.01] and SAP97 [F(1,62) = 7.719, p < 0.01], but not NSF [F(1,62) = 2.616, p = 0.11] in subjects with schizophrenia. We also found no significant difference in the expression of EEA1 [F(1,52) = 0.135, p = 0.71], the marker we used to isolate early endosomes. We also examined total expression of GluR1-3 and found no change in schizophrenia (data not shown). We found a significant correlation between GluR1 and SAP97 expression in schizophrenia [F(1,29) = 5.29, p = 0.03], but not in our comparison group. We found no correlation between GluR2 and GRIP1 in either diagnostic group.

2.4.2 Early Endosome enrichment

To analyze alterations in early endosome content in schizophrenia, we used magnetic beads bound to an early endosome-specific antibody to obtain an enriched early endosome fraction from postmortem tissue (Figure 2). When starting with tissue homogenate, we detected non-specific binding of PSD95 to our magnetic beads (Figure 2, non-precleared, IM, Pellet lane). We incubated tissue with fresh beads to preclear the homogenate (Figure 2, preclear bead lane). Using this precleared tissue, we performed an immunoisolation (Figure 2, IM) with beads complexed to the EEA1 antibody. The negative control (Figure 2, - ctrl) consists of precleared homogenate with beads alone. When starting with the precleared samples, we found markedly diminished nonspecific expression of PSD95 in our endosome preparation, while EEA1 protein levels were preserved (Figure 2, Precleared, IM, Pellet lane). Substituting preimmune IgG for the EEA1 capture antibody gave identical results as beads alone (data not shown).

Using electron microscopy, we measured the number of endosomes per bead in preclear, negative control, and immunoisolation samples. We found a 6.15-fold increase in the endosome to bead ratio in our immunoisolation samples relative to our preclear beads samples (Figure 3, Table 3).

To verify the specificity of our immunoisolation, we used western blot analysis to measure expression of proteins not expected to be expressed in early endosomes, including those found in the post-synaptic density (PSD95), endoplasmic reticulum (GRP78/BiP), astrocytes (Glutamine Synthetase) and late endosomes (Rab7). As anticipated, we did not find any of these markers in our early endosome preparation (Figure 4).

2.4.3 Protein expression in early endosomes

We examined the expression of the AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1 - 3, in early endosomes samples (Figure 5). All protein expression was measured relative to EEA1 expression in the same lane. We found a significant increase in GluR1 [F(1,37) = 4.189, p= 0.048], but not GluR2 [F(1,41) = 0.030, p = 0.864] or GluR3 [F(1,41) = 0.067, p = 0.797] in the enriched endosome fraction. We found no significant correlations between protein expression and age, pH, or PMI in our isolated endosome samples. Additionally, we found no influence of sex in our isolated endosome studies.

Further analyses were done to determine if medication status had an effect on the expression of AMPA receptor subunits in early endosome isolation samples. We found a significant increase in GluR1 [F(2,36) = 6.65, p = 0.004], but not GluR2 [F(2,40) = 1.92, p = 0.159] or GluR3 [F(2,40) = 0.13, p = 0.876] in the enriched endosome fraction for patients off medication for 6 weeks or more prior to death compared to the comparison group (p = 0.003) or patients on medication 6 weeks or less prior to death (p = 0.018).

We also examined the enriched fraction to determine if there were alterations in the expression of the AMPA receptor interacting proteins, NSF or SAP97. We found no significant change in the expression of NSF [F(1,35) = 0.895, p = 0.351] or SAP97 [F(1,38) = 0.403, p = 0.529] in our early endosome enriched fraction (Figure 7). We found no significant associations with NSF/EEA1 or SAP97/EEA1 and medication status or sex.

2.5 Discussion

Previous studies have attempted to link alterations in AMPA receptor trafficking with the underlying pathophyisology of schizophrenia. These studies have examined expression of polymorphisms, transcripts, and proteins associated with AMPA receptor forward trafficking (Beneyto et al, 2006; Scarr et al, 2005). Transcripts for the GluR2 interacting protein, GRIP1, were decreased in one study, but increased in another (Choi et al, 2002; Dracheva et al, 2005). A different study found no changes in GRIP1 protein expression in the frontal cortex (Toyooka et al, 2002). Binding site and protein expression of another AMPA trafficking molecule, NSF, was unchanged in the DLPFC (Beneyto et al, 2006; Gray et al, 2006; Imai et al, 2001), while another study found decreased SAP97 protein expression in the DLPFC, but not in the hippocampus or occipital cortex (Toyooka et al, 2002). In contrast to these studies, we found an increase in expression of two proteins associated with AMPA receptor trafficking, GRIP1 and SAP97 in the DLPFC. There are several possible explanations for these divergent results, including differences in western blot protocol, level of gene expression, subject age, or tissue source. For example, in one previous report (Toyooka et al, 2002), SAP97 was normalized to NSE, a neuronal cytoplasmic marker, while we used β -tubulin for normalization, a structural microtubule protein that is unchanged in schizophrenia (Bauer et al, 2009). In addition, the cohort in the current study is elderly, while the subjects from other studies are generally younger. Regardless of the direction of change in expression, several studies have reported alterations in molecules associated with the trafficking of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia (McCullumsmith et al, 2004). Such alterations in

trafficking proteins suggests abnormal trafficking of AMPA receptors along the dendrite and to the cell surface at the synapse.

To further understand AMPA receptor trafficking and its potential role in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, we examined one subcellular fraction that is essential in the turnover of AMPA receptors at the cell surface, early endosomes. Following endocytosis, endocytic vesicles fuse with early endosomes as the initial step in the sorting of receptors to recycling or late endosomes (Gruenberg, 2001; Hirling, 2008). The isolation protocol we developed provided intact early endosomes with no evidence of cross-contamination from other subcellular organelles. Isolated endosomes (Figure 3) were similar in size (~ 1 micron) and shape (spheroid) to descriptions of early endosomes in preclinical literature (Gruenberg, 2001; Tjelle *et al*, 1996). Further examination revealed that the AMPA receptor subunits GluR1, GluR2, and GluR3, as well as the AMPA receptor interacting proteins, SAP97 and NSF, are present in the early endosomes in postmortem brain tissue. Thus, we used this preparation to measure the contents of early endosomes in schizophrenia.

We found no change in total EEA1 protein expression, a marker of early endosomes, between the subjects with schizophrenia and our comparison group, suggesting that the total number of early endosomes is unchanged between the groups. We also found no change in expression of GluR1-3 in total homogenate, suggesting that there is not a problem with too much or too little AMPA receptor expression, but a problem with receptor trafficking. Western blot analysis of the isolated endosomes revealed an increase in GluR1 relative to EEA1 expression in subjects with schizophrenia. The increase in GluR1 protein expression in endosomes, combined with

the increase in SAP97 and GRIP1 in homogenate, is consistent with increased forward trafficking of the subunit to the cell surface and an increase in endocytosis. Supporting these findings, we detected a significant positive correlation between SAP97 and GluR1 expression in tissue homogenates from subjects with schizophrenia, but not control subjects. We speculate that increased SAP97 might be a compensation for increased levels of GluR1 on the cell surface, with increased internalization of excess receptor complexes, in a manner similar to NMDA-induced long-term depression (Biou *et al*, 2008; Brown *et al*, 2005). Recent developments in the glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia suggest that increased synaptic glutamate might contribute to pathophysiology in schizophrenia (Krystal, 2008). In preclinical studies, elevated synaptic glutamate levels led to a selective increase in the internalization of GluR1-containing AMPA receptors (Lissin *et al*, 1999). Such a mechanism is consistent with our findings of altered trafficking molecules and GluR1 in early endosomes and the hypothesis of increased synaptic glutamate in schizophrenia.

Alternatively, there may be dysfunction in the stabilization of GluR1 containing AMPA receptors at the synapse. The consequences of diminished levels of GluR1containing AMPA receptors in the synapse has been examined in rodent models. One study using a GluR1 knockout mouse model found an increase in behavioral endophenotypes associated with schizophrenia (Wiedholz *et al*, 2008). Other studies have found removal of GluR1-containing AMPA receptors from the synapse leads to a decrease in long-term potentiation and cognitive dysfunction in rodents (Johnson *et al*, 2005; Mead and Stephens, 2003; Rumpel *et al*, 2005). If the GluR1-containing receptors are not stabilized at the synapse, they may become trapped in the early endosomes.

Regardless of the cause, our finding of increased GluR1 in early endosomes suggests abnormal intracellular localization of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia.

While GluR1 exists as part of a heteromeric AMPA receptor complex, we did not find an increase in other AMPA receptor subunits in the early endosomes. It may be that trafficking of GluR2- and GluR3-containing AMPA receptors through early endosomes is preserved in schizophrenia. To gain a clear understanding of where GluR2 and GluR3 may be localized, other subcellular fractions, including the ER and PSD, must be examined.

Many patients with schizophrenia have a long history of taking antipsychotic medication. In order to partially control for this effect, we examined a subset of subjects who were off medication for 6 weeks or more at the time of death. We found no medication related changes in GluR2 or GluR3 in early endosomes, however patients off medication had increased GluR1 protein expression in early endosomes relative to both the comparison group and the subjects on medication at the time of death (Figure 6). Thus, antipsychotic treatment may mask changes in AMPA receptor trafficking and localization, by decreasing the amount of GluR1-containing AMPA receptors that are present in early endosomes, without changing the overall protein expression level. Additionally, there may be a neuroleptic effect on other trafficking molecules. However, this effect may be confined to the endosomes as we found no change in SAP97 or GRIP1 in early endosomes, despite a non-drug related increase in these proteins in total homogenate. In order to further understand how drug related changes affect trafficking, additional studies would be beneficial.

While previous studies have examined surface binding of AMPA receptor subunits (Beneyto *et al*, 2006; Dracheva *et al*, 2005; Scarr *et al*, 2005), we have examined a subcellular compartment that directly contributes to the trafficking and surface expression of AMPA receptors. In order to isolate endosomes, we developed a modified immunoisolation protocol rather than using a standard subcellular fractionation technique involving high-speed centrifugation that may lead to cross-contamination of the fractions, due to the processing typically associated with postmortem tissue collection (Aniento and Gruenberg, 2003; German and Howe, 2009). In addition, we found that when using magnetic or sepharose beads, there was non-specific binding of some proteins to the beads, including PSD95. In order to remove this non-specific binding, we found that a preclear step was required, highlighting the importance of appropriate control studies when utilizing bead capture techniques in postmortem tissue.

In summary, we found an increase in proteins involved in forward trafficking of AMPA receptors, SAP97 and GRIP1. This increase may lead to increased forward trafficking of the AMPA receptors and more AMPA receptors in the endosomal compartment. We also found an increase in an AMPA receptor subunit in early endosomes in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia, supporting the hypothesis that forward trafficking of AMPA receptors is altered in schizophrenia and suggesting that alterations in endosome contents may be associated with the underlying pathophyisology of the illness.

2.6 Conflict of Interest

Dr. James Meador-Woodruff receives an honorarium as editor of

Neuropsychopharmacology. The other authors have nothing to disclose.

2.7 Acknowledgements

Supported by MH086257 (JCH), MH53327 (JMW), MH064673 & MH066392 (VH) and MH074016 & Doris Duke Clinical Scientist Award (REM). The authors would also like to thank Basil Bakir for assistance with analysis of electron microscopy data.

2.8 References

Allen R, Young S (1978). Phencyclidine-induced psychosis. *Am J Psychiatry* **135**(9): 1081-1084.

Aniento F, Gruenberg J (2003). Subcellular fractionation of tissue culture cells. *Curr Protoc Immunol* **Chapter 8**: Unit 8.1C.

Barbon A, Fumagalli F, La Via L, Caracciolo L, Racagni G, Riva M, *et al* (2007). Chronic phencyclidine administration reduces the expression and editing of specific glutamate receptors in rat prefrontal cortex. *Exp Neurol* **208**(1): 54-62.

Bauer D, Haroutunian V, McCullumsmith R, Meador-Woodruff J (2009). Expression of four housekeeping proteins in elderly patients with schizophrenia. *J Neural Transm* **116**(4): 487-491.

Beattie E, Carroll R, Yu X, Morishita W, Yasuda H, von Zastrow M, *et al* (2000). Regulation of AMPA receptor endocytosis by a signaling mechanism shared with LTD. *Nat Neurosci* **3**(12): 1291-1300.

Beneyto M, Meador-Woodruff J (2006). Lamina-specific abnormalities of AMPA receptor trafficking and signaling molecule transcripts in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. *Synapse* **60**(8): 585-598.

Biou V, Bhattacharyya S, Malenka R (2008). Endocytosis and recycling of AMPA receptors lacking GluR2/3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**(3): 1038-1043.

Boehm J, Kang M, Johnson R, Esteban J, Huganir R, Malinow R (2006). Synaptic incorporation of AMPA receptors during LTP is controlled by a PKC phosphorylation site on GluR1. *Neuron* **51**(2): 213-225.

Bond D, Primrose D, Foley E (2008). Quantitative evaluation of signaling events in Drosophila s2 cells. *Biol Proced Online* **10**: 20-28.

Breese C, Freedman R, Leonard S (1995). Glutamate receptor subtype expression in human postmortem brain tissue from schizophrenics and alcohol abusers. *Brain Res* **674**(1): 82-90.

Brown T, Tran I, Backos D, Esteban J (2005). NMDA receptor-dependent activation of the small GTPase Rab5 drives the removal of synaptic AMPA receptors during hippocampal LTD. *Neuron* **45**(1): 81-94.

Carroll R, Beattie E, Xia H, Lüscher C, Altschuler Y, Nicoll R, *et al* (1999). Dynamindependent endocytosis of ionotropic glutamate receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**(24): 14112-14117. Choi J, Ko J, Park E, Lee J, Yoon J, Lim S, *et al* (2002). Phosphorylation of stargazin by protein kinase A regulates its interaction with PSD-95. *J Biol Chem* **277**(14): 12359-12363.

Coyle J, Tsai G, Goff D (2003). Converging evidence of NMDA receptor hypofunction in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1003**: 318-327.

Dracheva S, McGurk S, Haroutunian V (2005). mRNA expression of AMPA receptors and AMPA receptor binding proteins in the cerebral cortex of elderly schizophrenics. *J Neurosci Res* **79**(6): 868-878.

Eastwood S, McDonald B, Burnet P, Beckwith J, Kerwin R, Harrison P (1995). Decreased expression of mRNAs encoding non-NMDA glutamate receptors GluR1 and GluR2 in medial temporal lobe neurons in schizophrenia. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **29**(2): 211-223.

Ehlers M (2000). Reinsertion or degradation of AMPA receptors determined by activitydependent endocytic sorting. *Neuron* **28**(2): 511-525.

Ellison G (1995). The N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonists phencyclidine, ketamine and dizocilpine as both behavioral and anatomical models of the dementias. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* **20**(2): 250-267.

Freed W, Dillon-Carter O, Kleinman J (1993). Properties of [3H]AMPA binding in postmortem human brain from psychotic subjects and controls: increases in caudate nucleus associated with suicide. *Exp Neurol* **121**(1): 48-56.

Funk A, Rumbaugh G, Harotunian V, McCullumsmith R, Meador-Woodruff J (2009). Decreased expression of NMDA receptor-associated proteins in frontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Neuroreport* **20**(11): 1019-1022.

Gerges N, Backos D, Esteban J (2004). Local control of AMPA receptor trafficking at the postsynaptic terminal by a small GTPase of the Rab family. *J Biol Chem* **279**(42): 43870-43878.

German C, Howe C (2009). Preparation of biologically active subcellular fractions using the Balch homogenizer. *Anal Biochem* **394**(1): 117-124.

Gray L, Scarr E, Dean B (2006). N-Ethylmaleimide sensitive factor in the cortex of subjects with schizophrenia and bipolar I disorder. *Neurosci Lett* **391**(3): 112-115.

Greger I, Esteban J (2007). AMPA receptor biogenesis and trafficking. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* **17**(3): 289-297.

Gruenberg J (2001). The endocytic pathway: a mosaic of domains. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **2**(10): 721-730.

Guo L, Wang Y (2007). Glutamate stimulates glutamate receptor interacting protein 1 degradation by ubiquitin-proteasome system to regulate surface expression of GluR2. *Neuroscience* **145**(1): 100-109.

Healy D, Haroutunian V, Powchik P, Davidson M, Davis K, Watson S, *et al* (1998). AMPA receptor binding and subunit mRNA expression in prefrontal cortex and striatum of elderly schizophrenics. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **19**(4): 278-286.

Hirling H (2008). Endosomal trafficking of AMPA-type glutamate receptors. *Neuroscience*.

Imai C, Sugai T, Iritani S, Niizato K, Nakamura R, Makifuchi T, *et al* (2001). A quantitative study on the expression of synapsin II and N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive fusion protein in schizophrenic patients. *Neurosci Lett* **305**(3): 185-188.

Jiang J, Suppiramaniam V, Wooten M (2006). Posttranslational modifications and receptor-associated proteins in AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Neurosignals* **15**(5): 266-282.

Johnson A, Bannerman D, Rawlins N, Sprengel R, Good M (2005). Impaired outcomespecific devaluation of instrumental responding in mice with a targeted deletion of the AMPA receptor glutamate receptor 1 subunit. *J Neurosci* **25**(9): 2359-2365.

Krystal J (2008). Capitalizing on extrasynaptic glutamate neurotransmission to treat antipsychotic-resistant symptoms in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* **64**(5): 358-360.

Lee S, Simonetta A, Sheng M (2004). Subunit rules governing the sorting of internalized AMPA receptors in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* **43**(2): 221-236.

Lissin D, Carroll R, Nicoll R, Malenka R, von Zastrow M (1999). Rapid, activationinduced redistribution of ionotropic glutamate receptors in cultured hippocampal neurons. *J Neurosci* **19**(4): 1263-1272.

Lüscher C, Xia H, Beattie E, Carroll R, von Zastrow M, Malenka R, *et al* (1999). Role of AMPA receptor cycling in synaptic transmission and plasticity. *Neuron* **24**(3): 649-658.

McCullumsmith R, Clinton S, Meador-Woodruff J (2004). Schizophrenia as a disorder of neuroplasticity. *Int Rev Neurobiol* **59**: 19-45.

Mead A, Stephens D (2003). Selective disruption of stimulus-reward learning in glutamate receptor gria1 knock-out mice. *J Neurosci* **23**(3): 1041-1048.

Meador-Woodruff J, Hogg AJ, Smith R (2001). Striatal ionotropic glutamate receptor expression in schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depressive disorder. *Brain Res Bull* **55**(5): 631-640.

Mirnics K, Middleton F, Marquez A, Lewis D, Levitt P (2000). Molecular characterization of schizophrenia viewed by microarray analysis of gene expression in prefrontal cortex. *Neuron* **28**(1): 53-67.

Nash J, Appleby V, Corrêa S, Wu H, Fitzjohn S, Garner C, *et al* (2010). Disruption of the interaction between myosin VI and SAP97 is associated with a reduction in the number of AMPARs at hippocampal synapses. *J Neurochem* **112**(3): 677-690.

Noel J, Ralph G, Pickard L, Williams J, Molnar E, Uney J, *et al* (1999). Surface expression of AMPA receptors in hippocampal neurons is regulated by an NSF-dependent mechanism. *Neuron* **23**(2): 365-376.

Noga J, Hyde T, Bachus S, Herman M, Kleinman J (2001). AMPA receptor binding in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of schizophrenics and controls. *Schizophr Res* **48**(2-3): 361-363.

O'Connor J, Muly E, Arnold S, Hemby S (2007). AMPA receptor subunit and splice variant expression in the DLPFC of schizophrenic subjects and rhesus monkeys chronically administered antipsychotic drugs. *Schizophr Res* **90**(1-3): 28-40.

Park M, Penick E, Edwards J, Kauer J, Ehlers M (2004). Recycling endosomes supply AMPA receptors for LTP. *Science* **305**(5692): 1972-1975.

Rumpel S, LeDoux J, Zador A, Malinow R (2005). Postsynaptic receptor trafficking underlying a form of associative learning. *Science* **308**(5718): 83-88.

Scarr E, Beneyto M, Meador-Woodruff J, Deans B (2005). Cortical glutamatergic markers in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **30**(8): 1521-1531.

Tjelle T, Brech A, Juvet L, Griffiths G, Berg T (1996). Isolation and characterization of early endosomes, late endosomes and terminal lysosomes: their role in protein degradation. *J Cell Sci* **109** (**Pt 12**): 2905-2914.

Toyooka K, Iritani S, Makifuchi T, Shirakawa O, Kitamura N, Maeda K, *et al* (2002). Selective reduction of a PDZ protein, SAP-97, in the prefrontal cortex of patients with chronic schizophrenia. *J Neurochem* **83**(4): 797-806.

Whiteheart S, Matveeva E (2004). Multiple binding proteins suggest diverse functions for the N-ethylmaleimide sensitive factor. *J Struct Biol* 146(1-2): 32-43.

Wiedholz L, Owens W, Horton R, Feyder M, Karlsson R, Hefner K, *et al* (2008). Mice lacking the AMPA GluR1 receptor exhibit striatal hyperdopaminergia and 'schizophrenia-related' behaviors. *Mol Psychiatry* **13**(6): 631-640.

Wu H, Nash J, Zamorano P, Garner C (2002). Interaction of SAP97 with minus-enddirected actin motor myosin VI. Implications for AMPA receptor trafficking. *J Biol Chem* **277**(34): 30928-30934.

Zhu J (2003). Mechanisms of synaptic plasticity: from membrane to intracellular AMPAR trafficking. *Mol Interv* **3**(1): 15-18.

Table 1: Subject Demographics

	Homogenate studies		Endosome studies	
	comparison	schizophrenia	comparison	schizophrenia
Ν	31	35	21	20
Sex	12m/19f	23m/12f	8m/13f	15m/5f
Tissue pH	6.4 ± 0.2	6.4 ± 0.3	6.4 ± 0.3	6.4 ± 0.3
PMI (hours)	8.1 ± 6.9	12.5 ± 6.6	8.5 ± 7.6	12.8 ± 6.4
Age (years)	78 ± 14	74 ± 12	79 ± 12	73 ± 12
Medication (on/off)	0/31	24/11	0/21	12/8

Values presented as mean ± standard deviation. Male (m), female (f), postmortem interval (PMI)

Antibody	Species	Concentration	Incubation	Company
GluR1	mouse	1:100	16 hours	Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, Santa Cruz, CA
GluR2	mouse	1:1000	2 hours	US Biological, Swampscott, MA
GluR3	mouse	1:500	16 hours	US Biological, Swampscott, MA
GRIP1	rabbit	1:1000	16 hours	Upstate, Lake Placid, NY
NSF	mouse	1:4000	16 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
SAP97	mouse	1:1000	16 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
EEA1	mouse	1:1000	2 hours	BD Transduction, San Jose, CA
PSD95	mouse	1:1000	1 hour	Millipore, Bellarica, MA
GRP78/BiP	mouse	1:250	1 hour	BD Transduction, San Jose, CA
GS	mouse	1:5000	1 hour	BD Transduction, San Jose, CA
Rab5	mouse	1:2000	1 hour	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
β -Tubulin	mouse	1:10,000	1 hour	Upstate, Lake Placid, NY

Table 2: Antibodies used for Western blot studies

Abbreviations: Glutamate Receptor (GluR), Glutamate Receptor Interacting Protein 1 (GRIP1), Nethylmalemide Sensitive Factor (NSF), Synapse Associated Protein 97 (SAP97), Early Endosome Antigen 1 (EEA1), Post-synaptic Density 95 (PSD95), Glucose Regulated Protein 78/Binding Protein (GRP78/BiP), Glutamine Synthetase (GS).

Condition	Antibody	Beads Counted	Endosomes/Bead
Preclear (non-specific binding)	None	890	0.047
Negative Control	Rabbit IgG	175	0.000
Immunoisolation (specific	Rabbit α EEA1	560	0.276
binding)			

Table 3: Endosome Counts from Electron Micrograph Studies

Abbreviations: Early Endosome Antigen 1 (EEA1)



Figure 1. Western blot analysis of AMPA interacting proteins (A – Glutamate Receptor Interacting Protein 1 (GRIP1), B – N-ethylmaleimide Sensitive Factor (NSF), C – Synapse Associated Protein 97 (SAP97) and D – Early Endosome Antigen 1 (EEA1)) in total brain homogenate normalized to β -tubulin. * p < 0.05



Figure 2. Flow chart of EEA1 immunoisolation protocol with non-precleared and precleared tissue. Western blotting was used to determine protein expression of EEA1 and PSD95. Non-specific binding of PSD95 in EEA1 immunoisolation is present with non-precleared tissue (Non-precleared, IM, Pellet lane). EEA1 immunoisolation with precleared tissue has markedly reduced expression of PSD95 but maintains EEA1 expression (Precleared, IM, Pellet lane). PSD95 sticks non-specifically to beads (preclear bead lane). Immunoisolation (IM). Negative control (- control).



Figure 3. Electron micrograph of early endosome immunoisolation. Early endosomes were isolated using magnetic beads and EEA1 capture antibody and imaged using electron microscopy. The panel on the right is an enlarged view of the area indicated by the arrow on the left.



Figure 4. Characterization of early endosome isolation by western blot analysis. Proteins not expressed in early endosomes (IM – Pellet) include those found in the post-synaptic density (PSD95), endoplasmic reticulum (GRP78/BiP), astrocytes (glutamine synthetase), and late endosomes (Rab7). Expression of the AMPA receptor subunit (GluR2) is present in early endosomes (IM – Pellet). Immunoisolation (IM). Negative control (-ctrl). Early Endosome Antigen 1 (EEA1). Post-synaptic density 95 (PSD95). Glucose Regulated Protein 78/Binding immunoglobulin protein (GRP78/BiP). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 2 (GluR2).



Figure 5. Western blot analysis of AMPA receptor subunits GluR1 (A), GluR2 (B), and GluR3 (C) in early endosomes normalized to EEA1 levels. Data are expressed as the ratio of subunit relative to isolated endosome expression. * p < 0.05



Figure 6. Analysis of antipsychotic effects on GluR1 expression relative to expression of isolated early endosomes. Post-hoc analysis of expression of GluR1 relative to expression of isolated early endosomes. Patients on medication at time of death (On Rx). Patients off medication for ≥ 6 weeks at time of death (Off Rx). * p < 0.05



Figure 7. AMPA receptor interacting protein expression in early endosomes. The expression of the AMPA receptor interacting proteins, NSF (A) and SAP97 (B), relative to expression of EEA1 was detected by western blot following enrichment of early endosomes.

Endosomal Trafficking of AMPA Receptors in Frontal Cortex of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia

by

John C. Hammond, Robert E. McCullumsmith, Vahram Haroutunian, James H. Meador-Woodruff

> Schizophrenia Research Copyright 2011 by Elsevier, Inc. Used by permission

Format adapted for dissertation

3.1 Abstract

Several lines of evidence indicate altered trafficking of α -amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4isoxazole-propionate (AMPA) receptors in schizophrenia. Previous reports have implicated alterations in the endosomal trafficking of AMPA receptors in this illness. We hypothesized that late endosome content of AMPA receptor subunits is altered in schizophrenia. Accordingly, we developed a technique to isolate and measure contents of late endosomes from postmortem human tissue. We found no changes in the expression of the AMPA subunits, GluR1-4, in late endosomes from the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. We also hypothesized that proteins involved in the sorting and trafficking of AMPA receptors between endosomal compartments would be altered in schizophrenia. We found no changes in expression of multiple proteins associated with these processes (dynamin3, Arc/ARG3.1, NEEP21, GRASP1, liprin α , and syntaxin13). Together, these data suggest that endosomal trafficking of AMPA receptors in the prefrontal cortex may be largely intact in schizophrenia.

3.2 Introduction

Recent studies suggest a link between the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and abnormalities of glutamate receptor expression and neurotransmission (Beneyto et al., 2007; Dracheva et al., 2005; McCullumsmith et al., 2004). The glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia posits decreased signaling through the *N*-methyl *D*-aspartate (NMDA), and possibly α -amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionate (AMPA) subtypes of glutamate receptors (Coyle, 1996; Coyle et al., 2003). Some recent evidence has suggested abnormalities of trafficking of the AMPA subtype of glutamate receptor in this illness (Beneyto and Meador-Woodruff, 2006; Hammond et al., 2010; Toyooka et al., 2002).

AMPA receptor trafficking is tightly regulated from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to expression at the synapse (Greger and Esteban, 2007; Zhu, 2003). Mature tetrameric AMPA receptors exit the ER and Golgi and are trafficked along the shaft of the cell toward the synapse with assistance from AMPA receptor interacting proteins such as SAP97 and GRIP1 (Goldstein and Yang, 2000; Jiang et al., 2006; Sans et al., 2001; Setou et al., 2002). Upon reaching the synapse, AMPA receptor insertion into the cell membrane is activity-dependent (Greger and Esteban, 2007; Jin et al., 2006; Zhu, 2003). AMPA receptors expressed at the synapse can be inactivated through removal from the cell membrane via internalization into endosomes. Endosomes are small, spherical compartments that traffic AMPA receptors between intracellular compartments and the neuronal surface (Hirling, 2008). From early endosomes, AMPA receptors can be sorted to recycling endosomes or to late endosomes for degradation (Ehlers, 2000).

AMPA receptors may also be pooled in the endosomes as a reserve (Lüscher and Frerking, 2001; Park et al., 2004). There is evidence of an increased pool of AMPA receptors in early endosomes in schizophrenia (Hammond et al., 2010).

Specific markers identify different endosomal subclasses: Rab5 is expressed in early endosomes, Rab7 in late endosomes, and Rab11 in recycling endosomes (Hanley, 2010; Ng and Tang, 2008; Wang et al., 2011). In addition to the rabs, other molecules are involved in the sorting and trafficking of AMPA receptors between these endosomal subclasses. Dynamin3 and Arc/ARG3.1 facilitate endocytosis of AMPA receptors into early endosomes, while NEEP21 and GRASP1 sort AMPA receptors from early endosomes to recycling endosomes (Bramham et al., 2008; Chowdhury et al., 2006; Hoogenraad et al., 2010; Hoogenraad and van der Sluijs, 2010; Lu et al., 2007; Steiner et al., 2005). Liprin α and syntaxin13 facilitate postsynaptic targeting and reinsertion of AMPA receptors in the plasma membrane (Ko et al., 2003; Park et al., 2006; Spangler and Hoogenraad, 2007). Dysregulated trafficking and localization of AMPA receptors may alter excitatory neurotransmission mediated by these receptors.

We postulate that altered endosomal trafficking of AMPA receptors may be associated with the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. Consistent with this hypothesis, we have previously reported increased GluR1 in an early endosome compartment isolated from postmortem cortex samples in schizophrenia (Hammond et al., 2010). To further test this hypothesis, in the present study we isolated and characterized intact late endosomes from postmortem brain tissue and measured the expression of AMPA receptor subunits and trafficking molecules in these endosomes from subjects with schizophrenia and a comparison group. To assess the fidelity of the endosomal system,
we also measured expression of proteins associated with endosomal handling of AMPA receptors in brains from these same subjects.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Subjects and Tissue Preparation

Subjects from the Mount Sinai Medical Center brain bank were recruited prospectively and underwent extensive antemortem diagnostic and clinical assessment (Table 1). Patients were considered to be "off" medication if they had not taken antipsychotics for 6 weeks or more at the time of death. Exclusion criteria included a history of alcoholism, substance abuse, death by suicide, or coma for >6 h before death. Consent was obtained from next of kin for each subject. Brains were collected and cut coronally in 10 mm slabs. The dorsolateral prefrontal cortex was dissected from the coronal slabs, snap frozen, and stored at -80 °C. This tissue was pulverized, adding small amounts of liquid nitrogen as necessary, and stored at -80 °C until used.

Tissue was prepared for western blots as previously described (Funk et al., 2009). Tissue was reconstituted in 5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 0.32 M sucrose, and a protease inhibitor tablet (Complete Mini, Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). Tissue was homogenized using a Power Gen 125 homogenizer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, Illinois) at speed 5 for 60 s. Homogenates were assayed for protein concentration using a BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, Illinois), and stored at –80 °C.

3.3.2 Western Blot Analysis

Commercially available antibodies were used for the western blot analyses with antisera dilutions determined empirically (Table 2). Samples for western blots were placed in reducing buffer-containing β -mercaptoethanol and heated at 70 °C for 10 min.

Samples for each subject were then run in duplicate by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis on Invitrogen (Carlsbad, California) 4-12% gradient gels, and transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride membrane using Bio-Rad semi-dry transblotter (Hercules, California). The membranes were blocked in LiCor (Lincoln, Nebraska) blocking buffer or 1% BSA for 1 h at room temperature, and probed with primary antibody in 0.1% Tween LiCor blocking buffer or 0.1% Tween in 1% BSA at the dilutions and for the durations indicated in Table 2. Membranes were then washed four times for 5 min each with 0.01% Tween phosphate-buffered saline. Membranes were probed with IR-dye labeled secondary antibody in 0.1% Tween, 0.01% SDS LiCor blocking buffer or 0.1% Tween, 0.01% SDS 1% BSA for 1 h at room temperature in the dark. Membranes were washed again with 0.01% Tween phosphate-buffered saline four times for 5 min each and then briefly rinsed three times in distilled water. The blots were stored in distilled water at 4 °C until scanned using the LI-COR Odyssey laser-based image detection method (Bond et al., 2008). We tested each antibody using varying concentrations of total protein from homogenized human cortical tissue to confirm we were in the linear range of the assay.

3.3.3 Immunoisolation of Late Endosomes

A subset of subjects (Table 1) was used for late endosome isolation because of the large amounts of tissue required for this technique. For each subject, isolation was performed in duplicate. In total, $80 \ \mu l$ (6.7×10^8 beads/ml) of sheep anti-mouse Dynabead M280 magnetic beads (Invitrogen) were washed three times with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline. All washes consisted of 5 min rotating at 4 °C and 2 min on the magnet (Dynal MPC-S, Invitrogen). Beads were then resuspended in 70 μl of

phosphate-buffered saline and 20 µg of mouse anti-Rab7 antibody (Abcam, Cambridge, Massachusetts). The bead-antibody solution was incubated while rotating at 4 °C for 16-18 h to form a bead-antibody complex. Subsequently, 80 µl of fresh beads were chilled on ice and washed three times with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline. We added 260 µg of homogenized tissue in 5 mM Tris-HCl (final volume 200 μ l) to the freshly washed beads, and precleared the tissue for 1 h while rotating at 4 °C. The bead-antibody complex was washed three times with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline. After the 1-h incubation, the precleared tissue homogenate was collected and incubated with the bead-antibody complex for 3 h while rotating at 4 °C to isolate late endosomes. The supernatant of the bead-antibody-endosome complex was collected and saved, and the bead-antibodyendosome complex was washed three times with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline. This complex was reconstituted in 20 µl of distilled Milli-Q water and samples were prepared for western blot analysis or electron microscopy. Samples for western blot analysis were heated in reducing buffer-containing β -mercaptoethanol at 70 °C for 10 min. Samples were placed in the Dynal magnet for 2 min before loading on the gel.

3.3.4 Electron Microscopy

Immediately after immunoisolation and reconstitution in Milli-Q water, beadantibody-endosome complexes were embedded in agarose and then fixed with 4% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M cacodylate buffer (pH 7.4) overnight at room temperature. The complexes were then washed and treated with 1% osmium tetroxide for 1 h, mordanted with 0.25% uranyl acetate in acetate buffer for 30 min to overnight, washed and dehydrated with a graded series of ethanol washes and propylene oxide. Finally, the samples were embedded in epoxy resin, thin sectioned and counterstained with uranyl

acetate and lead citrate. Images were captured using an FEI Tecnai Spirit 20–120kv Transmission Electron Microscope.

3.3.5 Data Analysis

Near-infrared fluorescent signals obtained from the LiCor Odyssey scanner were expressed as raw integrated intensity with top–bottom median intralane background subtraction using Odyssey 3.0 analytical software (LiCor) (Bond et al, 2008). For homogenate protein studies, duplicate lanes of protein expression from each subject were normalized to valosin-containing protein (VCP) as an in-lane loading control. VCP was chosen because no changes have previously been detected in subjects with schizophrenia compared with control subjects (Bauer et al., 2009; Hammond et al., 2010). For immunoisolation studies, duplicate lanes of protein expression from each subject were normalized to Rab7 as an in-lane loading control.

To confirm the immunocapture of endosomes and to assess capture efficiency, 1650X direct magnification electron micrograph images of preclear, negative control, and immunoisolation samples, were printed, coded, and randomly sorted. Counts were made by an observer blind to condition. Beads or endosomes on the borders of each image were not included in the counts.

Data were analyzed using Statistica (Statsoft, Tulsa, Oklahoma). Correlation analyses were carried out to identify any associations between the dependent variables and pH, age, and postmortem interval. One-way analysis of covariance was performed if significant correlations were found. If no correlations were present, data were analyzed with one-way analysis of variance. Secondary analyses were performed using sex and

medication status (receiving antipsychotics at the time of death vs. off medication for six weeks or more at the time of death) as the independent measure.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Late Endosome Enrichment

To analyze alterations in late endosome content in schizophrenia, we used magnetic beads bound to a late endosome-specific antibody to obtain an enriched late endosome fraction from postmortem tissue (Figure 1). To verify the enrichment of late endosomes in our immunoisolation, we used western blot analysis to measure expression of proteins not expected to be expressed in late endosomes, including those found in early endosomes (EEA1), endoplasmic reticulum (GRP78/BiP), and astrocytes (glutamine synthetase). As anticipated, we did not find any of these markers in our late endosome preparation (Figure 1 – IM, pellet). We do have evidence of minor non-specific PSD95 remnants in our late endosome enrichment that also occurs in our negative control preparation (Figure 1A – IM, pellet; - control, pellet). Additionally, as expected we have evidence of an AMPA receptor subunit (GluR1) expressed in our late endosome enriched fraction (Figure 1A – IM, pellet).

Using electron microscopy, we confirmed the isolation of intact late endosomes in our immunoisolation. Further, we measured the number of endosomes per bead in preclear, negative control, and immunoisolation samples. We found a 1.7-fold increase in the endosome to bead ratio in our immunoisolation samples relative to our preclear beads samples and a 17.3-fold increase in the endosome to bead ratio in our immunoisolation samples relative to our negative control samples.

3.4.2 Protein Expression in Late Endosomes

We examined the expression of the AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, in Rab7 positive late endosomes samples. All protein expression was measured relative to Rab7 expression in the same lane. We found no significant differences in GluR1, GluR2, GluR3, or GluR4 in the enriched endosome fraction (Figure 2 and Table 3). We found no significant correlations between protein expression and age, pH, or PMI in our isolated endosome samples. In addition, we found no influence of sex or medication status in our isolated endosome studies.

We also examined the enriched fraction to determine if there were alterations in the expression of the AMPA receptor-interacting proteins, GRIP1, NSF, or SAP97. We found no significant change in the expression of GRIP1, NSF or SAP97 in our late endosome-enriched fraction (Table 3). We found no significant associations with GRIP1/Rab7, NSF/Rab7, or SAP97/Rab7 and medication status or sex.

3.4.3 Protein Expression in Tissue Homogenates

We have examined the expression of proteins involved in the sorting of AMPA receptors in endosomes as well as those involved in the fusion of endosome subtypes using VCP as a loading control (Figure 3). As previously reported (Bauer et al., 2009; Hammond et al., 2010), we found no changes in VCP (non-normalized) in schizophrenia. We found no significant correlations between protein expression and PMI, pH, or age in our samples. In addition, we found no significant effect of either sex or medication status in these samples. We found no significant difference in the expression of Arc/ARG3.1, NEEP21, Liprin α , dynamin3, GRASP1 or syntaxin13 (Figure 2 and Table 4).

Additionally, we found no significant difference in the expression of Rab7, the marker we used to isolate late endosomes (Figure 2 and Table 4).

3.5 Discussion

We have previously reported increased expression of GluR1 in isolated early endosomes in frontal cortex of schizophrenia (Hammond et al., 2010). Our interpretation of these results was that the increase in GluR1 in early endosomes reflected an increase in the forward trafficking of AMPA receptors. From the early endosome, AMPA receptors may be sorted to late endosomes. An increase in AMPA receptors in early endosomes may indicate an increase in AMPA receptors in other endosomal compartments. To extend this hypothesis, we isolated late endosomes and examined expression of the AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, and AMPA receptor interacting proteins, GRIP1, NSF, and SAP97, in this fraction. We predicted that we would find an increase in AMPA receptor subunits in the late endosomes, consistent with our previous finding in early endosomes, further implicating altered endosomal handling and trafficking of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia.

Based on western blot protein characterization, our late endosome isolation is free from contaminants of other subcellular fractions with the exception of the postsynaptic density (Figure 1A – IM, pellet lane). The postsynaptic density expressed in our isolation is no greater than the expression in our negative control (Figure 1A – negative (-) control, pellet lane) and intact postsynaptic densities were not visualized by electron microscopy. While the early endosome (EEA1) expression is not as prominent as late endosome (Rab7) expression in the homogenate lane (Figure 1A – homogenate), we did not detect cross-contamination with early endosomes (EEA1) by western blot (Figure 1A – IM,

pellet lane) or morphological profile in electron microscopy. Furthermore, our isolated late endosomes have similar morphologic features to previously published reports on late endosomes in the preclinical literature (Figure 1B) (Kamsteeg et al., 2006; Kobayashi et al., 1998). Using this enriched fraction of late endosomes, we found no significant changes in the expression of any of the AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, or the three AMPA receptor interacting proteins in schizophrenia. These results suggest that AMPA receptor trafficking in late endosomes is not altered in schizophrenia. Taken together with our earlier data, in two separate endosomal compartments, early and late, we have only identified increased GluR1 expression in early endosomes (Hammond et al., 2010).

We also tested the hypothesis that there are abnormalities of endosomal machinery in schizophrenia. Specifically, we focused on proteins that interact with AMPA receptors, such as dynamin3, NEEP21, and liprin α , as well as proteins that are more directly involved in endosome machinery, Arc/ARG3.1, GRASP1, and syntaxin13. Disruption of any of these proteins may alter the endosomal trafficking of AMPA receptors. Together, the necessity of these proteins in the trafficking of AMPA receptors near the synapse and the hypothesis that endosomal trafficking may be altered in schizophrenia made these six proteins ideal targets to measure. We found no significant changes in any of these endosomal trafficking proteins, suggesting that AMPA receptor-associated trafficking machinery is intact in schizophrenia.

It is conceivable that the magnitude of changes in these proteins in schizophrenia is too small to detect with our current sample size. We feel that this is unlikely given that in our total homogenate studies, we analyzed protein expression from 63 subjects, and in our endosome isolation studies we analyzed protein expression from 40 subjects. There is also the possibility that our in-lane normalizing proteins, VCP in total homogenate and Rab7 in endosome studies, masked any differences that may be present. However, our data were also analyzed without normalization and no significant changes were found.

While there are reports detailing changes in AMPA receptor interacting protein expression in schizophrenia, there are no previous reports that have examined multiple proteins involved in a localized but complex trafficking system as presented in this report. Our lack of significant findings suggests that with the exception of our earlier GluR1 finding in early endosomes, the endosomal trafficking system of AMPA receptors is largely intact in schizophrenia. Though we did not find distal changes in AMPA receptor trafficking, there may be abnormalities in AMPA receptor trafficking proximally in the endoplasmic reticulum or Golgi apparatus, an area we are currently pursuing.

3.6 Acknowledgements

Supported by MH086257 (JCH), MH53327 (JMW), MH064673 & MH066392 (VH) and MH074016 & Doris Duke Clinical Scientist Award (REM).

3.7 References

Bauer, D., Haroutunian, V., McCullumsmith, R., Meador-Woodruff, J., 2009. Expression of four housekeeping proteins in elderly patients with schizophrenia. J Neural Transm. 116, 487-91.

Beneyto, M., Meador-Woodruff, J., 2006. Lamina-specific abnormalities of AMPA receptor trafficking and signaling molecule transcripts in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. Synapse. 60, 585-98.

Beneyto, M., Kristiansen, L.V., Oni-Orisan, A., McCullumsmith, R.E., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2007. Abnormal glutamate receptor expression in the medial temporal lobe in schizophrenia and mood disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology. 32, 1888-902.

Bond, D., Primrose, D., Foley, E., 2008. Quantitative evaluation of signaling events in Drosophila s2 cells. Biol Proced Online. 10, 20-8.

Bramham, C.R., Worley, P.F., Moore, M.J., Guzowski, J.F., 2008. The immediate early gene arc/arg3.1: regulation, mechanisms, and function. J Neurosci. 28, 11760-7.

Chowdhury, S., Shepherd, J.D., Okuno, H., Lyford, G., Petralia, R.S., Plath, N., Kuhl, D., Huganir, R.L., Worley, P.F., 2006. Arc/Arg3.1 interacts with the endocytic machinery to regulate AMPA receptor trafficking. Neuron. 52, 445-59.

Coyle, J., 1996. The glutamatergic dysfunction hypothesis for schizophrenia. Harv Rev Psychiatry. 3, 241-53.

Coyle, J., Tsai, G., Goff, D., 2003. Converging evidence of NMDA receptor hypofunction in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1003, 318-27.

Dracheva, S., McGurk, S., Haroutunian, V., 2005. mRNA expression of AMPA receptors and AMPA receptor binding proteins in the cerebral cortex of elderly schizophrenics. J Neurosci Res. 79, 868-78.

Ehlers, M., 2000. Reinsertion or degradation of AMPA receptors determined by activitydependent endocytic sorting. Neuron. 28, 511-25.

Funk, A., Rumbaugh, G., Harotunian, V., McCullumsmith, R., Meador-Woodruff, J., 2009. Decreased expression of NMDA receptor-associated proteins in frontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. Neuroreport. 20, 1019-22.

Goldstein, L., Yang, Z., 2000. Microtubule-based transport systems in neurons: the roles of kinesins and dyneins. Annu Rev Neurosci. 23, 39-71. Greger, I., Esteban, J., 2007. AMPA receptor biogenesis and trafficking. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 17, 289-97.

Hammond, J.C., McCullumsmith, R.E., Funk, A.J., Haroutunian, V., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2010. Evidence for abnormal forward trafficking of AMPA receptors in frontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology. 35, 2110-9.

Hanley, J.G., 2010. Endosomal sorting of AMPA receptors in hippocampal neurons. Biochem Soc Trans. 38, 460-5.

Hirling, H., 2008. Endosomal trafficking of AMPA-type glutamate receptors. Neuroscience.

Hoogenraad, C., Popa, I., Futai, K., Sanchez-Martinez, E., Wulf, P., van Vlijmen, T., Dortland, B., Oorschot, V., Govers, R., Monti, M., Heck, A., Sheng, M., Klumperman, J., Rehmann, H., Jaarsma, D., Kapitein, L., van der Sluijs, P., 2010. Neuron specific Rab4 effector GRASP-1 coordinates membrane specialization and maturation of recycling endosomes. PLoS Biol. 8, e1000283.

Hoogenraad, C.C., van der Sluijs, P., 2010. GRASP-1 regulates endocytic receptor recycling and synaptic plasticity. Commun Integr Biol. 3, 433-5.

Jiang, J., Suppiramaniam, V., Wooten, M., 2006. Posttranslational modifications and receptor-associated proteins in AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. Neurosignals. 15, 266-82.

Jin, W., Ge, W., Xu, J., Cao, M., Peng, L., Yung, W., Liao, D., Duan, S., Zhang, M., Xia, J., 2006. Lipid binding regulates synaptic targeting of PICK1, AMPA receptor trafficking, and synaptic plasticity. J Neurosci. 26, 2380-90.

Kamsteeg, E.J., Hendriks, G., Boone, M., Konings, I.B., Oorschot, V., van der Sluijs, P., Klumperman, J., Deen, P.M., 2006. Short-chain ubiquitination mediates the regulated endocytosis of the aquaporin-2 water channel. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 103, 18344-9.

Ko, J., Kim, S., Valtschanoff, J.G., Shin, H., Lee, J.R., Sheng, M., Premont, R.T., Weinberg, R.J., Kim, E., 2003. Interaction between liprin-alpha and GIT1 is required for AMPA receptor targeting. J Neurosci. 23, 1667-77.

Kobayashi, T., Stang, E., Fang, K.S., de Moerloose, P., Parton, R.G., Gruenberg, J., 1998. A lipid associated with the antiphospholipid syndrome regulates endosome structure and function. Nature. 392, 193-7.

Lu, J., Helton, T.D., Blanpied, T.A., Rácz, B., Newpher, T.M., Weinberg, R.J., Ehlers, M.D., 2007. Postsynaptic positioning of endocytic zones and AMPA receptor cycling by physical coupling of dynamin-3 to Homer. Neuron. 55, 874-89.

Lüscher, C., Frerking, M., 2001. Restless AMPA receptors: implications for synaptic transmission and plasticity. Trends Neurosci. 24, 665-70.

McCullumsmith, R., Clinton, S., Meador-Woodruff, J., 2004. Schizophrenia as a disorder of neuroplasticity. Int Rev Neurobiol. 59, 19-45.

Ng, E.L., Tang, B.L., 2008. Rab GTPases and their roles in brain neurons and glia. Brain Res Rev. 58, 236-46.

Park, M., Penick, E., Edwards, J., Kauer, J., Ehlers, M., 2004. Recycling endosomes supply AMPA receptors for LTP. Science. 305, 1972-5.

Park, M., Salgado, J.M., Ostroff, L., Helton, T.D., Robinson, C.G., Harris, K.M., Ehlers, M.D., 2006. Plasticity-induced growth of dendritic spines by exocytic trafficking from recycling endosomes. Neuron. 52, 817-30.

Sans, N., Racca, C., Petralia, R., Wang, Y., McCallum, J., Wenthold, R., 2001. Synapseassociated protein 97 selectively associates with a subset of AMPA receptors early in their biosynthetic pathway. J Neurosci. 21, 7506-16.

Setou, M., Seog, D., Tanaka, Y., Kanai, Y., Takei, Y., Kawagishi, M., Hirokawa, N., 2002. Glutamate-receptor-interacting protein GRIP1 directly steers kinesin to dendrites. Nature. 417, 83-7.

Spangler, S.A., Hoogenraad, C.C., 2007. Liprin-alpha proteins: scaffold molecules for synapse maturation. Biochem Soc Trans. 35, 1278-82.

Steiner, P., Alberi, S., Kulangara, K., Yersin, A., Sarria, J.C., Regulier, E., Kasas, S., Dietler, G., Muller, D., Catsicas, S., Hirling, H., 2005. Interactions between NEEP21, GRIP1 and GluR2 regulate sorting and recycling of the glutamate receptor subunit GluR2. EMBO J. 24, 2873-84.

Toyooka, K., Iritani, S., Makifuchi, T., Shirakawa, O., Kitamura, N., Maeda, K., Nakamura, R., Niizato, K., Watanabe, M., Kakita, A., Takahashi, H., Someya, T., Nawa, H., 2002. Selective reduction of a PDZ protein, SAP-97, in the prefrontal cortex of patients with chronic schizophrenia. J Neurochem. 83, 797-806.

Wang, T., Ming, Z., Xiaochun, W., Hong, W., 2011. Rab7: role of its protein interaction cascades in endo-lysosomal traffic. Cell Signal. 23, 516-21.

Zhu, J., 2003. Mechanisms of synaptic plasticity: from membrane to intracellular AMPAR trafficking. Mol Interv. 3, 15-8.

	Homogenate studies		Endosome studies	
	comparison	schizophrenia	comparison	schizophrenia
N	28	35	20	20
Sex	11m/17f	23m/12f	8m/12f	15m/5f
Tissue pH	6.4 ± 0.2	6.4 ± 0.3	6.4 ± 0.3	6.4 ± 0.3
PMI (hours)	7.8 ± 7.0	12.5 ± 6.6	8.5 ± 7.8	13.3 ± 6.3
Age (years)	78 ± 14	74 ± 12	78 ± 12	73 ± 11
Medication	0/28	24/11	0/21	12/8
(on/off)				

Table 1: Subject Demographics

Values presented as mean ± standard deviation. Male (m), female (f), postmortem interval (PMI). "Off" medication indicates no antipsychotics for six weeks or more prior to death.

Antibody	Species	Concentration	Blocking buffer	Incubation	Company
Dynamin3	rabbit	1:1000	Licor	16 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
NEEP21	mouse	1:100	Licor	16 hours	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA
GRASP1	rabbit	1:1000	Licor	16 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
Arc/Arg3.1	rabbit	1:1000	1% BSA	16 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
Syntaxin13	mouse	1:1000	1% BSA	16 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
Liprin α	rabbit	1:1000	Licor	16 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
GluR1	rabbit	1:1000	Licor	16 hours	Millipore, Bellarica, MA
GluR2	rabbit	1:250	1% BSA	16 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
GluR3	rabbit	1:1000	Licor	16 hours	Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA
GluR4	rabbit	1:500	Licor	16 hours	Millipore, Bellarica, MA
GRIP1	rabbit	1:500	Licor	16 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
NSF	rabbit	1:2000	Licor	16 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
SAP97	rabbit	1:1000	Licor	16 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
EEA1	rabbit	1:1000	Licor	2 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA
PSD95	mouse	1:1000	Licor	1 hour	Millipore, Bellarica, MA
GRP78/BiP	mouse	1:250	Licor	1 hour	BD Transduction, San Jose, CA
GS	mouse	1:5000	Licor	1 hour	BD Transduction, San Jose, CA
VCP	mouse	1:5000	Licor	2 hours	Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA

Table 2: Antibodies used for Western blot studies

Abbreviations: Neuron Enriched Endosomal Protein 21 (NEEP21), GRIP Associated Protein1 (GRASP1), Glutamate Receptor (GluR), Glutamate Receptor Interacting Protein 1 (GRIP1), N-ethylmalemide Sensitive Factor (NSF), Synapse Associated Protein 97 (SAP97), Early Endosome Antigen 1 (EEA1), Postsynaptic Density 95 (PSD95), Glucose Regulated Protein 78/Binding Protein (GRP78/BiP), Glutamine Synthetase (GS), Valosin-containing protein (VCP).

Late Endosomes Isolation Studies				
Dependent Measure	F statistic	df	p value	
GluR1	0.186	1, 36	0.67	
GluR2	0.020	1, 38	0.89	
GluR3	0.00019	1, 38	0.99	
GluR4	0.508	1, 38	0.48	
GRIP1	0.00010	1, 38	0.99	
NSF	0.238	1, 38	0.63	
SAP97	0.00011	1, 38	0.99	

Table 3: Statistical Analysis of Dependent Measures

Abbreviations: degrees of freedom (df). Statistical values presented from ANOVA calculation.

Total Homogenate Studies					
Dependent Measure	F statistic	df	p value		
Arc/ARG3.1	0.063	1, 61	0.80		
NEEP21	0.142	1, 54	0.71		
Liprin α	0.009	1, 57	0.92		
dynamin3	0.210	1, 54	0.65		
GRASP1	0.019	1, 61	0.89		
syntaxin13	0.115	1, 52	0.74		
Rab7	0.00035	1, 54	0.99		

Table 4: Statistical Analysis of Dependent Measures

Abbreviations: degrees of freedom (df). Statistical values presented from ANOVA calculation.



Figure 1. Characterization and visualization of late endosomes. A. Proteins not expressed in late endosomes (IM – Pellet) include those found in early endosomes (EEA1), endoplasmic reticulum (GRP78/BiP), and astrocytes (glutamine synthetase). Expression of the AMPA receptor subunit (GluR1) is present in early endosomes (IM – Pellet). Immunoisolation (IM). Negative control (-ctrl). Early Endosome Antigen 1 (EEA1). Post-synaptic density 95 (PSD95). Glucose Regulated Protein 78/Binding immunoglobulin protein (GRP78/BiP). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 2 (GluR2). B. Electron micrograph of late endosome immunoisolation. Late endosomes were isolated using magnetic beads and Rab7 capture antibody and imaged using electron microscopy. The panel on the right is an enlarged view of the area indicated by the arrow on the left.



Figure 2. Representative western blots of proteins in late endosomes (left panel) and total homogenate (right panel). Expression of markers for quantified proteins is shown in duplicate. Comparison (comp). Schizophrenia (scz). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 1 (GluR1). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 2 (GluR2). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 3 (GluR3). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 4 (GluR4). N-ethylmaleimide Sensitive Factor (NSF). Synapse Associated Protein 97 (SAP97). Neuron-Enriched Endosomal Protein 21 (NEEP21). GRIP-Associate Protein 1 (GRASP1).



Figure 3. Representation of multiple proteins involved in the endosomal trafficking of AMPA receptors. Arc/ARG3.1 and dynamin assist in the endocytosis of AMPA receptors from the cell membrane. NEEP21 associates with AMPA receptors in early endosomes. GRASP1 is involved in the sorting of AMPA receptors from the early endosomes to recycling endosomes. Liprin α and syntaxin13 assist in the postsynaptic localization and reinsertion of AMPA receptors into the cell membrane. Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 1 (GluR1). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 2 (GluR2). Neuron-Enriched Endosomal Protein 21 (NEEP21). GRIP-Associate Protein 1 (GRASP1). Glutamate Receptor Interacting Protein 1 (GRIP1). Synapse Associated Protein 97 (SAP97). N-ethylmaleimide Sensitive Factor (NSF).

AMPA Receptor Subunit Expression in the Endoplasmic Reticulum in Frontal Cortex of Elderly Patients with Schizophrenia

by

John C. Hammond, James H. Meador-Woodruff, Vahram Haroutunian, Robert E. McCullumsmith

In preparation for Public Library of Science (PLoS ONE)

Format adapted for dissertation

4.1 Abstract

Several lines of evidence indicate altered trafficking of α -amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4isoxazole-propionate (AMPA) receptors in schizophrenia. Previous reports have shown potential changes in the trafficking of AMPA receptors based on subunit expression of endosomes, subcellular organelles located near the synapse. We hypothesized that alterations in AMPA receptor trafficking through the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) may also be altered in schizophrenia. Accordingly, we developed a technique to isolate and measure content of the ER from postmortem brain tissue. We used western blot and electron microscopy imaging to confirm the enrichment of the ER in our isolation. We found no changes in the expression of the AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, in the ER from the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. These data suggest that AMPA receptor subcellular localization in and trafficking through the ER is largely intact in schizophrenia.

4.2 Introduction

Schizophrenia, a severe mental illness, may be linked to abnormalities of glutamate receptor neurotransmission and expression (1, 2). Recent findings support the hypothesis that alterations in glutamate neurotransmission may be part of the underlying pathophysiology of schizophrenia (3). More recent evidence has implicated abnormalities in trafficking of AMPA-type glutamate receptors in this illness (4-6). Alterations of AMPA receptor interacting proteins, as well as altered subcellular localization of AMPA receptor subunits, have been described in this illness (4, 5).

The AMPA receptor consists of four subunits, GluR1-4, that are typically assembled as dimers into a tetrameric complex in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (7, 8). The AMPA receptor subunit composition influences the rate of transit of AMPA receptors through the ER, with AMPA receptors containing GluR1/GluR2 subunits trafficking faster than GluR2/GluR3 containing receptors (9). Additionally, AMPA receptor interacting proteins alter the rate of trafficking of AMPA receptors through the ER and to the synapse. Synapse-associated protein 97 (SAP97) binds to the PDZ (postsynaptic density 95/Discs large/zona occludens-1) domain of GluR1 in GluR1/GluR2 hetero-oligomers for fast trafficking from the ER to the Golgi (10, 11). Protein interacting with C Kinase 1 (PICK1) binds to the C-terminal domain of GluR2 in GluR2/GluR3 containing receptors, leading to slower exit from the ER (9). Trafficking of assembled AMPA receptors from the ER to the distal dendrites occurs along the cytoskeletal spine. Glutamate Receptor Interacting Protein 1 (GRIP1) interacts with GluR2 containing receptors and kinesin motor proteins to bring assembled AMPA receptors along the dendrites to the synapse (12-14). AMPA receptors in the distal dendrites can be surface expressed at the synapse in an activity-dependent manner (15, 16). Surface expressed AMPA receptors can be removed from and returned to the synapse in a tightly regulated endosomal system, facilitating changes in synaptic strength (17).

Previous studies have measured the expression of AMPA receptor protein and mRNA at a regional level and found no changes in schizophrenia (18-20). Recent studies have examined expression of AMPA interacting proteins and subcellular localization of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia (4, 6, 21). In postmortem human dorsolateral prefrontal cortex samples, we have previously found an increase in the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit in early endosomes (4, 21). Additionally, SAP97 and GRIP1 were increased in schizophrenia, suggesting an increase in the rate of forward trafficking of AMPA receptors from the ER to the synapse (4).

Based on these findings, we hypothesized that accelerated proximal forward trafficking and decreased ER retention of AMPA receptor subunits may be associated with the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. To further test this hypothesis, we developed a technique to isolate ER from postmortem human brain tissue, characterized this ER fraction, and measured the expression of AMPA receptor subunits in this fraction from subjects with schizophrenia and a comparison group.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Endoplasmic Reticulum Isolation and Characterization

We used differential sucrose gradient centrifugation to obtain an ER enriched fraction from postmortem brain tissue (Figure 1). In addition to an enriched ER fraction,

we obtained 3 other fractions. To verify and characterize the identity of each fraction, we used a wide screen of antibodies specific for various subcellular compartments (Figure 2). As expected, bands for each antibody were present in total brain homogenate. The putative ER fraction (pellet 4) contained calnexin, an ER marker, as well as GluR2, which is expected to be in the ER (22-24). In supernatant 3, we detected Grp75 (mitochondria), and EEA1 (early endosomes). In pellet 2, we detected calnexin, Grp75, PSD95 (postsynaptic density), α 1,2-mannosidase (Golgi), and GluR2. In pellet 1, we detected calnexin, histone3 (nuclei), Grp75, PSD95, α 1,2-mannosidase, and GluR2.

Enriched subcellular fractions were further characterized using electron microscopy (Figure 3). As expected, pellet 4 largely contained structures resembling ER and did not contain intact mitochondria, nuclei, or postsynaptic density-like structures. Supernatant 3 was void of mitochondria, nuclei, or postsynaptic density-like structures, but did contain endosome-like structures. Pellet 2 contained an enrichment of mitochondria and postsynaptic density-like structures. Pellet 1 contained an enrichment of nuclei as well as postsynaptic density-like structures.

4.3.2 AMPA Subunit Protein Expression in Total Homogenate

We measured the expression by western blot analysis of the AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, in total homogenate samples. All protein expression was measured relative to the amount of protein loaded. We found no significant changes in GluR1, GluR2, GluR3, or GluR4 in the total homogenate. We found no significant correlations between protein expression and age, pH, or PMI. In addition, we found no influence of sex on the expression of these subunits.

4.3.3 AMPA Subunit Protein Expression in Enriched Endoplasmic Reticulum

We examined the expression of the AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, in ER samples (Figure 4). All protein expression was measured relative to the corresponding protein in the total homogenate lane. We found no significant changes in GluR1, GluR2, GluR3, or GluR4 in the enriched ER fraction. We found no significant correlations between protein expression and age, pH, or PMI in our enriched ER samples. In addition, we found no influence of sex on these protein levels.

4.4 Discussion

We have previously reported increased expression in DLPFC in schizophrenia of SAP97 and GRIP1, two proteins involved in the forward trafficking of AMPA receptors from the ER to the synapse (4). We also found no changes in total AMPA receptor subunit expression but an increase in GluR1 in one distal endosome compartment (4). Taken together, these previous findings suggest alterations in the subcellular localization of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia. To extend this hypothesis, we measured the expression of the AMPA receptor subunits, GluR1-4, in an ER enriched brain fraction from human brain.

Based on western blot protein characterization and electron microscopy imaging, we have identified contents of the four fractions obtained using our differential sucrose gradient centrifugation protocol. As predicted, in our ER fraction we find proteins expected to be in the ER (calnexin and GluR2) and no markers from other comparments (histone3, GRP75, EEA1, PSD95, and α 1,2-mannosidase). The western blot and electron microscopy profile of supernatant 3 implicates that this fraction contains light membranes

and cytosol. The presence of Grp75, a stress protein typically found in the mitochondrial matrix, in this fraction may indicate damage to the mitochondria either during the postmortem interval or processing of the samples. Using western blot and electron microscopy imaging of pellet 2, we have characterized this fraction as containing heavy membranes and intact mitochondria. We have characterized pellet 1 as containing heavy membranes and intact nuclei based on western blot analysis and electron microscopy. There is evidence of contamination in these fractions with calnexin and α 1,2-mannosidase. Importantly, our fraction of interest, the ER fraction, is generally free from contamination by other subcellular organelles, including mitochondria, nuclei, and postsynaptic densities. Thus, we used this preparation to measure the contents of the ER in schizophrenia.

We found no change in the total GluR1-4 AMPA receptor subunit expression in schizophrenia, suggesting that the total expression of AMPA receptor subunits is unchanged between the groups. Using the expression of AMPA receptor subunits in total homogenate as a control, we measured the AMPA receptor subunits in the ER fraction relative to the amount in the homogenate. We found no change in the expression of GluR1-4 in the ER in schizophrenia. These results suggest that although AMPA receptor interacting proteins responsible for trafficking of AMPA receptors from the ER to the synapse are increased in schizophrenia, the expression of the AMPA receptor subunits themselves is not altered in the ER in this illness.

Similar to other studies using postmortem tissue, there are technical limitations associated with this work. It is conceivable that small changes below our level of detection may be present in schizophrenia and our negative findings are the result of a

Type II error. Further, while there was no correlation with expression of any of the subunits with age, all of the subjects included in this study were from an older population, and these findings may not be generalizable to younger patients. The effect of antipsychotic treatment was not assessed in this study because of the small number of patients off of antipsychotic medications at the time of death. Thus, we cannot exclude that this lack of an effect might be due to normalization of these subunits by antipsychotic treatment.

In summary, we found no significant changes in the expression of AMPA receptor subunits in the ER in DLPFC in schizophrenia. In our previous studies, we examined distal AMPA receptor trafficking in schizophrenia, while in the current study we examined proximal localization of AMPA receptors. With the exception of our earlier GluR1 finding in early endosomes, our findings suggest that proximal and distal subcellular localization of AMPA receptors is largely unchanged in schizophrenia. However, AMPA receptor interacting proteins responsible for the trafficking of the receptors are abnormal in schizophrenia, suggesting that AMPA receptor trafficking may be associated with the illness. Importantly, the subcellular expression of the AMPA receptors in isolated recycling endosomes and the postsynaptic density has not been examined in schizophrenia, areas that we are actively pursuing.

4.5 Materials and Methods

4.5.1 Subjects

Subjects from the Mount Sinai Medical Center brain bank were recruited prospectively and underwent extensive antemortem diagnostic and clinical assessment (Table 1). Exclusion criteria included a history of alcoholism, substance abuse, death by suicide, or coma for >6 h before death. Consent was obtained from next of kin for each subject. Brains were collected and cut coronally into 10 mm slabs. The dorsolateral prefrontal cortex was dissected from the coronal slabs, snap frozen, and stored at -80 °C. This tissue was pulverized, adding small amounts of liquid nitrogen as necessary, and stored at -80 °C until used. Each of the eighteen (18) subjects with schizophrenia was matched for sex, and as closely as possible, for age and tissue pH with one comparison subject. Subjects groups did not significantly differ in mean age or tissue pH (Table 2). Subject groups did significantly differ in length of postmortem interval; however PMI was not correlated with expression of any of these subunits.

4.5.2 ER Isolation

Isolation of an ER enriched fraction was performed in parallel for each pair of subjects, one control and one schizophrenia subject, using nitrogen cavitation and differential sucrose gradient centrifugation (modified from (25)) (Figure 1). A starting amount of about 65 mg of pulverized tissue was used for each subject. All steps were carried out on ice or at 4 °C for the centrifugation steps. Pulverized tissue was reconstituted in 1.2 mL of 1X ER extraction buffer (Sigma Aldrich) and subjected to nitrogen cavitation at 450 psi for 8 minutes. A 60 μ L aliquot of this was saved as total homogenate. A low speed centrifugation (700 x g) for 10 minutes was used to remove intact nuclei and large cellular debris (pellet 1). A subsequent 15000 x g centrifugation for 10 minutes of the supernatant (supernatant 1) was done to pellet intact mitochondria and other debris (pellet 2). The resulting supernatant (supernatant 2) was loaded onto a three-layered sucrose gradient (2.0 M sucrose, 1.5 M sucrose, and 1.3 M sucrose) and centrifuged at 126000 x g for 70 minutes on a Beckman L8-M ultracentrifuge in a

SW60Ti rotor (Beckman). Following this centrifugation, the upper 200 μ L of supernatant was collected (supernatant 3) and 100 to 300 μ L of a dense white band between the top layer and the 1.3 M sucrose layer was collected (pellet 3). Pellet 3 was gently mixed by inversion with ice cold MTE buffer (premixed with 200 mM PMSF buffer). This mixture was centrifuged at 126000 x g for 45 minutes resulting in a large, translucent pellet (pellet 4).

For each subject, pellets 1 and 2 were each reconstituted in 500 μ L of PBS and pellet 4 was reconstituted in 50 μ L of PBS. All samples were stored at -20 C until ready for use.

4.5.3 Electron Microscopy

To visualize the content and confirm morphology of each fraction, samples were prepared for electron microscopy as previously described (4). Briefly, fractions were fixed with 4% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M cacodylate buffer (pH 7.4) overnight at room temperature. Samples were then washed and treated with 1% osmium tetroxide for 1 h, mordanted with 0.25% uranyl acetate in acetate buffer for 30 min to overnight, washed and dehydrated with a graded series of ethanol washes and propylene oxide. Finally, the samples were embedded in epoxy resin, thin sectioned and counterstained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate. Images were captured using an FEI Tecnai Spirit 20-120kv Transmission Electron Microscope.

4.5.4 Western Blot Analysis

Prior to Western blot analysis, the amount of protein in each fraction was measured using a BCA protein assay kit (Thermo scientific). For each pair of subjects,

samples for western blot were prepared in duplicate with 5-10 µg of protein for each fraction placed in reducing buffer containing β -mercaptoethanol and heated at 70 °C for 10 minutes. Protein loaded was consistent for each fraction within subject pairs, but not necessarily between subject pairs. Samples were then run by SDS-PAGE on Invitrogen (Carlsbad, California) 4-12% gradient gels, and transferred to PVDF membrane using Bio-Rad semi-dry transblotter (Hercules, California). Membranes were blocked in LiCor (Lincoln, Nebraska) blocking buffer for 1 h at room temperature before overnight incubation at 4 °C with commercially available antibodies in 0.1% Tween LiCor blocking buffer with antisera dilutions determined empirically (Table 3). Following incubation, membranes were washed four times for 5 minutes each with PBS. Membranes were probed with IR-dye labeled secondary antibody in 0.1% Tween, 0.01% SDS LiCor blocking buffer for 1 h at room temperature in the dark. Membranes were washed again with PBS four times for 5 minutes each and then briefly rinsed three times in distilled water. The blots were stored in distilled water at 4 °C until scanned using the LiCor Odyssey laser-based image detection method (26, 27).

4.5.5 Data Analysis

Image analysis from ER isolation Western blot studies was performed as previously described (4, 27). Briefly, near-infrared fluorescent signals obtained from the LiCor Odyssey scanner were expressed as raw integrated intensity with top-bottom median intralane background subtraction using Odyssey 3.0 analytical software (LiCor). Protein band intensity for each protein in the ER isolation was normalized to the protein band intensity for the same protein in the total homogenate lane. All statistical analyses were performed using Statistica 7.1 (Statsoft, Tulsa, Oklahoma). Correlation analyses

were carried out to identify any associations between the dependent variables and pH, age, and postmortem interval. One-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was performed if significant correlations were found. If no correlations were present, data were analyzed with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). An additional secondary analysis was performed using sex as the independent measure.

4.6 Acknowledgements

Supported by MH086257 (JCH), MH53327 (JMW), MH064673 & MH066392 (VH) and MH074016 & Doris Duke Clinical Scientist Award (REM). We would like to

thank Dan Shan for her technical assistance in the development of the protocol.

4.7 References

1. Coyle J (1996): The glutamatergic dysfunction hypothesis for schizophrenia. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*. 3:241-253.

2. Tsai G, Coyle J (2002): Glutamatergic mechanisms in schizophrenia. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol.* 42:165-179.

3. Kristiansen L, Patel S, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff J (2010): Expression of the NR2B-NMDA receptor subunit and its Tbr-1/CINAP regulatory proteins in postmortem brain suggest altered receptor processing in schizophrenia. *Synapse*. 64:495-502.

4. Hammond JC, McCullumsmith RE, Funk AJ, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff JH (2010): Evidence for abnormal forward trafficking of AMPA receptors in frontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 35:2110-2119.

5. Toyooka K, Iritani S, Makifuchi T, Shirakawa O, Kitamura N, Maeda K, et al. (2002): Selective reduction of a PDZ protein, SAP-97, in the prefrontal cortex of patients with chronic schizophrenia. *J Neurochem*. 83:797-806.

6. Beneyto M, Meador-Woodruff J (2006): Lamina-specific abnormalities of AMPA receptor trafficking and signaling molecule transcripts in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. *Synapse*. 60:585-598.

7. Rosenmund C, Stern-Bach Y, Stevens C (1998): The tetrameric structure of a glutamate receptor channel. *Science*. 280:1596-1599.

8. Greger I, Esteban J (2007): AMPA receptor biogenesis and trafficking. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* 17:289-297.

9. Jiang J, Suppiramaniam V, Wooten M (2006): Posttranslational modifications and receptor-associated proteins in AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Neurosignals*. 15:266-282.

10. Cai C, Coleman SK, Niemi K, Keinänen K (2002): Selective binding of synapseassociated protein 97 to GluR-A alpha-amino-5-hydroxy-3-methyl-4-isoxazole propionate receptor subunit is determined by a novel sequence motif. *J Biol Chem*. 277:31484-31490.

11. Sans N, Racca C, Petralia R, Wang Y, McCallum J, Wenthold R (2001): Synapseassociated protein 97 selectively associates with a subset of AMPA receptors early in their biosynthetic pathway. *J Neurosci.* 21:7506-7516. 12. Dong H, Zhang P, Liao D, Huganir RL (1999): Characterization, expression, and distribution of GRIP protein. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 868:535-540.

13. Goldstein L, Yang Z (2000): Microtubule-based transport systems in neurons: the roles of kinesins and dyneins. *Annu Rev Neurosci*. 23:39-71.

14. Setou M, Seog DH, Tanaka Y, Kanai Y, Takei Y, Kawagishi M, et al. (2002): Glutamate-receptor-interacting protein GRIP1 directly steers kinesin to dendrites. *Nature*. 417:83-87.

15. Contractor A, Heinemann SF (2002): Glutamate receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity. *Sci STKE*. 2002:re14.

16. Hanley JG (2010): Endosomal sorting of AMPA receptors in hippocampal neurons. *Biochem Soc Trans.* 38:460-465.

17. Hirling H (2008): Endosomal trafficking of AMPA-type glutamate receptors. *Neuroscience*.

18. O'Connor J, Muly E, Arnold S, Hemby S (2007): AMPA receptor subunit and splice variant expression in the DLPFC of schizophrenic subjects and rhesus monkeys chronically administered antipsychotic drugs. *Schizophr Res.* 90:28-40.

19. Breese C, Freedman R, Leonard S (1995): Glutamate receptor subtype expression in human postmortem brain tissue from schizophrenics and alcohol abusers. *Brain Res.* 674:82-90.

20. Meador-Woodruff J, Hogg AJ, Smith R (2001): Striatal ionotropic glutamate receptor expression in schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depressive disorder. *Brain Res Bull.* 55:631-640.

21. Hammond J, McCullumsmith RE, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff JH (2011): Endosomal trafficking of AMPA receptors in frontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*. In press.

22. Greger IH, Khatri L, Ziff EB (2002): RNA editing at arg607 controls AMPA receptor exit from the endoplasmic reticulum. *Neuron*. 34:759-772.

23. David V, Hochstenbach F, Rajagopalan S, Brenner MB (1993): Interaction with newly synthesized and retained proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum suggests a chaperone function for human integral membrane protein IP90 (calnexin). *J Biol Chem.* 268:9585-9592.

24. Kleizen B, Braakman I (2004): Protein folding and quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 16:343-349.

25. Bozidis P, Williamson CD, Colberg-Poley AM (2007): Isolation of endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria, and mitochondria-associated membrane fractions from transfected cells and from human cytomegalovirus-infected primary fibroblasts. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol.* Chapter 3:Unit 3.27.

26. Bond D, Primrose D, Foley E (2008): Quantitative evaluation of signaling events in Drosophila s2 cells. *Biol Proced Online*. 10:20-28.

27. Funk A, Rumbaugh G, Harotunian V, McCullumsmith R, Meador-Woodruff J (2009): Decreased expression of NMDA receptor-associated proteins in frontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Neuroreport*. 20:1019-1022.
| Pair | Subject | Sex/Age, y | рН | PMI, h |
|------|---------------|---------------------------|--------------|-------------|
| 1 | Comparison | F/63 | 6.20 | 20.2 |
| | Schizophrenia | F/62 | 6.74 | 23.7 |
| | Comparison | F/73 | 6.98 | 3 |
| 2 | Schizophrenia | F/71 | 6.60 | 5.5 |
| | Companian | - / - / - / | 6.22 | 47 |
| 3 | Comparison | F/ /4 | 6.32
6.40 | 4./
21 F |
| | Schizophrenia | F/75 | 0.49 | 21.5 |
| 4 | Comparison | F/76 | 6.46 | 4.2 |
| | Schizophrenia | F/77 | 6.01 | 9.7 |
| 5 | Comparison | F/79 | 6.38 | 10.1 |
| | Schizophrenia | F/79 | 6.80 | 9.9 |
| 6 | Comparison | F/81 | 6.37 | 19.4 |
| | Schizophrenia | F/81 | 6.67 | 15.1 |
| 7 | Comparison | E/95 | 6 20 | 12 |
| | Schizonhrenia | F/84 | 6.50 | 4.5 |
| | | F/00 | 6.00 | |
| 8 | Comparison | F/96 | 6.30 | 4.5 |
| - | Schizophrenia | F/89 | 6.20 | 9.6 |
| 9 | Comparison | M/59 | 6.67 | 20.4 |
| 5 | Schizophrenia | M/57 | 6.40 | 20.6 |
| 10 | Comparison | M/65 | 6.82 | 3.8 |
| | Schizophrenia | M/66 | 6.50 | 12.1 |
| | Comparison | M/69 | 6.67 | 7.4 |
| 11 | Schizophrenia | M/70 | 6.35 | 7.1 |
| | Comparison | M/73 | 6 17 | 1/ 0 |
| 12 | Schizonhrenia | M/73 | 7 30 | 11 7 |
| 13 | | NA/76 | 6.00 | 2.0 |
| | Comparison | IVI//6 | 6.32 | 2.9 |
| | Schizophrenia | IVI/76 | 6.70 | 10.5 |
| 14 | Comparison | M/84 | 6.83 | 11.4 |
| | Schizophrenia | M/84 | 6.71 | 17.7 |
| 15 | Comparison | M/93 | 6.28 | 4.1 |
| | Schizophrenia | M/92 | 6.67 | 17.7 |
| 16 | Comparison | M/68 | 6.55 | 2.7 |
| | Schizophrenia | M/70 | 6.36 | 17.3 |
| 17 | Comparison | NA /75 | 6 13 | 5 0 |
| | Schizonhrenia | M/78 | 6.64 | 26.1 |
| | | 141/70 | 0.04 | 20.1 |
| 18 | Comparison | M/95 | 6.53 | 4.1 |
| | Schizophrenia | M/9/ | b.5U | 9.2 |

Table 1: Paired Subject Demographics

Abbreviations: Years (y), Postmortem Interval (PMI). Hours (h). Female (F). Male (M).

Table 2: Pooled Subject Demographics

	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Parameter	Comparison Subjects	Subjects with Schizophrenia
Sex, M/F	10/8	10/8
Age, years	76.8 ± 10.6	76.7 ± 10.3
рН	6.52 ± 0.23	6.51 ± 0.21
PMI, hours	8.2 ± 6.3	14.8 ± 6.8

Abbreviations: Male (M). Female (F). Postmortem Interval (PMI). Data are presented as mean \pm SD.

Antibody	Species	Concentration	Company
Calnexin	Rabbit	1:5000	CalBiochem,
			Gibbstown, NJ
Histone3	Rabbit	1:1000	Cell Signaling,
			Danvers, MA
Grp75	Rabbit	1:5000	Abcam Inc.,
			Cambridge, MA
EEA1	Mouse	1:500	BD Bioscience, San
			Jose, CA
PSD95	Mouse	1:1000	Millipore, Bellarica,
			MA
lpha 1,2-Mannosidase	Rabbit	1:1000	Abcam Inc.,
			Cambridge, MA
GluR1	Rabbit	1:200	US Biological,
			Swampscott, MA
GluR2	Mouse	1:1000	US Biological,
			Swampscott, MA
GluR3	Rabbit	1:200	US Biological,
			Swampscott, MA
GluR4	Goat	1:100	Santa Cruz
			Biotechnology,
			Santa Cruz, CA

Table 3: Antibodies used for western blots

Abbreviations: Glucose Regulated 75 kDa Protein (GRP75). Early Endosome Antigen 1 (EEA1). Postsynaptic Density 95 (PSD95). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 1 (GluR1). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 2 (GluR2). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 3 (GluR3). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor 4 (GluR4).



Figure 1. Flow chart of endoplasmic reticulum isolation. Nitrogen cavitation of tissue was followed by a series of centrifugation steps and sucrose density gradient centrifugation.



Figure 2. Neurochemical characterization of subcellular fractions isolated from postmortem human frontal cortex. Fractions enriched for endoplasmic reticulum (P4), cytosol and 'light' membranes (S3), mitochondria (P2), and nuclei (P1) were assayed by Western blot for compartment-specific markers: Calnexin (ER), histone3 (Nuc), glucose regulated 75 kDa protein (Grp75, Mito), early endosome antigen 1 (EEA1, endosomes), postsynaptic density 95 (PSD95, PSD), and \Box 1,2 mannosidase (\Box 1,2-Man, Golgi). The PSD segregated with the other 'heavy' membranes in the Mit and Nuc fractions. As expected, AMPA receptor subunit 2 (GluR2) was detected in the ER and fractions containing the PSD.



Figure 3. Assessment of enriched subcellular fractions isolated from postmortem human frontal cortex by electron microscopy. 100 mg of total unfractionated sample (T, 1650x magnification), endoplasmic reticulum (P4, 11,000x), light membranes and cytosol (S3, 4,400x), mitochondria (P2, 11,000x), and nuclei (P1, 1650x) were processed for electron microscopy. The ER and L/C fractions do not have intact Mit, Nuc, or postsynaptic density (PSD)-like structures. The Mit and Nuc fractions have PSD-like structures (black arrows).



Figure 4. Western blot analysis of AMPA Receptor subunit expression in endoplasmic reticulum (A – GluR1, B – GluR2, C – GluR3, D – GluR4) normalized to relative expression in total homogenate. Representative blots of ER fraction. Error bars represent standard deviation.

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION

5.1 Summary of Findings

The objective of this dissertation was to examine the trafficking and subcellular localization of AMPA-type glutamate receptors in schizophrenia. AMPA receptors are assembled in the endoplasmic reticulum, trafficked along the dendritic shaft, expressed in the plasma membrane, and endocytosed, recycled or degraded in a complex series of endosomes. We attempted to determine if there were alterations in the subcellular localization and trafficking of these AMPA receptor subunits in schizophrenia. First, we measured total protein expression of AMPA receptor interacting proteins in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC). We found increased expression of two proteins associated with the forward trafficking and synaptic localization of AMPA receptors, GRIP1 and SAP97, but no change in NSF expression. We also isolated and verified isolation of intact early endosomes from postmortem tissue using a modified immunoisolation protocol. When normalized to EEA1, the protein used to isolate the early endosomes, we detected no change in GluR2 or GluR3 protein expression, but increased expression of the AMPA receptor subunit GluR1 in early endosomes. Further analysis of these data revealed a significant increase in GluR1 protein expression in early

endosomes in patients with schizophrenia off medication for 6 weeks or more prior to the time of death. Next, we isolated intact late endosomes using Rab7 as our capture antibody. Following verification of late endosome isolation, we found no change in the expression of GluR1-4, GRIP1, NSF, or SAP97 proteins in our isolated late endosomes. We measured total protein expression using tissue homogenate for several proteins involved in the sorting and handling of AMPA receptors in endosomes. We found no significant changes in the protein expression of Arc/ARG3.1, NEEP21, Liprin α , Dynamin3, GRASP1, or Syntaxin13. Additionally, we found no significant differences in proteins specific to early (EEA1), late (Rab7), or recycling (Rab11) endosomes. Finally, we used a modified ultracentrifugation and sucrose density gradient protocol to isolate endoplasmic reticulum (ER) from postmortem human tissue. After verifying the specificity of our isolated ER, we measured protein expression of GluR1-4. When normalized to the respective expression of GluR1-4 protein in total homogenate, we found no significant changes in GluR1-4 protein expression in our isolated ER fraction.

5.2 Schizophrenia as a Disorder of AMPA Receptor Trafficking

Initially, the glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia suggested hypofunction of NMDA-type glutamate receptors in schizophrenia (14). Based on preclinical and glutamate receptor literature, the hypothesis has been expanded to include the AMPAtype glutamate receptors. We measured proteins involved in the trafficking and stabilization of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia. Additionally, we isolated subcellular fractions from postmortem tissue and measured AMPA receptor subunit protein expression in the fractions as a proxy for trafficking of the receptors. We found an increase in SAP97 and PICK1 protein expression, two proteins involved in the forward

trafficking and stabilization of AMPA receptors. In our isolated early endosome fraction, we found an increase in GluR1 protein expression. We did not find any significant differences in total protein expression of GluR1. Taken together, these data indicate an alteration of forward trafficking and subcellular localization of the GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia.

We found a positive correlation between SAP97 and GluR1 protein expression in schizophrenia. We speculate that the increase in SAP97 may be in compensation for increased levels of GluR1 on the cell surface as SAP97 is important in anchoring GluR1 at the synapse (101, 102). Recent evidence suggests that increased synaptic glutamate might contribute to the pathophysiology of schizophrenia (185). We suspect the increase in GluR1 in early endosomes may be the result of an increased internalization of excess receptor complexes, in a manner similar to NMDA-induced long-term depression (186). Preclinical studies have reported that elevated synaptic glutamate levels may lead to a selective increase in the internalization of GluR1-containing AMPA receptors (187). This explanation of altered trafficking molecules and increased GluR1 protein expression in early endosomes is consistent with the hypothesis of increased synaptic glutamate in schizophrenia (188, 189).

It is well established that blockade of NMDA receptors using certain compounds, such as PCP or ketamine, may lead to a schizophrenia-like phenotype or an exacerbation of symptoms (25, 26, 28). In more recent studies, the effect of these NMDA receptor blockers on the presynaptic release of glutamate has been examined (188). Models of schizophrenia that use NMDA blockade may be blocking NMDA receptors leading to an increase in glutamate in the synapse in a feedback dependent mechanism. An increase in

glutamate at the synapse may cause an internalization of AMPA-type glutamate receptors when the cell attempts to maintain homeostasis.

An alternative explanation of increased GluR1 in early endosomes may be that there is a dysfunction in the stabilization of GluR1-containing AMPA receptors at the synapse. Diminished expression of GluR1 containing AMPA receptors at the synapse in preclinical models leads to a decrease in cognitive function and an increase in behavioral phenotypes associated with schizophrenia (190-192). If GluR1 containing AMPA receptors are not stabilized at the synapse, they may become trapped in early endosomes. Regardless of the cause, we found an increase in GluR1 protein expression in isolated early endosomes suggesting abnormal subcellular localization of these receptors in schizophrenia.

However, when these results are taken in context with our other results, the support for altered AMPA receptor trafficking and subcellular localization in schizophrenia as a prominent feature of the underlying pathophysiology of the illness is diminished. GluR1 exists as part of a heteromeric AMPA receptor complex, yet we did not find an increase in other AMPA receptor subunits in early endosomes in schizophrenia. Isolation of intact late endosomes and subsequent measurement of AMPA receptor subunit protein in the late endosomes revealed no alterations in schizophrenia. We found no significant difference in AMPA receptor protein expression following isolation of the endoplasmic reticulum. With the exception of increased SAP97 and GRIP1 protein expression in total homogenate, we found no significant changes in the expression of 10 other AMPA receptor interacting proteins or endosomal related proteins in schizophrenia.

Attempts have been made to pharmacologically augment signaling through the AMPA-type glutamate receptors using AMPAkines (193). These compounds have been used in patients with schizophrenia and large scale clinical trials (194-196). However, Cortex pharmaceutical compound CX516 was used in a clinical trial and was found to be no more effective than placebo in treating cognitive symptoms of patients with schizophrenia (197). While AMPAkines and AMPA receptor signal augmentation were promising targets for treatment in schizophrenia, the lack of improvement in symptoms suggest that alterations in schizophrenia may not be due to changes in AMPA receptor trafficking.

We hypothesized that we would find alterations in the subcellular localization of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia. AMPA receptors and NMDA receptors are closely linked in glutamatergic signaling and alterations in trafficking of one glutamate receptor subtype may implicate changes in other glutamate receptor subtypes. Previous studies in our lab have examined NMDA receptor trafficking and found alterations in schizophrenia. It has been proposed that increased clearance of NMDA receptors from the endoplasmic reticulum may be a compensatory mechanism for compromised forward trafficking (198). An alternatively spliced variant of NR1, NR1C2', which confers accelerated trafficking of the NMDA receptor through the ER was increased in the ACC in schizophrenia (199). NR2B protein was found to be decreased in an isolated ER fraction in schizophrenia, further implicating altered NMDA receptor trafficking in the underlying pathophysiology of schizophrenia (200). Additionally, interacting proteins involved with the forward trafficking of NMDA receptors are altered in the ACC and DLPFC in schizophrenia (199).

Alterations in AMPA receptor trafficking have also been studied in schizophrenia. A previous study has suggested that GluR2 may be alternatively edited in schizophrenia. The ratio of GluR2 flip/flop variants revealed an increase in the flip variant in schizophrenia (150). The flip variant does not contain an ER retention sequence found in the flop variant, indicating the GluR2 subunit may be processed too quickly in the ER in schizophrenia. Additionally, in situ hybridization studies revealed a decrease in GluR2 and GluR4 subunit expression but protein binding studies using the same cohort found no changes in AMPA receptor subunit expression (162). Taken together, these studies implicate a problem with intracellular processing and trafficking of AMPA-type and NMDA-type glutamate receptors in schizophrenia.

However, when examined alongside the mixed findings of previous studies of AMPA-type glutamate receptors in schizophrenia, it is not surprising that many of our results are negative. Previous studies have measured AMPA receptor subunit expression via receptor binding, in situ hybridization, qPCR, microarray analysis, and western blot in the DLPFC (146, 148, 154, 156, 157, 162, 165). While some studies reported no change in AMPA receptor subunit expression in schizophrenia (157), others reported decreased subunit expression (201) while others still reported an increase in subunit expression (147).

5.3 Limitations of These Studies

As with all scientific studies, certain limitations must be considered when interpreting any findings, negative or otherwise. These limitations range from tissue

condition to methodological concerns to data collection and analysis. While performing our studies, we attempted to anticipate and control for these limitations.

5.3.1 Limitations of Subject Demographics

The subjects used for these studies were obtained from the Mt. Sinai brain bank. Extensive antemortem diagnostic and clinical data were collected for each subject including age, sex, postmortem interval, and tissue pH. Subjects used in these studies represent an elderly population relative to cohorts in other studies. Schizophrenia is a lifelong illness with positive and negative symptoms that may become more pronounced as a patient ages (9). Changes found in the population used in these studies may not reflect changes that might be found in studies with a cohort of younger patents (156).

In some respects, it is advantageous that we studied an elderly population. Patients with schizophrenia have high comorbidities with drug use and suicide (202). Survival of patients with schizophrenia to an older age may mean that these patients were well cared for, did not abuse alcohol or drugs, and likely died of natural causes and thus do not have the same confounds as a younger cohort (6).

5.3.2 Limitations of Postmortem Tissue

In these studies, we used postmortem tissue to measure AMPA receptor interacting proteins and AMPA receptor protein trafficking and subcellular localization. The use of postmortem tissue to study psychiatric illness carries advantages and disadvantages over other methods (168). While cell culture and animal models are helpful to study particular aspects of psychiatric illness, postmortem human tissue does not rely on assumed mechanisms and pathophysiology. For this reason, postmortem tissue is extremely valuable in terms of selective use for experiments. However, use of postmortem tissue does have disadvantages. For instance, the postmortem interval (PMI), the length of time between patient death and collection of the sample, must be considered as a factor that may influence the data. During the PMI, changes may be occurring that also affect the expression and interactions of various proteins. In order to control for any changes, we checked for correlations between our proteins of interest and the PMI and found no correlations between PMI and out dependent variables.

5.3.3 Limitations of Subcellular Fractionation

Since postmortem human tissue represents a single time point, we are unable to directly assess trafficking in this tissue. In these studies, we used protein expression in various subcellular fractions as a proxy for measuring trafficking of these proteins. For a more robust design, we chose to analyze one proximal (ER) and two distal (early and late endosomes) fractions. In order to isolate these fractions, we used homogenized postmortem tissue. While the homogenization process is relatively mild and done without detergents that may disrupt the plasma membrane, it may be the case that some subcellular integrity was lost. This loss of integrity is evidenced by the presence of certain markers, such as calnexin, in nearly all of our various fractions. In these studies, based on western blot analyses and electron microscopy, we assumed that endosome and ER integrity remained intact during the PMI. The may still be some cross-contamination between subcellular compartments.

5.3.4 Limitations of the Endosome Immunoisolation

Endosomes are dynamic vesicles that are involved in the endocytosis of AMPA receptors from the synapse and trafficking of the receptors back to the synapse or to late endosomes for degradation. Each endosome subtype carries a distinct protein marker, early (EEA1), late (rab7), and recycling (Rab11). However, the endosome subtypes represent distinct overlapping compartments in order to traffic proteins between the endosome subtypes (91). Following isolation of early and late endosomes, we confirmed the specificity of our isolation using western blot and electron microscopy. Our captured endosomes contained markers specific for the target endosome, but no other endosomes. With the dynamic nature of endosomes, it is expected that there would be some overlap. It may be that our immunisolation protocol was only effective at capturing healthy, intact endosomes of the particular targeted isolation. Based on electron microscopy images, it is unlikely we captured partial endosomes in our preparation. Based on the specificity of the western blot profiles, it is unlikely that we captured endosomes in a transition period when endosome subtypes may be joined for protein trafficking. Thus, it is possible that we may be missing changes in AMPA receptor subcellular localization by examining only healthy, intact endosomes.

Another technical limitation of our endosome immunoisolation involves crossreactivity of antibodies for western blot studies. Since our technique requires the use of an antibody specific for the isolation of endosomes, we must contend with immunoglobulin from the capture antibody present in our isolation. In many cases, we were able to avoid cross-reactivity by using different species of capture and western blot antibodies, but it is an important limitation that must be considered in these studies.

5.3.5 Limitations of the Endoplasmic Reticulum Enrichment

The modification of an established ER isolation protocol was integral in our ability to obtain isolated ER from postmortem tissue (203). As with the endosome fraction isolations, we confirmed the specificity of the ER isolation using western blot and electron microscopy. There is little to no evidence of PSD, mitochondria, or nuclear protein contamination in our ER fraction indicating that we are measuring AMPA receptor subunit expression in a pure ER fraction. However, we failed to see any enrichment of ER related proteins, such as calnexin, in our ER fraction relative to other fractions indicating that we may be losing some of the ER protein in other fractions. It may be that any changes in AMPA receptor protein expression are lost in the ER in the other fractions.

5.3.6 Limitations of Protein Quantification

In these studies, we used the Licor Odyssey image based gel analysis system that uses near-infrared technology to quantify our protein bands of interest. While the use of the Licor Odyssey for western blot protein studies has been well-established, traditional methods of protein quantification use ECL and film transfer (204-206). We have found that the Licor method allows for greater detection of low level protein expression. It may be that use of the Licor is allowing us to measure proteins that we would fail to quantify using a more traditional method. If this were the case, our lack of changes may be related to the sensitivity of the western blot quantification method.

5.4 Antipsychotic Effects

The population used in these studies was from an elderly cohort of patients that were institutionalized. These patients were likely well cared for and received antipsychotic medications in order to help manage their symptoms. Considering the young age of onset of schizophrenia and the age at time of death for these patients, some of these patients may have been receiving medication for several decades. It must be considered that any changes or lack of changes found in postmortem tissue from this population may be due in part or whole to the effects of antipsychotic medication.

In the isolated early endosomes, we found an increase in GluR1 protein expression. Further analysis of this finding, taking medication status into account, revealed that this increase in GluR1 expression was significant in patients who were off medication for 6 weeks or more prior to death. GluR1 expression in early endosomes in patients receiving medication at time of death was not significantly different than expression in the comparison group. It may be the case that antipsychotic medications were altering the subcellular localization of GluR1 receptors and masking a primary increase of GluR1 protein expression in early endosomes in some manner. Alternatively, the increase in GluR1 in early endosomes in patients off antipsychotic medication may have been a compensatory effect for some other facet of the underlying pathophysiology of the illness.

In these studies, we considered patients to be off medication if they were not taking antipsychotics for 6 weeks or more prior to death. We did not have any medication naïve patients in these studies. As stated above, these patients may have received

medication for decades before stopping treatment. It is unknown whether the stoppage of medication for 6 weeks would reverse decades of neuroplastic changes brought on by the medication.

Interpretation of our findings must be done with the understanding that antipsychotics may alter our dependent measures. In most of our studies, we examined the effect of medication status on our dependent measures. However, in our ER isolation studies, our limited number of subjects off medication did not provide the statistical power to make definitive statements regarding medication effects. We do know, however, that chronic administration of antipsychotic medication can affect mRNA expression of the AMPA receptor subunits in the DLPFC of rhesus monkeys (156).

5.5 Future Directions

Current work presented here has provided many testable hypotheses. These future directions are an attempt to address questions that have arisen during this work. First, we propose expansion of our current studies. Then, we propose more subcellular fractionation studies to further describe the subcellular localization of the AMPA receptors. Next, we describe experiments examining posttranslational modifications of the AMPA receptors. Fourth, we propose an alternative immunoisolation study that may further elucidate our findings here. And finally, we describe animal studies that may be useful for understanding the underlying pathophysiology of schizophrenia.

5.5.1 Expansion of Current Studies

The studies we have done so far have focused on the protein expression of AMPA-type glutamate receptors in the ER and early and late endosomes in the DLPFC.

The glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia has been expanded to include other glutamate receptors including AMPA, kainite, and metabotropic glutamate receptors, but not to the exclusion of NMDA receptors. There is evidence of altered expression of NMDA receptor subunits in an isolated ER fraction in the same cohort of patients used in our studies (200). We propose that we could measure other glutamate receptors in our subcellular fractions. Subcellular fractionation of postmortem tissue can be used as a proxy for trafficking of receptors which is important since these receptors are dynamic rather than static in the living system.

We found increased expression of SAP97 and GRIP1 proteins in total homogenate, but no changes in expression in early or late endosomes. These proteins are also essential for the forward trafficking of AMPA receptors from the ER to the Golgi. It would be informative to measure expression of these and other AMPA interacting proteins in our ER fraction.

Schizophrenia is a complicated illness that affects multiple brain regions. In our current studies we focused on the DLPFC. The anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) is involved in selective attention and working memory, both of which may be altered in schizophrenia (16, 173, 207, 208). Structural abnormalities of the ACC in schizophrenia have been described as well as alterations in blood flow following ketamine administration (28, 208). Other studies have examined changes of glutamate receptor mRNA and protein expression in the ACC (199, 204). In our unpublished observations, we did not find significant changes in AMPA receptor subunit expression in early endosomes in the ACC. However, findings in the DLPFC are not always consistent with findings in the ACC (199, 204, 209). We propose that our current studies could be

expanded to include the ACC as well as the DLPFC to examine possible brain region specific changes in schizophrenia.

5.5.2 Isolation of Recycling Endosomes

In our current studies, we isolated early and late endosomes. Proper AMPA receptor trafficking in endosomes is critical for glutamatergic neurotransmission (91). AMPA receptors are sorted from early endosomes to late or recycling endosomes. Though our current findings suggest AMPA receptor trafficking in endosomes and the endosomal trafficking system in general is intact in schizophrenia, isolation of recycling endosomes and subsequent measurement of AMPA receptor protein expression would provide a crucial piece in understanding the trafficking of the receptors.

It is possible that with the correct antibody, immunocapture and isolation of intact recycling endosomes from postmortem tissue should be possible. Rab11 is a protein specifically expressed in recycling endosomes that deliver AMPA receptors to the synapse (111). It would be necessary to verify the immunoisolation of intact recycling endosomes using western blot and electron microscopy in a manner similar to the verification of early and late endosome immunoisolations. Using the isolated recycling endosomes, we would be able to measure expression of AMPA receptor subunits in this fraction.

5.5.3 Isolation of Postsynaptic Density

Glutamatergic signaling may be altered in schizophrenia (14). Neurotransmission through glutamate receptors requires synaptic localization and expression of glutamate receptors, including AMPA and NMDA receptors. While we have measured AMPA receptor subcellular localization in a proximal (ER) and two distal (early and late endosomes) fractions, we have not measured expression of AMPA receptors in the postsynaptic density. We have chosen in our current experiments to perform subcellular fractionation because regional measurement of AMPA receptor proteins cannot differentiate between AMPA receptors that are actively participating in neurotransmission, those at the synapse, and AMPA receptors that are being trafficked in the cell anywhere from the ER to the synapse. Isolation of the PSD would allow for the measurement of functional AMPA receptors expressed in an area of active signaling.

While we have used immunoisolation and centrifugation to isolate subcellular fractions in these studies, isolation of the PSD has proven difficult. In our initial early endosome isolation experiment, we noted that in order to obtain a clean fraction of early endosomes, a step to preclear nonspecific binding of the tissue to the beads was necessary. Using the protocol as we describe it for isolating early endosomes leads to most of the PSD in the homogenate, as evidenced by PSD95 western blot, binding nonspecifically to the beads. There is also nonspecific binding of other subcellular compartments so this preclear step is not a viable method to obtain PSD free from other fractions.

Similarly, we obtain a fraction that has a large amount of PSD using our centrifugation to isolate the ER. Again, by western blot and electron microscopy, this is not a clean fraction of PSD but has contamination of other subcellular organelles. In this case, this is to be expected as the protocol was optimized for obtaining the ER and not the PSD. Work to develop a protocol to obtain a PSD fraction free from contamination would allow for the measurement of AMPA receptors at the synapse and provide more data in

support for or against the hypothesis of alterations in AMPA receptor subcellular localization in schizophrenia.

5.5.4 Measurement of Posttranslational Modifications

5.5.4a Glycosylation Studies Posttranslational modifications of AMPA receptors are a critical part of AMPA receptor trafficking (45). Glycosylation is the process of adding and modifying sugar moieties to proteins as they are processed in the ER and Golgi. Complex glycosylation of AMPA receptor subunits has been associated with trafficking of AMPA receptors to the cell surface (210). Importantly, there are glyosylation sites in the ligand-binding domain of AMPA receptors (44). Studies have demonstrated that N-linked glycosylation of ionotropic glutamate receptors plays a role in the affinity of the AMPA binding site of the receptors (211). EndoH is an enzyme that can be utilized to cleave sugar residues from proteins. Following this cleave, a shift in the band size for a particular protein can be observed via western blot (45, 209). Sugar residues become insensitive to the EndoH enzyme once they have left the ER and are being processed in the Golgi.

Unpublished observations in our lab have found an increase in the ratio of EndoH insensitive to EndoH sensitive GluR2 protein in the DLPFC in schizophrenia. These data suggest that GluR2 is trafficked faster through the ER in schizophrenia. We did not find a decrease in GluR2 protein expression in our ER isolation studies. Though there was no evidence of α 1,2-mannosidase in our isolation, we cannot rule out the possibility that our fraction contained some Golgi as well. With some modification to our ER isolation protocol, we should be able to use an EndoH enzyme to deglycosylate the AMPA

receptor subunits in our fraction. If AMPA receptor forward trafficking is altered in schizophrenia, we would expect to see a decrease in the amount of EndoH sensitive AMPA receptor proteins in our ER fraction.

5.5.4b Phosphorylation Studies Protein phosphorylation is critical for protein interaction and regulation. In particular, phosphorylation of AMPA receptors and interacting protein is essential for AMPA receptor localization and function (212, 213). In our unpublished observations above, we discussed a lack of change in the expression of phosphorylated AMPA receptors at various sites (pGluR1S818, pGluR1S845, pGluR2S880). These sites were chosen because of their importance in AMPA receptor trafficking and stabilization as well as availability of antibodies. We should be able to develop phosphorylation site specific antibodies for multiple AMPA receptor sites including, pGluR1S831 and pGluR4S842. Phosphorylation of pGluR1S831 by protein kinase A (PKA) or calcium CAMKII is thought to be important in regulation of LTP and LTD (66, 67). Transgenic mice with mutations at pGluR1S831 have reduced LTP and therefore may have alterations in AMPA receptor trafficking (214). GluR4 at serine 842 is phosphorylated by PKA and is both necessary and sufficient for AMPA receptor delivery to synapses, especially during early postnatal development (215). Any alterations in expression of these phosphorylated AMPA receptors, in total homogenate or in a subcellular fraction, may implicate abnormal localization of AMPA receptors in schizophrenia. However, it must also be considered that decreased expression of the phosphorylated AMPA receptor may be a problem with activity or expression of the kinases involved.

5.5.5 Alternatives to Subcellular Fractionation

In our studies of total homogenate protein expression, we found a significant increase in expression of two proteins involved in forward trafficking and stabilization of AMPA receptors, SAP97 and GRIP1. SAP97 contains 3 PDZ domains and interacts with GluR1 and myosin motor proteins (74, 75, 80). GRIP1, through multiple PDZ domains, interacts with GluR2 and a Liprin α which in turn binds to a motor protein (82, 83, 86). Our interpretation of this increased expression of these proteins was related to an increased forward trafficking of the AMPA receptors from the ER to the plasma membrane. While these proteins are involved in the forward trafficking of the AMPA receptors, it may be that SAP97 and GRIP1 are increased but not all of the increased proteins are interacting with AMPA receptors.

If some of the increased SAP97 and GRIP1 proteins are not interacting with the AMPA receptors, it may be that AMPA receptor trafficking via these proteins is normal in schizophrenia. We propose that an immunoprecipitation of these and other AMPA interacting proteins and subsequent measurement of AMPA receptor coimmunoprecipitation would better elucidate the effect of increased interacting proteins in schizophrenia. While this immunoprecipitation would not provide information regarding the subcellular localization of AMPA receptors, it would provide vital information regarding the trafficking of these receptors in this illness.

5.5.6 Altered AMPA Receptor Trafficking in Animal Models

Attempts have been made to model some features of schizophrenia in animals (169, 216). These studies are limited by the complex nature and unknown

pathophysiology of the illness. One model is the chronic administration of NMDAreceptor antagonists such as PCP or ketamine (217, 218). Chronic administration of these compounds in rodents or primates is necessary to model the lifelong effects of schizophrenia, but has limitations including being an incomplete model of the illness and enormous cost of these types of studies (219).

While AMPA receptor protein and mRNA expression has been measured in studies involving chronic treatment of animals with NMDA antagonists, these studies suffer the same limitations as some postmortem studies – regional measurement of expression will not reveal deficits in trafficking and subcellular localization (217, 220). We propose that subcellular fractionation and measurement of AMPA receptor localization and trafficking following chronic NMDA receptor antagonism would further reveal the involvement or lack thereof of altered AMPA receptor trafficking in this model of schizophrenia. These findings may then be applied to postmortem studies.

Alternatively, we may be able to take what we have learned in postmortem studies and produce an animal model. It may be possible to mimic increased expression of AMPA interacting proteins, including SAP97 and GRIP1, using a viral expression vector. We could then examine the behavior of the animals on tasks implicated in schizophrenia such as working memory and prepulse inhibition. Further, we would be able to perform electrophysiology on the brains of these animals to determine if altering AMPA receptor subunit expression has an effect of neurotransmission.

5.6 Conclusions

In this dissertation work, I used immunoisolation and centrifugation to obtain subcellular fractions from postmortem tissue in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. I confirmed the specificity of the subcellular fractions using western blot and electron microscopy. Subsequently, I measured the expression of the AMPA receptor subunits in these fractions as well as the expression of proteins involved in the trafficking of AMPA receptors in total homogenate tissue. I found increased protein expression of SAP97 and GRIP1 in total homogenate and increased expression of GluR1 in early endosomes. While these data suggest increased forward trafficking of AMPA-type glutamate receptors in schizophrenia, a lack of significant changes in AMPA receptor protein expression in late endosomes or the endoplasmic reticulum, as well as a lack of changes in 10 other proteins involved in the trafficking of AMPA receptors diminishes support for altered AMPA receptor trafficking as a prominent feature in the underlying pathophysiology of schizophrenia. Our data provide substantial evidence toward the acceptance of the null hypothesis, suggesting that AMPA receptor trafficking, previously a promising target in the glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia, may have no physiological role in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia.

General References

1. Bhugra D (2005): The global prevalence of schizophrenia. *PLoS Med.* 2:e151; quiz e175.

2. Tandon R, Keshavan MS, Nasrallah HA (2008): Schizophrenia, "just the facts" what we know in 2008. 2. Epidemiology and etiology. *Schizophr Res.* 102:1-18.

3. Alda M, Ahrens B, Lit W, Dvorakova M, Labelle A, Zvolsky P, et al. (1996): Age of onset in familial and sporadic schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. 93:447-450.

4. McCullumsmith R, Clinton S, Meador-Woodruff J (2004): Schizophrenia as a disorder of neuroplasticity. *Int Rev Neurobiol*. 59:19-45.

5. Wu EQ, Birnbaum HG, Shi L, Ball DE, Kessler RC, Moulis M, et al. (2005): The economic burden of schizophrenia in the United States in 2002. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 66:1122-1129.

6. Buchanan RW, Carpenter WT (2000): Schizophrenia: Introduction and overview. In: Sadock BJ, Sadock VA, editors. *Comprehensive Textbook of Psychiatry*. Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams, and Wilkins, pp 1096-1110.

7. Association AP (2000): Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Fourth, Text Revision ed. Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Association.

8. Tandon R, Nasrallah HA, Keshavan MS (2010): Schizophrenia, "just the facts" 5. Treatment and prevention. Past, present, and future. *Schizophr Res.* 122:1-23.

9. Laruelle M, Abi-Dargham A, Gil R, Kegeles L, Innis R (1999): Increased dopamine transmission in schizophrenia: relationship to illness phases. *Biol Psychiatry*. 46:56-72.

10. Tandon R, Nasrallah HA, Keshavan MS (2009): Schizophrenia, "just the facts" 4. Clinical features and conceptualization. *Schizophr Res.* 110:1-23.

11. Tandon R, Keshavan MS, Nasrallah HA (2008): Schizophrenia, "Just the Facts": what we know in 2008 part 1: overview. *Schizophr Res.* 100:4-19.

12. Lewis DA, Levitt P (2002): Schizophrenia as a disorder of neurodevelopment. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* 25:409-432.

13. Coyle J (1996): The glutamatergic dysfunction hypothesis for schizophrenia. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*. 3:241-253.

 Tamminga C (1999): Glutamatergic aspects of schizophrenia. *Br J Psychiatry Suppl*.12-15.

15. Li Q, Cheung C, Wei R, Hui ES, Feldon J, Meyer U, et al. (2009): Prenatal immune challenge is an environmental risk factor for brain and behavior change relevant to schizophrenia: evidence from MRI in a mouse model. *PLoS One*. 4:e6354.

16. Antonova E, Sharma T, Morris R, Kumari V (2004): The relationship between brain structure and neurocognition in schizophrenia: a selective review. *Schizophr Res.* 70:117-145.

17. Roy PD, Zipursky RB, Saint-Cyr JA, Bury A, Langevin R, Seeman MV (1998): Temporal horn enlargement is present in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*. 44:418-422.

18. Meltzer HY, Stahl SM (1976): The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: a review. *Schizophr Bull*. 2:19-76.

19. Curran C, Byrappa N, McBride A (2004): Stimulant psychosis: systematic review. *Br J Psychiatry*. 185:196-204.

20. Sayed Y, Garrison JM (1983): The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia and the antagonistic action of neuroleptic drugs--a review. *Psychopharmacol Bull*. 19:283-288.

21. Creese I, Burt DR, Snyder SH (1976): Dopamine receptor binding predicts clinical and pharmacological potencies of antischizophrenic drugs. *Science*. 192:481-483.

22. Seeman P, Lee T, Chau-Wong M, Wong K (1976): Antipsychotic drug doses and neuroleptic/dopamine receptors. *Nature*. 261:717-719.

23. Healy D (2002): *The Creation of Psychopharmacology*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

24. Joyce JN, Meador-Woodruff JH (1997): Linking the family of D2 receptors to neuronal circuits in human brain: insights into schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 16:375-384.

25. Zukin S, Javitt D (1989): Mechanisms of phencyclidine (PCP)-n-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) receptor interaction: implications for drug abuse research. *NIDA Res Monogr*. 95:247-254.

26. Allen R, Young S (1978): Phencyclidine-induced psychosis. *Am J Psychiatry*. 135:1081-1084.

27. Javitt DC, Zukin SR (1991): Recent advances in the phencyclidine model of schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. 148:1301-1308.

28. Lahti AC, Holcomb HH, Medoff DR, Tamminga CA (1995): Ketamine activates psychosis and alters limbic blood flow in schizophrenia. *Neuroreport*. 6:869-872.

29. Tsai G, Coyle J (2002): Glutamatergic mechanisms in schizophrenia. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol.* 42:165-179.

30. Malenka RC, Nicoll RA (1999): Long-term potentiation--a decade of progress? *Science*. 285:1870-1874.

31. Nicoll RA, Malenka RC (1999): Expression mechanisms underlying NMDA receptordependent long-term potentiation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 868:515-525.

32. Malinow R (2003): AMPA receptor trafficking and long-term potentiation. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 358:707-714.

33. Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, Traynelis S (1999): The glutamate receptor ion channels. *Pharmacol Rev.* 51:7-61.

34. Borges K, Dingledine R (1998): AMPA receptors: molecular and functional diversity. *Prog Brain Res.* 116:153-170.

35. Traynelis SF, Wollmuth LP, McBain CJ, Menniti FS, Vance KM, Ogden KK, et al. (2010): Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. *Pharmacol Rev*. 62:405-496.

36. Greger I, Esteban J (2007): AMPA receptor biogenesis and trafficking. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*. 17:289-297.

37. Greger I, Ziff E, Penn A (2007): Molecular determinants of AMPA receptor subunit assembly. *Trends Neurosci.* 30:407-416.

38. Rosenmund C, Stern-Bach Y, Stevens C (1998): The tetrameric structure of a glutamate receptor channel. *Science*. 280:1596-1599.

39. Nakagawa T (2010): The biochemistry, ultrastructure, and subunit assembly mechanism of AMPA receptors. *Mol Neurobiol*. 42:161-184.

40. Shanks NF, Maruo T, Farina AN, Ellisman MH, Nakagawa T (2010): Contribution of the global subunit structure and stargazin on the maturation of AMPA receptors. *J Neurosci*. 30:2728-2740.

41. Nakanishi S (1992): Molecular diversity of glutamate receptors and implications for brain function. *Science*. 258:597-603.

42. Armstrong N, Sun Y, Chen G, Gouaux E (1998): Structure of a glutamate-receptor ligand-binding core in complex with kainate. *Nature*. 395:913-917.

43. Hollmann M, Heinemann S (1994): Cloned glutamate receptors. *Annu Rev Neurosci*. 17:31-108.

44. Pasternack A, Coleman S, Féthière J, Madden D, LeCaer J, Rossier J, et al. (2003): Characterization of the functional role of the N-glycans in the AMPA receptor ligand-binding domain. *J Neurochem.* 84:1184-1192.

45. Jiang J, Suppiramaniam V, Wooten M (2006): Posttranslational modifications and receptor-associated proteins in AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Neurosignals*. 15:266-282.

46. Armstrong N, Gouaux E (2000): Mechanisms for activation and antagonism of an AMPA-sensitive glutamate receptor: crystal structures of the GluR2 ligand binding core. *Neuron*. 28:165-181.

47. Armstrong N, Jasti J, Beich-Frandsen M, Gouaux E (2006): Measurement of conformational changes accompanying desensitization in an ionotropic glutamate receptor. *Cell*. 127:85-97.

48. McFeeters RL, Oswald RE (2002): Structural mobility of the extracellular ligand-binding core of an ionotropic glutamate receptor. Analysis of NMR relaxation dynamics. *Biochemistry*. 41:10472-10481.

49. Wenthold RJ, Petralia RS, Blahos J II, Niedzielski AS (1996): Evidence for multiple AMPA receptor complexes in hippocampal CA1/CA2 neurons. *J Neurosci*. 16:1982-1989.

50. Swanson GT, Kamboj SK, Cull-Candy SG (1997): Single-channel properties of recombinant AMPA receptors depend on RNA editing, splice variation, and subunit composition. *J Neurosci.* 17:58-69.

51. Petralia RS, Wang YX, Mayat E, Wenthold RJ (1997): Glutamate receptor subunit 2-selective antibody shows a differential distribution of calcium-impermeable AMPA receptors among populations of neurons. *J Comp Neurol*. 385:456-476.

52. Seeburg PH, Hartner J (2003): Regulation of ion channel/neurotransmitter receptor function by RNA editing. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*. 13:279-283.

53. Sommer B, Köhler M, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH (1991): RNA editing in brain controls a determinant of ion flow in glutamate-gated channels. *Cell*. 67:11-19.

54. Verdoorn TA, Burnashev N, Monyer H, Seeburg PH, Sakmann B (1991): Structural determinants of ion flow through recombinant glutamate receptor channels. *Science*. 252:1715-1718.

55. Lomeli H, Mosbacher J, Melcher T, Höger T, Geiger JR, Kuner T, et al. (1994): Control of kinetic properties of AMPA receptor channels by nuclear RNA editing. *Science*. 266:1709-1713.

56. Ohman M, Källman AM, Bass BL (2000): In vitro analysis of the binding of ADAR2 to the pre-mRNA encoding the GluR-B R/G site. *RNA*. 6:687-697.

57. Higuchi M, Maas S, Single FN, Hartner J, Rozov A, Burnashev N, et al. (2000): Point mutation in an AMPA receptor gene rescues lethality in mice deficient in the RNA-editing enzyme ADAR2. *Nature*. 406:78-81.

58. Sommer B, Keinänen K, Verdoorn T, Wisden W, Burnashev N, Herb A, et al. (1990): Flip and flop: a cell-specific functional switch in glutamate-operated channels of the CNS. *Science*. 249:1580-1585.

59. Stine CD, Lu W, Wolf ME (2001): Expression of AMPA receptor flip and flop mRNAs in the nucleus accumbens and prefrontal cortex after neonatal ventral hippocampal lesions. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 24:253-266.

60. Coleman SK, Möykkynen T, Cai C, von Ossowski L, Kuismanen E, Korpi ER, et al. (2006): Isoform-specific early trafficking of AMPA receptor flip and flop variants. *J Neurosci*. 26:11220-11229.

61. Dev KK, Henley JM (1998): The regulation of AMPA receptor-binding sites. *Mol Neurobiol*. 17:33-58.

62. Greger IH, Khatri L, Ziff EB (2002): RNA editing at arg607 controls AMPA receptor exit from the endoplasmic reticulum. *Neuron*. 34:759-772.

63. Everts I, Villmann C, Hollmann M (1997): N-Glycosylation is not a prerequisite for glutamate receptor function but Is essential for lectin modulation. *Mol Pharmacol.* 52:861-873.

64. Song I, Huganir R (2002): Regulation of AMPA receptors during synaptic plasticity. *Trends Neurosci*. 25:578-588.

65. Boehm J, Kang M, Johnson R, Esteban J, Huganir R, Malinow R (2006): Synaptic incorporation of AMPA receptors during LTP is controlled by a PKC phosphorylation site on GluR1. *Neuron*. 51:213-225.

66. Barria A, Derkach V, Soderling T (1997): Identification of the Ca2+/calmodulindependent protein kinase II regulatory phosphorylation site in the alpha-amino-3-hydroxyl-5methyl-4-isoxazole-propionate-type glutamate receptor. *J Biol Chem*. 272:32727-32730.

67. Roche K, O'Brien R, Mammen A, Bernhardt J, Huganir R (1996): Characterization of multiple phosphorylation sites on the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit. *Neuron.* 16:1179-1188.

68. Chung H, Xia J, Scannevin R, Zhang X, Huganir R (2000): Phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor subunit GluR2 differentially regulates its interaction with PDZ domain-containing proteins. *J Neurosci.* 20:7258-7267.

69. Seidenman K, Steinberg J, Huganir R, Malinow R (2003): Glutamate receptor subunit 2 Serine 880 phosphorylation modulates synaptic transmission and mediates plasticity in CA1 pyramidal cells. *J Neurosci.* 23:9220-9228.

70. Lin D, Huganir R (2007): PICK1 and phosphorylation of the glutamate receptor 2 (GluR2) AMPA receptor subunit regulates GluR2 recycling after NMDA receptor-induced internalization. *J Neurosci*. 27:13903-13908.

71. Chung H, Steinberg J, Huganir R, Linden D (2003): Requirement of AMPA receptor GluR2 phosphorylation for cerebellar long-term depression. *Science*. 300:1751-1755.

72. Passafaro M, Piëch V, Sheng M (2001): Subunit-specific temporal and spatial patterns of AMPA receptor exocytosis in hippocampal neurons. *Nat Neurosci*. 4:917-926.

73. Shi S, Hayashi Y, Esteban JA, Malinow R (2001): Subunit-specific rules governing AMPA receptor trafficking to synapses in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *Cell*. 105:331-343.

74. Müller BM, Kistner U, Veh RW, Cases-Langhoff C, Becker B, Gundelfinger ED, et al. (1995): Molecular characterization and spatial distribution of SAP97, a novel presynaptic protein homologous to SAP90 and the Drosophila discs-large tumor suppressor protein. *J Neurosci*. 15:2354-2366.

75. Cai C, Coleman SK, Niemi K, Keinänen K (2002): Selective binding of synapseassociated protein 97 to GluR-A alpha-amino-5-hydroxy-3-methyl-4-isoxazole propionate receptor subunit is determined by a novel sequence motif. *J Biol Chem.* 277:31484-31490. 76. Leonard AS, Davare MA, Horne MC, Garner CC, Hell JW (1998): SAP97 is associated with the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid receptor GluR1 subunit. *J Biol Chem.* 273:19518-19524.

77. Sans N, Racca C, Petralia R, Wang Y, McCallum J, Wenthold R (2001): Synapseassociated protein 97 selectively associates with a subset of AMPA receptors early in their biosynthetic pathway. *J Neurosci*. 21:7506-7516.

78. Hirbec H, Perestenko O, Nishimune A, Meyer G, Nakanishi S, Henley JM, et al. (2002): The PDZ proteins PICK1, GRIP, and syntenin bind multiple glutamate receptor subtypes. Analysis of PDZ binding motifs. *J Biol Chem.* 277:15221-15224.

79. Dev KK, Nishimune A, Henley JM, Nakanishi S (1999): The protein kinase C alpha binding protein PICK1 interacts with short but not long form alternative splice variants of AMPA receptor subunits. *Neuropharmacology*. 38:635-644.

80. Wu H, Nash J, Zamorano P, Garner C (2002): Interaction of SAP97 with minus-enddirected actin motor myosin VI. Implications for AMPA receptor trafficking. *J Biol Chem*. 277:30928-30934.

81. Nash J, Appleby V, Corrêa S, Wu H, Fitzjohn S, Garner C, et al. (2010): Disruption of the interaction between myosin VI and SAP97 is associated with a reduction in the number of AMPARs at hippocampal synapses. *J Neurochem*. 112:677-690.

82. Dong H, O'Brien R, Fung E, Lanahan A, Worley P, Huganir R (1997): GRIP: a synaptic PDZ domain-containing protein that interacts with AMPA receptors. *Nature*. 386:279-284.

83. Dong H, Zhang P, Song I, Petralia RS, Liao D, Huganir RL (1999): Characterization of the glutamate receptor-interacting proteins GRIP1 and GRIP2. *J Neurosci*. 19:6930-6941.

84. Dong H, Zhang P, Liao D, Huganir RL (1999): Characterization, expression, and distribution of GRIP protein. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 868:535-540.

85. Goldstein L, Yang Z (2000): Microtubule-based transport systems in neurons: the roles of kinesins and dyneins. *Annu Rev Neurosci*. 23:39-71.

86. Wyszynski M, Kim E, Dunah AW, Passafaro M, Valtschanoff JG, Serra-Pagès C, et al. (2002): Interaction between GRIP and liprin-alpha/SYD2 is required for AMPA receptor targeting. *Neuron*. 34:39-52.

87. Setou M, Seog D, Tanaka Y, Kanai Y, Takei Y, Kawagishi M, et al. (2002): Glutamatereceptor-interacting protein GRIP1 directly steers kinesin to dendrites. *Nature*. 417:83-87.

88. Beretta F, Sala C, Saglietti L, Hirling H, Sheng M, Passafaro M (2005): NSF interaction is important for direct insertion of GluR2 at synaptic sites. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* 28:650-660.

89. Shen L, Liang F, Walensky L, Huganir R (2000): Regulation of AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit surface expression by a 4. 1N-linked actin cytoskeletal association. *J Neurosci*. 20:7932-7940.

90. Bredt DS, Nicoll RA (2003): AMPA receptor trafficking at excitatory synapses. *Neuron*. 40:361-379.

91. Hirling H (2008): Endosomal trafficking of AMPA-type glutamate receptors. *Neuroscience*.

92. Kropf M, Rey G, Glauser L, Kulangara K, Johnsson K, Hirling H (2008): Subunitspecific surface mobility of differentially labeled AMPA receptor subunits. *Eur J Cell Biol*. 87:763-778.

93. Triller A, Choquet D (2005): Surface trafficking of receptors between synaptic and extrasynaptic membranes: and yet they do move! *Trends Neurosci*. 28:133-139.

94. Contractor A, Heinemann SF (2002): Glutamate receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity. *Sci STKE*. 2002:re14.

95. Ashby M, De La Rue S, Ralph G, Uney J, Collingridge G, Henley J (2004): Removal of AMPA receptors (AMPARs) from synapses is preceded by transient endocytosis of extrasynaptic AMPARs. *J Neurosci.* 24:5172-5176.

96. Ashby MC, Maier SR, Nishimune A, Henley JM (2006): Lateral diffusion drives constitutive exchange of AMPA receptors at dendritic spines and is regulated by spine morphology. *J Neurosci.* 26:7046-7055.

97. Hanley JG (2010): Endosomal sorting of AMPA receptors in hippocampal neurons. *Biochem Soc Trans.* 38:460-465.

98. Meyer G, Varoqueaux F, Neeb A, Oschlies M, Brose N (2004): The complexity of PDZ domain-mediated interactions at glutamatergic synapses: a case study on neuroligin. *Neuropharmacology*. 47:724-733.

99. Payne H (2008): The role of transmembrane AMPA receptor regulatory proteins (TARPs) in neurotransmission and receptor trafficking (Review). *Mol Membr Biol.* 25:353-362.

100. Valtschanoff JG, Burette A, Davare MA, Leonard AS, Hell JW, Weinberg RJ (2000): SAP97 concentrates at the postsynaptic density in cerebral cortex. *Eur J Neurosci*. 12:3605-3614.

101. Rumbaugh G, Sia G, Garner C, Huganir R (2003): Synapse-associated protein-97 isoform-specific regulation of surface AMPA receptors and synaptic function in cultured neurons. *J Neurosci.* 23:4567-4576.

102. Cai C, Li H, Rivera C, Keinänen K (2006): Interaction between SAP97 and PSD-95, two Maguk proteins involved in synaptic trafficking of AMPA receptors. *J Biol Chem.* 281:4267-4273.

103. Pan L, Wu H, Shen C, Shi Y, Jin W, Xia J, et al. (2007): Clustering and synaptic targeting of PICK1 requires direct interaction between the PDZ domain and lipid membranes. *EMBO J*. 26:4576-4587.

104. Jin W, Ge W, Xu J, Cao M, Peng L, Yung W, et al. (2006): Lipid binding regulates synaptic targeting of PICK1, AMPA receptor trafficking, and synaptic plasticity. *J Neurosci*. 26:2380-2390.

105. Cao M, Xu J, Shen C, Kam C, Huganir R, Xia J (2007): PICK1-ICA69 heteromeric BAR domain complex regulates synaptic targeting and surface expression of AMPA receptors. *J Neurosci*. 27:12945-12956.

106. Bedoukian M, Weeks A, Partin K (2006): Different domains of the AMPA receptor direct stargazin-mediated trafficking and stargazin-mediated modulation of kinetics. *J Biol Chem.* 281:23908-23921.

107. Bats C, Groc L, Choquet D (2007): The interaction between Stargazin and PSD-95 regulates AMPA receptor surface trafficking. *Neuron*. 53:719-734.

108. Chen L, Chetkovich D, Petralia R, Sweeney N, Kawasaki Y, Wenthold R, et al. (2000): Stargazin regulates synaptic targeting of AMPA receptors by two distinct mechanisms. *Nature*. 408:936-943.

109. Zhang Q, Fan J, Zhang M (2001): Interdomain chaperoning between PSD-95, Dlg, and Zo-1 (PDZ) domains of glutamate receptor-interacting proteins. *J Biol Chem.* 276:43216-43220.

110. Coleman SK, Cai C, Mottershead DG, Haapalahti JP, Keinänen K (2003): Surface expression of GluR-D AMPA receptor is dependent on an interaction between its C-terminal domain and a 4.1 protein. *J Neurosci.* 23:798-806.

111. Brown T, Correia S, Petrok C, Esteban J (2007): Functional compartmentalization of endosomal trafficking for the synaptic delivery of AMPA receptors during long-term potentiation. *J Neurosci.* 27:13311-13315.

112. Beattie E, Carroll R, Yu X, Morishita W, Yasuda H, von Zastrow M, et al. (2000): Regulation of AMPA receptor endocytosis by a signaling mechanism shared with LTD. *Nat Neurosci.* 3:1291-1300.

113. Carroll R, Beattie E, Xia H, Lüscher C, Altschuler Y, Nicoll R, et al. (1999): Dynamindependent endocytosis of ionotropic glutamate receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 96:14112-14117.

114. Kobayashi T, Stang E, Fang KS, de Moerloose P, Parton RG, Gruenberg J (1998): A lipid associated with the antiphospholipid syndrome regulates endosome structure and function. *Nature*. 392:193-197.

115. Perret E, Lakkaraju A, Deborde S, Schreiner R, Rodriguez-Boulan E (2005): Evolving endosomes: how many varieties and why? *Curr Opin Cell Biol*. 17:423-434.

116. Rubino M, Miaczynska M, Lippé R, Zerial M (2000): Selective membrane recruitment of EEA1 suggests a role in directional transport of clathrin-coated vesicles to early endosomes. *J Biol Chem.* 275:3745-3748.

117. Sossa K, Court B, Carroll R (2006): NMDA receptors mediate calcium-dependent, bidirectional changes in dendritic PICK1 clustering. *Mol Cell Neurosci*. 31:574-585.

118. Lüscher C, Xia H, Beattie E, Carroll R, von Zastrow M, Malenka R, et al. (1999): Role of AMPA receptor cycling in synaptic transmission and plasticity. *Neuron*. 24:649-658.

119. Ehlers M (2000): Reinsertion or degradation of AMPA receptors determined by activity-dependent endocytic sorting. *Neuron*. 28:511-525.

120. Luzio J, Bright N, Pryor P (2007): The role of calcium and other ions in sorting and delivery in the late endocytic pathway. *Biochem Soc Trans.* 35:1088-1091.

121. Luzio J, Pryor P, Gray S, Gratian M, Piper R, Bright N (2005): Membrane traffic to and from lysosomes. *Biochem Soc Symp*.77-86.

122. Lee S, Simonetta A, Sheng M (2004): Subunit rules governing the sorting of internalized AMPA receptors in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron*. 43:221-236.

123. Tang B (2008): Emerging aspects of membrane traffic in neuronal dendrite growth. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1783:169-176.

124. Park M, Penick E, Edwards J, Kauer J, Ehlers M (2004): Recycling endosomes supply AMPA receptors for LTP. *Science*. 305:1972-1975.

125. Ehlers M (2003): Activity level controls postsynaptic composition and signaling via the ubiquitin-proteasome system. *Nat Neurosci*. 6:231-242.

126. Park M, Salgado JM, Ostroff L, Helton TD, Robinson CG, Harris KM, et al. (2006): Plasticity-induced growth of dendritic spines by exocytic trafficking from recycling endosomes. *Neuron*. 52:817-830.

127. Cottrell JR, Borok E, Horvath TL, Nedivi E (2004): CPG2: a brain- and synapse-specific protein that regulates the endocytosis of glutamate receptors. *Neuron*. 44:677-690.

128. Lu J, Helton TD, Blanpied TA, Rácz B, Newpher TM, Weinberg RJ, et al. (2007): Postsynaptic positioning of endocytic zones and AMPA receptor cycling by physical coupling of dynamin-3 to Homer. *Neuron*. 55:874-889.

129. Chowdhury S, Shepherd J, Okuno H, Lyford G, Petralia R, Plath N, et al. (2006): Arc/Arg3.1 interacts with the endocytic machinery to regulate AMPA receptor trafficking. *Neuron*. 52:445-459.

130. Bramham CR, Worley PF, Moore MJ, Guzowski JF (2008): The immediate early gene arc/arg3.1: regulation, mechanisms, and function. *J Neurosci*. 28:11760-11767.

131. Shepherd J, Rumbaugh G, Wu J, Chowdhury S, Plath N, Kuhl D, et al. (2006): Arc/Arg3.1 mediates homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPA receptors. *Neuron*. 52:475-484.

132. Sossa K, Beattie J, Carroll R (2007): AMPAR exocytosis through NO modulation of PICK1. *Neuropharmacology*. 53:92-100.

133. Steiner P, Alberi S, Kulangara K, Yersin A, Sarria JC, Regulier E, et al. (2005): Interactions between NEEP21, GRIP1 and GluR2 regulate sorting and recycling of the glutamate receptor subunit GluR2. *EMBO J.* 24:2873-2884.
134. Utvik JK, Haglerød C, Mylonakou MN, Holen T, Kropf M, Hirling H, et al. (2009): Neuronal enriched endosomal protein of 21 kDa colocalizes with glutamate receptor subunit GLUR2/3 at the postsynaptic membrane. *Neuroscience*. 158:96-104.

135. Stinton LM, Selak S, Fritzler MJ (2005): Identification of GRASP-1 as a novel 97 kDa autoantigen localized to endosomes. *Clin Immunol*. 116:108-117.

136. Hoogenraad C, Popa I, Futai K, Sanchez-Martinez E, Wulf P, van Vlijmen T, et al. (2010): Neuron specific Rab4 effector GRASP-1 coordinates membrane specialization and maturation of recycling endosomes. *PLoS Biol.* 8:e1000283.

137. Noel J, Ralph G, Pickard L, Williams J, Molnar E, Uney J, et al. (1999): Surface expression of AMPA receptors in hippocampal neurons is regulated by an NSF-dependent mechanism. *Neuron*. 23:365-376.

138. Whiteheart S, Matveeva E (2004): Multiple binding proteins suggest diverse functions for the N-ethylmaleimide sensitive factor. *J Struct Biol*. 146:32-43.

139. Osten P, Ziff E (1999): AMPA receptor forms a biochemically functional complex with NSF and alpha- and beta-SNAPs. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 868:558-560.

140. Braithwaite S, Xia H, Malenka R (2002): Differential roles for NSF and GRIP/ABP in AMPA receptor cycling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 99:7096-7101.

141. Alberi S, Boda B, Steiner P, Nikonenko I, Hirling H, Muller D (2005): The endosomal protein NEEP21 regulates AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission and plasticity in the hippocampus. *Mol Cell Neurosci*. 29:313-319.

142. Spangler SA, Hoogenraad CC (2007): Liprin-alpha proteins: scaffold molecules for synapse maturation. *Biochem Soc Trans.* 35:1278-1282.

143. Ko J, Kim S, Valtschanoff JG, Shin H, Lee JR, Sheng M, et al. (2003): Interaction between liprin-alpha and GIT1 is required for AMPA receptor targeting. *J Neurosci*. 23:1667-1677.

144. Prekeris R, Klumperman J, Chen YA, Scheller RH (1998): Syntaxin 13 mediates cycling of plasma membrane proteins via tubulovesicular recycling endosomes. *J Cell Biol*. 143:957-971.

145. Lim SN, Bonzelius F, Low SH, Wille H, Weimbs T, Herman GA (2001): Identification of discrete classes of endosome-derived small vesicles as a major cellular pool for recycling membrane proteins. *Mol Biol Cell*. 12:981-995.

146. O'Connor J, Hemby S (2007): Elevated GRIA1 mRNA expression in Layer II/III and V pyramidal cells of the DLPFC in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* 97:277-288.

147. Dracheva S, McGurk S, Haroutunian V (2005): mRNA expression of AMPA receptors and AMPA receptor binding proteins in the cerebral cortex of elderly schizophrenics. *J Neurosci Res.* 79:868-878.

148. Noga J, Hyde T, Bachus S, Herman M, Kleinman J (2001): AMPA receptor binding in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of schizophrenics and controls. *Schizophr Res.* 48:361-363.

149. Eastwood S, McDonald B, Burnet P, Beckwith J, Kerwin R, Harrison P (1995): Decreased expression of mRNAs encoding non-NMDA glutamate receptors GluR1 and GluR2 in medial temporal lobe neurons in schizophrenia. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res.* 29:211-223.

150. Eastwood S, Burnet P, Harrison P (1997): GluR2 glutamate receptor subunit flip and flop isoforms are decreased in the hippocampal formation in schizophrenia: a reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) study. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res.* 44:92-98.

151. Kerwin R, Patel S, Meldrum B (1990): Quantitative autoradiographic analysis of glutamate binding sites in the hippocampal formation in normal and schizophrenic brain post mortem. *Neuroscience*. 39:25-32.

152. Harrison P, McLaughlin D, Kerwin R (1991): Decreased hippocampal expression of a glutamate receptor gene in schizophrenia. *Lancet*. 337:450-452.

153. Eastwood S, Kerwin R, Harrison P (1997): Immunoautoradiographic evidence for a loss of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionate-preferring non-N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors within the medial temporal lobe in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. 41:636-643.

154. Sokolov B (1998): Expression of NMDAR1, GluR1, GluR7, and KA1 glutamate receptor mRNAs is decreased in frontal cortex of "neuroleptic-free" schizophrenics: evidence on reversible up-regulation by typical neuroleptics. *J Neurochem*. 71:2454-2464.

155. Ibrahim H, Hogg AJ, Healy D, Haroutunian V, Davis K, Meador-Woodruff J (2000): Ionotropic glutamate receptor binding and subunit mRNA expression in thalamic nuclei in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. 157:1811-1823.

156. O'Connor J, Muly E, Arnold S, Hemby S (2007): AMPA receptor subunit and splice variant expression in the DLPFC of schizophrenic subjects and rhesus monkeys chronically administered antipsychotic drugs. *Schizophr Res.* 90:28-40.

157. Healy D, Haroutunian V, Powchik P, Davidson M, Davis K, Watson S, et al. (1998): AMPA receptor binding and subunit mRNA expression in prefrontal cortex and striatum of elderly schizophrenics. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 19:278-286.

158. Freed W, Dillon-Carter O, Kleinman J (1993): Properties of [3H]AMPA binding in postmortem human brain from psychotic subjects and controls: increases in caudate nucleus associated with suicide. *Exp Neurol*. 121:48-56.

159. Breese C, Freedman R, Leonard S (1995): Glutamate receptor subtype expression in human postmortem brain tissue from schizophrenics and alcohol abusers. *Brain Res.* 674:82-90.

160. Meador-Woodruff J, Hogg AJ, Smith R (2001): Striatal ionotropic glutamate receptor expression in schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depressive disorder. *Brain Res Bull*. 55:631-640.

161. Scarr E, Beneyto M, Meador-Woodruff J, Deans B (2005): Cortical glutamatergic markers in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 30:1521-1531.

162. Beneyto M, Meador-Woodruff J (2006): Lamina-specific abnormalities of AMPA receptor trafficking and signaling molecule transcripts in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. *Synapse*. 60:585-598.

163. Toyooka K, Iritani S, Makifuchi T, Shirakawa O, Kitamura N, Maeda K, et al. (2002): Selective reduction of a PDZ protein, SAP-97, in the prefrontal cortex of patients with chronic schizophrenia. *J Neurochem.* 83:797-806.

164. Mirnics K, Middleton F, Marquez A, Lewis D, Levitt P (2000): Molecular characterization of schizophrenia viewed by microarray analysis of gene expression in prefrontal cortex. *Neuron*. 28:53-67.

165. Beneyto M, Meador-Woodruff J (2003): AMPA- and NMDA-associated postsynaptic protein expression in the human dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*. 1003:352-355.

166. Imai C, Sugai T, Iritani S, Niizato K, Nakamura R, Makifuchi T, et al. (2001): A quantitative study on the expression of synapsin II and N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive fusion protein in schizophrenic patients. *Neurosci Lett.* 305:185-188.

167. Gray L, Scarr E, Dean B (2006): N-Ethylmaleimide sensitive factor in the cortex of subjects with schizophrenia and bipolar I disorder. *Neurosci Lett*. 391:112-115.

168. McCullumsmith RE, Meador-Woodruff JH (2011): Novel approaches to the study of postmortem brain in psychiatric illness: old limitations and new challenges. *Biol Psychiatry*. 69:127-133.

169. Young JW, Zhou X, Geyer MA (2010): Animal models of schizophrenia. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci.* 4:391-433.

170. Thompson JL, Urban N, Abi-Dargham A (2009): How have developments in molecular imaging techniques furthered schizophrenia research? *Imaging Med.* 1:135-153.

171. Urban N, Abi-Dargham A (2010): Neurochemical imaging in schizophrenia. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci.* 4:215-242.

172. Lewis DA, González-Burgos G (2008): Neuroplasticity of neocortical circuits in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 33:141-165.

173. Elvevåg B, Goldberg TE (2000): Cognitive impairment in schizophrenia is the core of the disorder. *Crit Rev Neurobiol.* 14:1-21.

174. Gold JM (2004): Cognitive deficits as treatment targets in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* 72:21-28.

175. Lewis DA, Lieberman JA (2000): Catching up on schizophrenia: natural history and neurobiology. *Neuron*. 28:325-334.

176. Green MF (1996): What are the functional consequences of neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia? *Am J Psychiatry*. 153:321-330.

177. Kim J, Glahn DC, Nuechterlein KH, Cannon TD (2004): Maintenance and manipulation of information in schizophrenia: further evidence for impairment in the central executive component of working memory. *Schizophr Res.* 68:173-187.

178. Cannon TD, Glahn DC, Kim J, Van Erp TG, Karlsgodt K, Cohen MS, et al. (2005): Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex activity during maintenance and manipulation of information in working memory in patients with schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 62:1071-1080.

179. Tan HY, Choo WC, Fones CS, Chee MW (2005): fMRI study of maintenance and manipulation processes within working memory in first-episode schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. 162:1849-1858.

180. Barch DM, Sheline YI, Csernansky JG, Snyder AZ (2003): Working memory and prefrontal cortex dysfunction: specificity to schizophrenia compared with major depression. *Biol Psychiatry*. 53:376-384.

181. Douglas RJ, Martin KA (2004): Neuronal circuits of the neocortex. *Annu Rev Neurosci*. 27:419-451.

182. Douglas RJ, Martin KA (2007): Recurrent neuronal circuits in the neocortex. *Curr Biol*. 17:R496-500.

183. Horng J, Tan C (2004): Biochemical characterization of the coating mechanism of the endosomal donor compartment of synaptic vesicles. *Neurochem Res.* 29:1411-1416.

184. Tjelle T, Brech A, Juvet L, Griffiths G, Berg T (1996): Isolation and characterization of early endosomes, late endosomes and terminal lysosomes: their role in protein degradation. *J Cell Sci.* 109 (Pt 12):2905-2914.

185. Krystal J (2008): Capitalizing on extrasynaptic glutamate neurotransmission to treat antipsychotic-resistant symptoms in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. 64:358-360.

186. Biou V, Bhattacharyya S, Malenka R (2008): Endocytosis and recycling of AMPA receptors lacking GluR2/3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 105:1038-1043.

187. Lissin D, Carroll R, Nicoll R, Malenka R, von Zastrow M (1999): Rapid, activationinduced redistribution of ionotropic glutamate receptors in cultured hippocampal neurons. *J Neurosci.* 19:1263-1272.

188. Anand A, Charney DS, Oren DA, Berman RM, Hu XS, Cappiello A, et al. (2000): Attenuation of the neuropsychiatric effects of ketamine with lamotrigine: support for hyperglutamatergic effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonists. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 57:270-276.

189. Moghaddam B, Adams B, Verma A, Daly D (1997): Activation of glutamatergic neurotransmission by ketamine: a novel step in the pathway from NMDA receptor blockade to dopaminergic and cognitive disruptions associated with the prefrontal cortex. *J Neurosci*. 17:2921-2927.

190. Johnson A, Bannerman D, Rawlins N, Sprengel R, Good M (2005): Impaired outcomespecific devaluation of instrumental responding in mice with a targeted deletion of the AMPA receptor glutamate receptor 1 subunit. *J Neurosci*. 25:2359-2365.

191. Mead A, Stephens D (2003): Selective disruption of stimulus-reward learning in glutamate receptor grial knock-out mice. *J Neurosci*. 23:1041-1048.

192. Wiedholz L, Owens W, Horton R, Feyder M, Karlsson R, Hefner K, et al. (2008): Mice lacking the AMPA GluR1 receptor exhibit striatal hyperdopaminergia and 'schizophrenia-related' behaviors. *Mol Psychiatry*. 13:631-640.

193. Wezenberg E, Verkes RJ, Ruigt GS, Hulstijn W, Sabbe BG (2007): Acute effects of the ampakine farampator on memory and information processing in healthy elderly volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 32:1272-1283.

194. Goff D, Leahy L, Berman I, Posever T, Herz L, Leon A, et al. (2001): A placebocontrolled pilot study of the ampakine CX516 added to clozapine in schizophrenia. *J Clin Psychopharmacol.* 21:484-487.

195. Johnson S, Luu N, Herbst T, Knapp R, Lutz D, Arai A, et al. (1999): Synergistic interactions between ampakines and antipsychotic drugs. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 289:392-397.

196. Marenco S, Egan M, Goldberg T, Knable M, McClure R, Winterer G, et al. (2002): Preliminary experience with an ampakine (CX516) as a single agent for the treatment of schizophrenia: a case series. *Schizophr Res.* 57:221-226.

197. Goff D, Lamberti J, Leon A, Green M, Miller A, Patel J, et al. (2008): A placebocontrolled add-on trial of the Ampakine, CX516, for cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 33:465-472.

198. Kristiansen LV, Huerta I, Beneyto M, Meador-Woodruff JH (2007): NMDA receptors and schizophrenia. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* 7:48-55.

199. Kristiansen L, Beneyto M, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff J (2006): Changes in NMDA receptor subunits and interacting PSD proteins in dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex indicate abnormal regional expression in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry*. 11:737-747, 705.

200. Kristiansen L, Patel S, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff J (2010): Expression of the NR2B-NMDA receptor subunit and its Tbr-1/CINAP regulatory proteins in postmortem brain suggest altered receptor processing in schizophrenia. *Synapse*. 64:495-502.

201. Vawter MP, Crook JM, Hyde TM, Kleinman JE, Weinberger DR, Becker KG, et al. (2002): Microarray analysis of gene expression in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia: a preliminary study. *Schizophr Res.* 58:11-20.

202. Sharif Z (2008): Side effects as influencers of treatment outcome. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 69 Suppl 3:38-43.

203. Bozidis P, Williamson CD, Colberg-Poley AM (2007): Isolation of endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria, and mitochondria-associated membrane fractions from transfected cells

and from human cytomegalovirus-infected primary fibroblasts. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol.* Chapter 3:Unit 3.27.

204. Funk A, Rumbaugh G, Harotunian V, McCullumsmith R, Meador-Woodruff J (2009): Decreased expression of NMDA receptor-associated proteins in frontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Neuroreport*. 20:1019-1022.

205. Wishart TM, Paterson JM, Short DM, Meredith S, Robertson KA, Sutherland C, et al. (2007): Differential proteomics analysis of synaptic proteins identifies potential cellular targets and protein mediators of synaptic neuroprotection conferred by the slow Wallerian degeneration (Wlds) gene. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. 6:1318-1330.

206. Markovic D, Punn A, Lehnert H, Grammatopoulos DK (2008): Intracellular mechanisms regulating corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor-2beta endocytosis and interaction with extracellularly regulated kinase 1/2 and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling cascades. *Mol Endocrinol.* 22:689-706.

207. Heckers S, Weiss A, Deckersbach T, Goff D, Morecraft R, Bush G (2004): Anterior cingulate cortex activation during cognitive interference in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. 161:707-715.

208. Quintana J, Wong T, Ortiz-Portillo E, Marder S, Mazziotta J (2004): Anterior cingulate dysfunction during choice anticipation in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* 132:117-130.

209. Bauer D, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff JH, McCullumsmith RE (2010): Abnormal glycosylation of EAAT1 and EAAT2 in prefrontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* 117:92-98.

210. Hall R, Hansen A, Andersen P, Soderling T (1997): Surface expression of the AMPA receptor subunits GluR1, GluR2, and GluR4 in stably transfected baby hamster kidney cells. *J Neurochem.* 68:625-630.

211. Standley S, Baudry M (2000): The role of glycosylation in ionotropic glutamate receptor ligand binding, function, and trafficking. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 57:1508-1516.

212. Soderling T, Derkach V (2000): Postsynaptic protein phosphorylation and LTP. *Trends Neurosci.* 23:75-80.

213. Swope S, Moss S, Blackstone C, Huganir R (1992): Phosphorylation of ligand-gated ion channels: a possible mode of synaptic plasticity. *FASEB J*. 6:2514-2523.

214. Lee H, Takamiya K, Han J, Man H, Kim C, Rumbaugh G, et al. (2003): Phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit is required for synaptic plasticity and retention of spatial memory. *Cell*. 112:631-643.

215. Esteban JA, Shi SH, Wilson C, Nuriya M, Huganir RL, Malinow R (2003): PKA phosphorylation of AMPA receptor subunits controls synaptic trafficking underlying plasticity. *Nat Neurosci.* 6:136-143.

216. Bubeníková-Valesová V, Horácek J, Vrajová M, Höschl C (2008): Models of schizophrenia in humans and animals based on inhibition of NMDA receptors. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 32:1014-1023.

217. Barbon A, Fumagalli F, La Via L, Caracciolo L, Racagni G, Riva M, et al. (2007): Chronic phencyclidine administration reduces the expression and editing of specific glutamate receptors in rat prefrontal cortex. *Exp Neurol*. 208:54-62.

218. Neill JC, Barnes S, Cook S, Grayson B, Idris NF, McLean SL, et al. (2010): Animal models of cognitive dysfunction and negative symptoms of schizophrenia: focus on NMDA receptor antagonism. *Pharmacol Ther.* 128:419-432.

219. Morris BJ, Cochran SM, Pratt JA (2005): PCP: from pharmacology to modelling schizophrenia. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*. 5:101-106.

220. Lindahl JS, Keifer J (2004): Glutamate receptor subunits are altered in forebrain and cerebellum in rats chronically exposed to the NMDA receptor antagonist phencyclidine. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 29:2065-2073.

APPENDIX A

UNPUBLISHED FINDINGS

In addition to the numerous proteins that we measured and have presented in the previous chapters, we measured expression of three phosphorylated AMPA receptor sites involved in subcellular localization and trafficking as well as interacting proteins and isolated early endosome content in a second brain region, the anterior cingulate cortex, ACC. Also, we measured expression of some NMDA receptor subunits in isolated early endosomes in the ACC and DLPFC.

Phosphorylated AMPA Receptor Protein Expression

Using tissue homogenate from the DLPFC and ACC we measured protein expression of three phosphorylated AMPA receptor sites involved in AMPA receptor trafficking. We found no significant changes in phosphoGluR1 at serine 818, phosphoGluR1 at serine 845, and phosphoGluR2 at serine 880 in schizophrenia in the ACC or DLPFC.

AMPA Interacting Proteins in Anterior Cingulate Cortex

The anterior cingulate cortex, discussed further below, is a brain region involved in higher cognitive functioning including working memory and selective attention. From the same cohort of subjects as the DLPFC subjects with 3 additional subjects, we measured protein expression of NSF, GRIP1, and SAP97 in the ACC. We found no significant changes in these proteins in schizophrenia.

Early Endosomes in Anterior Cingulate Cortex

Using the same immunoisolation protocol, we isolated intact early endosomes from the ACC in patients with schizophrenia and a control group. We found no significant difference in protein expression of GluR1, GluR2 or GluR3 in isolated early endosomes in schizophrenia. Additionally, we found no significant changes in NSF or SAP97 protein expression in isolated early endosomes.

NMDA Receptor Expression in Early Endosomes

In our isolated early endosomes, we measured expression of some NMDA receptor subunits. We found no significant change in NR1 or NR2B protein expression in early endosomes in schizophrenia in the DLPFC. We found no significant difference in NR2A or NR2B protein expression in schizophrenia in the ACC.

Conclusion

Taken together with our published findings, these data further suggest a lack of significant changes in AMPA receptor trafficking and subcellular localization in schizophrenia. While these studies were not as comprehensive as our published studies, they implicate that a similar lack of significant differences in AMPA trafficking may be seen in the ACC as we found in the DLPFC. Our unpublished findings regarding NMDA receptors in the early endosomes are difficult to interpret as we did not measure all of the receptor subunits.

APPENDIX B

IACUC APPROVAL FORM

	Institutional Animal Care and U	
	Care and Use (Committee (IACUC)
	NOTICE OF A	PPROVAL
DATE:	July 8, 2009	
TO:	Meador-Woodruff, James H. SC-560C 0017 996-6171	
FROM:	Judith G. Kapp Judith A. Kapp Ph D. Chair	
	Institutional Animal Care and Use (Committee
SUBJECT:	Title: Subcellular Glutamate Recep Sponsor: NIH	tor Defects in Schizophrenia
On July 8, 20 Committee (I. approved the	09, the University of Alabama at Birmin ACUC) reviewed the animal use propo use of the following species and numb	ngham Institutional Animal Care and Use sed in the above referenced application. It pers of animals:
On July 8, 20 Committee (I, approved the Specie Rats	109, the University of Alabama at Birmin ACUC) reviewed the animal use propo- use of the following species and numb s Use Category A A	ngham Institutional Animal Care and Use sed in the above referenced application. It pers of animals: Number in Category 30
On July 8, 20 Committee (I. approved the Specie Rats Animal use is obtained befo	109, the University of Alabama at Birmin ACUC) reviewed the animal use propo- use of the following species and numb s Use Category A A scheduled for review one year from Ju re implementing any changes or modifi	ngham Institutional Animal Care and Use sed in the above referenced application. It pers of animals: Number in Category 30 Ily 2009. Approval from the IACUC must be ications in the approved animal use.
On July 8, 20 Committee (I. approved the Rats Animal use is obtained befo Please keep for granting age	109, the University of Alabama at Birmin ACUC) reviewed the animal use propo- use of the following species and numb s Use Category A scheduled for review one year from Ju re implementing any changes or modifi this record for your files, and forwar	ngham Institutional Animal Care and Use sed in the above referenced application. It pers of animals: Number in Category 30 Ily 2009. Approval from the IACUC must be ications in the approved animal use. d the attached letter to the appropriate
On July 8, 20 Committee (I. approved the Rats Animal use is obtained befo Please keep to granting ager Refer to Anima orrespondend tudy. If you h 34-7692.	109, the University of Alabama at Birmin ACUC) reviewed the animal use propo- use of the following species and numb s Use Category A A scheduled for review one year from Ju re implementing any changes or modifi this record for your files, and forwar ncy. al Protocol Number (APN) 090707844 of the IACUC or Animal Resource with the IACUC or Animal Resource have concerns or questions regarding the	ngham Institutional Animal Care and Use sed in the above referenced application. It pers of animals: Number in Category 30 Ily 2009. Approval from the IACUC must be ications in the approved animal use. Id the attached letter to the appropriate when ordering animals or in any s Program (ARP) offices regarding this his notice, please call the IACUC office at
On July 8, 20 Committee (I. approved the Rats Animal use is obtained befo Please keep for granting ager Refer to Animatorrespondence tudy. If you h 34-7692.	109, the University of Alabama at Birmin ACUC) reviewed the animal use propo- use of the following species and numb s Use Category A A scheduled for review one year from Ju re implementing any changes or modifi this record for your files, and forwar hoy. al Protocol Number (APN) 090707844 to be with the IACUC or Animal Resource have concerns or questions regarding the	ngham Institutional Animal Care and Use sed in the above referenced application. It bers of animals: Number in Category 30 Ily 2009. Approval from the IACUC must be ications in the approved animal use. Id the attached letter to the appropriate when ordering animals or in any s Program (ARP) offices regarding this his notice, please call the IACUC office at
On July 8, 20 Committee (I. approved the Rats Animal use is obtained befo Please keep for granting ager Refer to Anima orrespondend tudy. If you h 34-7692.	109, the University of Alabama at Birmin ACUC) reviewed the animal use propo- use of the following species and numb s Use Category A A scheduled for review one year from Ju re implementing any changes or modifi this record for your files, and forwar hey. al Protocol Number (APN) 090707844 to ce with the IACUC or Animal Resource have concerns or questions regarding the	ngham Institutional Animal Care and Use sed in the above referenced application. It pers of animals: Number in Category 30 Ny 2009. Approval from the IACUC must be ications in the approved animal use. It the attached letter to the appropriate when ordering animals or in any s Program (ARP) offices regarding this his notice, please call the IACUC office at